
 

SAN BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 26, 2025 
5:00 PM 

MAIN AUDITORIUM – Norton Regional Event Center, 1601 East Third Street, San Bernardino, CA 
 

 
 
 
 

A regional joint powers authority dedicated to the reuse  
of Norton Air Force Base for the economic 

benefit of the East Valley  

 
Frank J. Navarro, President 
Mayor, City of Colton 
Penny Lilburn, Vice President  
Mayor, City of Highland 
Rhodes Rigsby, Secretary 
Councilmember, City of Loma Linda 
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS: 
Joe Baca, Jr.  
Supervisor, County of San Bernardino 
Kim Knaus 
Councilmember, City of San Bernardino 
Theodore Sanchez 
Councilmember, City of San Bernardino 
 
ALTERNATE COMMISSION MEMBERS: 
Dawn Rowe 
Supervisor, County of San Bernardino 
Phillip Dupper 
Mayor, City of Loma Linda 
John Echevarria 
Mayor Pro Tem, City of Colton 
Larry McCallon 
Councilmember, City of Highland 
Fred Shorett 
Councilmember, City of San Bernardino 
  

• Full agenda packets are available at the SBIAA office, 1601 East Third Street, San Bernardino, California, will be provided 
at the meeting, and are posted in the Public Meetings/Agenda section of our website at www.sbiaa.org.  Office hours are 
8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday–Friday. 

• Recordings of the SBIAA Commission meetings are available in the Public Meetings/Agenda section of our website at 
www.sbiaa.org. 

• In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, please 
contact the SBIAA office at (909) 382–4100.  Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable SBIAA staff to make 
reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting. 

• Anyone who wishes to speak during public comment or on a particular item will be requested to fill out a speaker slip.  Prior 
to speaking, speaker slips should be turned in to the Clerk of the Board. 

• Public comments for agenda items that are not public hearings will be limited to three minutes. 
• Public comments for items that are not on the agenda will be limited to three minutes. 
• The three–minute limitation shall apply to each member of the public and cannot be shared.  
• An additional three minutes will be allotted to those who require translation services. 
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ORDER OF BUSINESS – CLOSED SESSION  

This meeting of the governing Commissions of the San Bernardino International Airport Authority will begin 
with Closed Session Public Comment and Closed Session, immediately followed by the Open Session portion 
of the meeting.   
A. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL 

 
B. CLOSED SESSION PUBLIC COMMENT 

The Closed Session Public Comment portion of the San Bernardino International Airport Authority 
Commission meeting is limited to a maximum of three minutes for each speaker and comments will be 
limited to matters appearing on the Closed Session portion of the agenda. Additional opportunities for 
further Public Comment will be given during and at the end of the meeting. An additional three minutes 
will be allotted to those who require translation services. 

 
C. CLOSED SESSION 

An announcement is typically made prior to closed session discussions as to the potential for a 
reportable action at the conclusion of closed session. 

a. Pending Litigation – Pursuant to Gov. Code 54956.9(a), the Commission will meet with the Chief 
Executive Officer and General Counsel related to pending litigation: Franco v. San Bernardino 
International Airport Authority, et al., San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. 
CIVSB2322130 

b. Pending Litigation – Pursuant to Gov. Code 54956.9(a), the Commission will meet with the Chief 
Executive Officer and General Counsel related to pending litigation: Lee v. San Bernardino 
International Airport Authority, et al., San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. 
CIVSB2417207 

D. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION 
Public announcement(s) will be made following closed session if there are any reportable actions taken 
during closed session. 
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ORDER OF BUSINESS – OPEN SESSION 
  

• CALL TO ORDER OPEN SESSION 
• PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

 
E. ITEMS TO BE ADDED OR DELETED 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.2, items may be added on which there is a need to take 
immediate action, and the need for action came to the attention of the San Bernardino International 
Airport Authority Commission subsequent to the posting of the agenda. 

 
F. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE 

 
1. POSSIBLE CONFLICT OF INTEREST ISSUES FOR THE SAN BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

AUTHORITY (SBIAA) COMMISSION MEETING OF MARCH 26, 2025   
[PRESENTER: Yajaira Maldonado, Assistant Secretary of the Commission PAGE#: 006] 

 
G. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

It is intended that the following subject matters and their attachments are submitted to the Board 
members for informational purposes only. No action is required with regard to these items in the form 
of a receive–and–file motion or otherwise. Members may inquire of staff as to any questions or seek 
clarifications, but no discussion may ensue other than to place an item on a subsequent agenda for 
further consideration. In such situations where permissible levels of discussion are conducted, 
members are reminded that staff has not presented the related contractor and interested parties 
conflicts of interest disclosures that are typically provided for agenda items for which action is intended 
to occur.  Additionally, questions may arise as to negotiation strategies or other legal issues which are 
more appropriately addressed in a closed session discussion. 

 
2. Informational Items 

 
a. 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT   
[PRESENTER: Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer PAGE#: 013] 

b. 
 
 
c. 

REPORT ON PROVO NON-STOP SERVICE 
[PRESENTER: Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer  PAGE#: 014] 
 
LEGISLATIVE UPDATES 
[PRESENTER: Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer PAGE#: 015] 
 

H. COMMISSION CONSENT ITEMS 
The following consent items are expected to be routine and non-controversial and will be acted upon 
by the Committee at one time unless the Board directs that an item be held for further discussion.   

 
3. REGISTER OF DEMANDS FOR FEBRUARY 2025   

[PRESENTER: Mark Cousineau, Director of Finance PAGE#: 016] 
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4. RECEIVE AND FILE TREASURER'S REPORT FOR JANUARY 31, 2025 FOR THE SAN BERNARDINO 
INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY (SBIAA)   
[PRESENTER: Mark Cousineau, Director of Finance PAGE#: 023] 
 

5. 
 
 
 
 
 
6. 
 
 
 
7. 
 
 

APPROVE CHANGE ORDER NO.1 WITH GEO PAVING AND SEAL COATING, INC. FOR $4,500 FOR 
ADDITIONAL WORK RELATED TO THE GENERAL AVIATION RAMP PROJECT; APPROVE THE FILING 
OF A NOTICE OF COMPLETION FOR THIS CONTRACT AND AUTHORIZE THE RELEASE OF RETAINED 
FUNDS  
[PRESENTER: Jeff Barrow, Director of Development PAGE#: 026] 
 
AUTHORIZE STAFF TO ADVERTISE THE LUXIVAIR SBD KITCHEN AND SNACK BAR UPGRADE 
PROJECT  
[PRESENTER: Jeff Barrow, Director of Development PAGE#: 035] 
 
AUTHORIZE STAFF TO ADVERTISE THE TERMINAL LACTATION ROOM AND PET RELIEF PROJECT 
[PRESENTER: Jeff Barrow, Director of Development PAGE#: 042] 

8. APPROVE MEETING MINUTES: FEBRUARY 26, 2025   
[PRESENTER: Yajaira Maldonado, Assistant Secretary of the Commission PAGE#: 066] 

 
I. COMMISSION ACTION ITEMS 

9. 
 
 
 
 
10. 
 
 
 
 
11. 
 
 

RECEIVE AND FILE THE ANNUAL INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL AUDIT REPORT OF THE SAN 
BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY (SBIAA) FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING 
JUNE 30, 2024  
[PRESENTER: Mark Cousineau, Director of Finance PAGE#: 073] 
 
APPROVE A TECHNICAL CORRECTION TO AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 
LAND LEASE AGREEMENT WITH ASHLEY FURNITURE INDUSTRIES, LLC FOR APPROXIMATELY 
11.98 ACRES OF PROPERTY  
[PRESENTER: Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer PAGE#: 117] 
 
REVIEW STATUS OF THE ACTION PLAN FOR THE SAN BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
AUTHORITY (SBIAA) THROUGH JUNE 30, 2025   
[PRESENTER: Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer PAGE#: 123 

 
J. ADDED AND DEFERRED ITEMS 

Deferred Items and Items which have been added pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.2 as 
noted above in Section E.  
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M. ADJOURNMENT 

Unless otherwise noted, this meeting will be adjourned to the next regularly scheduled meeting of the 
San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission, Wednesday, April 23, 2025. 

 

K. OPEN SESSION PUBLIC COMMENT 
Anyone who wishes to speak during Open Session Public Comment will be requested to fill out a 
speaker slip. Prior to speaking, speaker slips should be given to the Clerk of the Board. Public comments 
for items that are not on the agenda will be limited to three minutes.  The three–minute limitation shall 
apply to each member of the public and cannot be shared with other members of the public. An 
additional three minutes will be allotted to those who require translation services. 
 

L. COMMISSION MEMBER COMMENT 
Commission members may make announcements or give brief reports on activities or matters not 
appearing on the agenda, as well as provide direction to staff relating to matters which may be 
addressed at this time. 
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TO:   San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE:  March 26, 2025  
 
ITEM NO:  1 
 
PRESENTER:  Yajaira Maldonado, Deputy Clerk of the Board 

 
SUBJECT: POSSIBLE CONFLICT OF INTEREST ISSUES FOR THE SAN BERNARDINO 

INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY (SBIAA) COMMISSION MEETING OF 
MARCH 26, 2025 

 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This agenda contains recommendations for action relative to certain contractors/principals and 
their respective subcontractors. Care should be taken by each Commission member to review 
and consider the information provided herein to ensure they are in compliance with applicable 
conflict of interest laws. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Receive for information and consideration in accordance with applicable conflict of interest laws. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None. 
 

PREPARED BY: Yajaira Maldonado 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: N/A 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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1 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The potential conflicts information provided in this report is intended to be used as a means for 
each voting member to verify campaign contributions from their individual campaign records. 
The following information is considered to be complete only to the best knowledge that has been 
disclosed to staff by the following listed contractors and in many instances may not be complete 
as of the date of publication of the agenda.  Staff will endeavor to provide updates and 
supplements to the disclosure information to the extent additional contractor disclosure 
information becomes known to staff at or prior to each particular meeting time. 
 
In addition to other provisions of law which prohibit San Bernardino International Airport 
Authority (SBIAA) Commission members from having financial interests in the contracts of public 
agencies, the provisions of California Government Code Section 84308 prohibit individual SBIAA 
Commission members from participating in any Commission proceeding involving a license, 
permit, or other entitlement for use pending before the Commission, if the individual member 
has received a contribution of more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) within the preceding 
twelve (12) months or for three (3) months following any such Commission proceeding, from any 
person, company or entity who is the subject of the proceeding, including parent-subsidiary and 
certain otherwise related business entities as defined in the California Code of Regulations, Title 
2, Division 6, Section 18438.5, or from any person who actively supports or opposes a particular 
decision in the proceeding and who has a financial interest in such decision, as defined in 
California Government Code Section 87103. 
 
The restrictions of Government Code Section 84308 do not apply if the individual member returns 
the contribution within thirty (30) days from the time they know, or should have known, about 
the contribution and the proceeding. 
 
This agenda contains recommendations for action relative to the following contractors/principals 
and their respective subcontractors (as informed to SBIAA staff by the Principals): 
 

Agenda 
Item No. 

Contractors/Tenants Subcontractors/Subtenants 

 
5. 

 
Geo Paving and Seal Coating, Inc. 
Khalifah Alsayegh, Chief Executive Officer, 
Secretary, Chief Financial Officer  

 
None. 

11. 
 
 

 
 
 

Ashley Furniture Industries, Inc. 
Todd R. Wanek, President/CEO 
Ronald G. Wanek 
Charles H.E. Vogel  
 

None. 
 

Attachments: 
1. California Government Code §§ 84308 and 87103 
2. California Code of Regulations, Title 2, Division 6, §18438 
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2a 

 

 
TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE:  March 26, 2025 
 
ITEM NO:  2a 
 
PRESENTER:  Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer 
 

 
 
SUBJECT: INFORMATIONAL ITEMS – CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT 
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
An oral report will be provided at the time of the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
None. 

 
 

Attachments: 
1. None 

PREPARED BY: Michelle Casey 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: N/A 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE:  March 26, 2025 
 
ITEM NO:  2b 
 
PRESENTER:  Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer 
 

 
 
SUBJECT: INFORMATIONAL ITEMS – REPORT ON PROVO NON-STOP SERVICE 
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
An oral report will be provided at the time of the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
None. 

 
Attachments: 
1. None 

PREPARED BY: Michelle Casey 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: N/A 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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2c 

 

 
TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE:  March 26, 2025 
 
ITEM NO:  2c 
 
PRESENTER:  Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer 
 

 
 
SUBJECT: INFORMATIONAL ITEMS – LEGISLATIVE UPDATES 
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
An oral report will be provided at the time of the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
None. 

 
 

Attachments: 
1. None 

PREPARED BY: Michelle Casey 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: N/A 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE:  February 26 2025 
 
ITEM NO:  3 
 
PRESENTER:  Mark Cousineau, Director of Finance 

 
 
SUBJECT:  REGISTER OF DEMANDS FOR FEBRUARY 2025 
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
SBIAA's Register of Demands for February 2025 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Receive for information. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Various accounts as shown. 
 
 

PREPARED BY: Mark Cousineau 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: Mark Cousineau 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: N/A 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
           
The attached Register of Demands corresponds to checks issued in the month of February 2025. 
The total of the register is $5,445,522.00. 
 
Fuel: Titan Aviation Fuels was paid $4,374,856.08 for aviation fuel to resell at Luxivair-SBD. Merit 
Oil Co. was paid $23,456.75 to operate SBIAA vehicles and for resale at Luxivair-SBD.  
 
Benefits: Kaiser Foundation Health Plan Inc., and Legal Shield Services Inc. were paid a total of 
$57,156.44. 
 
Utilities: Burrtec Waste Industries Inc., City of San Bernardino Water Department, East Valley 
Water District, Frontier Communications Corporation, Granite Telecommunications, Edison, The 
Gas Co., Utility Telecom Group LLC; and Verizon were paid a total of $119,618.07. 
 
Capital Projects Cost: AEC Moreno Corp, NK Demolition, and T&G Construction Services Inc. were 
paid a total of $81,790.40. 
 
Professional Services: Allawos & Company; Aviatrix Communications LLC; Boston Fox Tigue 
International LLC; David Turch and Associates; GCAP Services, Inc.; Gladwell Governmental 
Services Inc.; Hernandez, Kroone & Associates Inc.; Imagine Systems Inc.; Innovative Federal 
Strategies LLC; Mead & Hunt Inc.; Mirau, Edwards, Cannon, Lewin, & Tooke LLP; Right Energy 
Group, LLC.; Tetra Tech AMT; and Tom Dodson & Associates were paid a total of $89,879.86. 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Register of Demands for the March 26, 2025 Commission Meeting 
2. VISA breakdown - February 2025  
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Line Company Name Description AP Register
1 3 Alarm Fire and Safety Fire extinguisher recharging services and parts 7,726.87
2 A.O. Reed & Co., LLC HVAC unplanned repairs and maintenance 3,740.69
3 AEC Moreno Corp Reimbursement for building plan 2,703.00
4 Airwave Communications Avtec system access and support 9,619.25
5 Al Cervantes Employee training reimbursement 160.20
6 Allawos & Company Consulting fees for Green Energy Services 4,687.50
7 Am-Tec Total Security Inc. Unplanned alarm monitoring service /repairs-

professional alarm monitoring
3,067.47

8 Amazon Capital Services Inc. Purchases of supplies and goods 2,181.26
9 Amtech Elevator Services Unplanned maintenance and repairs for 

elevators/escalators-Customs
9,630.00

10 AnyPromo.com  Luxivair SBD Branded promotional items 719.94
11 Aviatrix Communications LLC Professional services passenger service marketing-

advertising and "Good Neighbor Program"
10,930.41

12 Basic Backflow Backflow testing, inspections & repairs 322.91
13 Blueglobes LLC Papi and guidance sign lamps 620.73
14 Boston Fox Tigue International LLC Marketing services 7,475.09
15 BrightView Landscape Services, Inc. Landscaping maintenance-FBO 1,390.50
16 Burrtec Waste Industries Inc. Trash removal services 12,716.60
17 CDW Government LLC Purchase IT equipment and supplies 445.19
18 CED-Consolidated Electrical Distributors Light bulbs & electrical supplies 290.85
19 Christopher Michael Lukesh Car wash services 1,490.00
20 Cintas Uniforms Uniform and rug services 6,043.43
21 City of San Bernardino Police Department Airport police services 118,356.59
22 City of SB Water Department Water and sewer services 13,523.24
23 Climatec LLC Security maintenance and installation of electrified door 

hardware, materials and programming badge reader
3,055.85

24 County of San Bernardino Permit fees - Leland's café 571.00
25 Dans Lawnmower Center Small equipment repairs and landscape supplies 648.11
26 David Turch and Associates Professional lobbying services 10,000.00
27 DBT Transportation Services LLC ILS/AWOS tower equipment service 3,688.00
28 Eagle Graphics LLC Eagle account credit, employee gift boxes and special 

event credit
2,231.34

29 East Valley Water District Water services 87.25
30 Event Design Lab Live streaming services 1,200.00
31 Ewing Irrigation Products Inc. Commercial irrigation supplies and repairs parts 3,465.13
32 FedEx Courier services 269.19
33 Ferguson Enterprises LLC Plumbing supplies and materials 373.88
34 Fleming Environmental Inc. Vapor recovery testing 995.00
35 Ford Credit Company Lease payment for Luxivair-SBD courtesy vehicle 1,695.45
36 Frontier Communications Corporation Telephone services 3,486.12
37 Gabriel Dimas Annual boot reimbursement 129.41
38 Gabriel Lopez Employee training reimbursement 149.00
39 GCAP Services, Inc. Prof. svc - Disadvantage Business Enterprise Evaluation 

of FAA
2,900.00

40 Gladwell Governmental Services Inc. Consulting services - records retention 400.00
41 GMSTEK LLC Subscription fee for point of sale system 1,591.63

San Bernardino International Airport Authority
Register of Demands for Commission Meeting

3/26/2025
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Line Company Name Description AP Register

San Bernardino International Airport Authority
Register of Demands for Commission Meeting

3/26/2025

42 Grainger Parts and supplies for building repairs 480.93
43 Granite Telecommunications Telephone services 7,015.98
44 H.F. Holt Electrical & Automation Preventative maintenance -baggage handling system 1,396.00
45 Hernandez, Kroone & Associates Inc. Professional engineering - on call surveying services 5,558.11
46 Imagine Systems Inc. Professional information technology consulting services 3,068.56
47 Ink'd Promo and Apparel  Luxivair SBD Branded promotional items 353.83
48 Inland Action Inc. Semi-annual membership 1,917.50
49 Inland Valley Development Agency Due to from transactions 361,678.47
50 Innovative Federal Strategies LLC Professional federal legislative advocacy services 3,000.00
51 Jackhammer Movement Inc. Marketing and advertising and 55 foot screen rental for 

concert event
12,528.44

52 Jason Martinelli Refund- tenant security deposit 1,101.04
53 Jonathan Galvan Travel reimbursement for AAAE conference 290.80
54 K&L Hardware and Plumbing Supply Inc Maintenance tools and supplies 340.50
55 Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc. Employee medical benefits 56,323.04
56 Legal Shield Services Inc. Employee legal group benefits 833.40
57 Mackinac Software LLC Planned monthly service fees for AWOS weather system 178.00
58 Mark Gibbs Travel reimbursement for AAAE conference 2,093.67
59 Mead & Hunt Inc. Professional consulting services for air services and 

airport development
6,490.00

60 Merit Oil Company Fuel inventory for fleet operations 23,456.75
61 Michael Nunez Car wash services 1,790.00
62 Mirau Edwards Cannon Lewin & Tooke LLP Professional legal services 11,215.39
63 NK Demolition Bldg. 56 hazardous materials removal project 75,981.00
64 Parts Authority Metro LLC Vehicle parts and service supplies-equipment, parts, 

service and batteries
9,272.01

65 Pete's Road Service Inc. Vehicle repairs and parts 3,808.88
66 PlaneNoise Inc. Noise complaint program 1,316.13
67 Red Star Fire Protection Fire alarm monitoring 1,098.10
68 Right Energy Group LLC Professional services for Green Energy Programs 13,186.00
69 San Bernardino County Fire Protection ARFF rig repairs - RED 11 4,024.79
70 Shonsie Island Employee training reimbursement 238.60
71 SITA Information Networking Computing USA, Inc. Monthly maintenance and support 1,404.28
72 Southern California Edison Electric power 71,517.16
73 Staples Contract & Commercial LLC Office supplies 5,623.10
74 Sunwest Printing Inc. Custom printing to support the agency 548.11
75 Sysco Riverside Inc. Hospitality bar supplies - Luxivair SBD 5,089.75
76 T&G Construction Services Inc. Drywall and roof repairs-FBO 3,106.40
77 Tammie Headley Leland's café - customer service 1,115.50
78 Tetra Tech AMT SMS planning and development services 8,868.80
79 The Gas Company Natural gas service 6,950.73
80 Pitney Bowes Lease and postage revolving fund account 3,851.61
81 Thompson Industrial Supply Conveyor belt repair 918.74
82 Titan Aviation Fuels Jet A and Avgas fuel inventory purchases 4,374,856.08
83 Tom Dodson & Associates Professional services - environmental issues/projects 2,100.00
84 Trilogy Medwaste West LLC Waste disposal service for international flights 2,086.37
85 Underground Service Alert Of Southern Cal Monthly maintenance fee and ticket charges 28.50
86 Unical Aviation Refund- tenant security deposit 36,920.86
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Line Company Name Description AP Register

San Bernardino International Airport Authority
Register of Demands for Commission Meeting

3/26/2025

87 US Custom & Border Protection Customs contract and inspection fees 6,532.37
88 Utility Telecom Group LLC Data Ethernet & phone service-bandwidth & telephone 

services
1,556.13

89 Verizon Wireless Wireless phone services 2,764.86
90 VFS Fire & Security Services Recurring / unplanned maintenance, repairs & 

inspections-pump house
4,420.00

91 Victor Iosefa Annual boot reimbursement 156.23
92 VISA Office supplies, airport supplies and services, and 

Luxivair SBD supplies, services, and incidentals 
36,770.52

93 Wendy McConaughey Employee business travel reimbursement 320.00
94 Western Exterminator Company Pest control services 3,201.90

Total  $       5,445,522.00 
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Line Description Vendor Dept.
1 Electronic document file DropBox Admin. 119.88
2 18v Batteries for power tools Home Depot Maint. 129.35
3 Gopher traps K&L Hardware Maint. 185.18
4 Measuring cups for chem shed Angel Gliding LTD Maint. 91.94
5 No Parking signs for Leland Norton My Parking Sign Maint. 147.36
6 Erosion control at the GA ramp-waddle White Cap Maint. 552.83
7 Reseeding grass areas-top soil Sunshine Growers Maint. 457.94
8 Erosion control at the GA ramp-waddle Whitecap Maint. 582.40
9 Reseeding grass areas-topper Sunshine Growers Maint. 410.53

10 Gate sign for airfield Smartsign OPS 70.96
11 Pop-up cones - 28"-OPS Uline OPS 986.69
12 Registration for Terrell Bowie for ISC West conference in Las Vegas, NV 

in April 2025
ISC West Admin. 1100.00

13 Landfill Panel Repair-pole breaker Lowes Maint. 19.32
14 Landfill Panel Repairs-tools and supplies Home Depot Maint. 188.21
15 Hospitality AeroSimple Training-donuts Donut Factory Maint. 38.90
16 Replace Fixtures Bldg. 730 Offices-electrical supplies Lowes Maint. 148.78
17 Wood Polish/Storage Bin Bldg. 730 Offices-cleaning supplies Lowes Maint. 24.00
18 Hazardous waste disposal MediWaste Maint. 41.18
19 Delivery service of T-3000 truck from Ontario to SBIAA Mentone Beach RV & Boat Storage Maint. 988.80
20 Handwashing station rental National Construction Rental Maint. 110.88
21 ISC annual security conference-4 day passport registration Rx USA Security 1100.00
22 Custom branded clear toiletries bags in support of SBD Airport 

marketing-TSA bags
Everything Branded Mktg. 2817.00

23 Booking deposit for event center in support of Leaders In Energy Double Tree by Hilton Ontario Mktg. 2406.25
24 Pre-employment background service Checker HR 132.98
25 Interview panel -food & beverage Hospitality Chipotle HR 32.06
26 Routes America Conference-registration UBM Information Admin. 2065.00
27 Late fee payment FedEx Admin. 3.29
28 Annual dinner and awards reception-C. Pritchett IEEP Admin. 125.00
29 State of the Region conference-C. Pritchett and M. Burrows 2025 State of the Region Admin. 142.42
30 Interview panel FBO manager -food & beverage Hospitality Panera Bread Admin. 92.05
31 Insulated male disconnect-electrical supplies Galco Industrial Maint. 57.98
32 Door assembly Security 21-310-parts Ken Grody Maint. 733.46
33 Measuring pitcher and utility knife-landscape supplies Siteone Landscape Maint. 33.42
34 Key duplication Bldg. 56 Dibs Safe & Lock Maint. 4.89
35 Safety supplies, gloves, & eyewear Uline Maint. 776.00
36 Book: Soil Fumigation 2nd edition University of California Agriculture Maint. 42.11
37 Monthly subscription Microsoft IT 660.00
38 CBP TV Content Dish Network IT 113.71
39 Website management software, split between servers for each agency. 

$103.38 IVDA (57331 D54000 E110)
CPANEL IT 51.69

40 Website management software, split between servers for each agency. 
$103.38 IVDA (57331 D54000 E110)

CPANEL IT 51.69

41 Agencies' website usage charges, split between servers for each 
agency $117.50  IVDA (57331 D54000 E110)

DigitalOcean IT 58.75

42 Agencies' website usage charges, split between servers for each 
agency $117.50  IVDA (57331 D54000 E110)

DigitalOcean IT 58.75

43 DNS service for .gov domains Amazon Web Services IT 1.01
44 TV content for concourse Sling IT 66.79
45 Processes parking lot transactions Windcave IT 305.00
46 Monthly subscription Microsoft IT 642.00
47 Online storage Apple.com IT 0.99
48 ISC West Security Conference Reed Expo USA IT 1100.00
49 Hosted IT collaboration Slack IT 43.75
50 Terminal background music Soundtrack Your Brand IT 54.00
51 Monthly subscription Microsoft IT 2.68
52 Gate 10 network connection Cable & Wireless IT 730.27
53 Fuel crew car-FBO Chevron FBO 83.18
54 Cable service for FBO Dish Network FBO 155.35

Visa Breakdown
February 2025

SBIAA
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Line Description Vendor Dept.

Visa Breakdown
February 2025

SBIAA

55 Supplies to clean the FBO Sam's Club FBO 267.41
56 Fly into 2025 loyal customer event 1/10/2025 Septembers Taproom FBO 2188.75
57 Detailed crew cars Rive Your Drive FBO 156.00
58 Dry Cleaning for aircraft N510MG Family Dry Cleaners FBO 139.75
59 GSA Uniforms Cintas FBO 356.26
60 Fuel crew car-FBO Chevron FBO 55.34
61 New Year New You promotional raffle Massage Envy FBO 200.00
62 Streaming service Netflix FBO 22.99
63 Food handlers card for M. Martinez State food & safety FBO 22.00
64 Water for hospitality bar at FBO Smart & Final FBO 68.88
65 Board meeting tour with M. Burrows 1/22/2025 Panera Bread FBO 180.59
66 Stock imagery service Adobe Mktg. 49.99
67 Boosted social media post for Provo route Meta Mktg. 60.61
68 Bank Check endorsement stamp Safeguard Portal Processing IT 38.78
69 Regular Membership fee 1/6/25-1/5/26 California Association of Public Procurement 

Officials, Inc. (CAPPO)
Admin. 145.00

70 Fees for upcoming Project Management & Procurement Seminar-S. 
Carvalho

California Association of Public Procurement 
Officials, Inc. (CAPPO)

Admin. 95.00

71 Tire replacement 01-66 Pete's Road Service Fleet 972.44
72 Tire replacement 07-72 Pete's Road Service Fleet 825.86
73 Cleaner Hatfield Buick Fleet 61.99
74 Lever for 24-02 Hatfield Buick Fleet 152.43
75 Tire disposal charge Pete's Road Service Fleet 350.00
76 Battery Titan 10k fuel truck Parts Authority Fleet 388.27
77 Window regulator 08-07 Escape 23 Parts Authority Fleet 50.26
78 Steel plates and metal supplies Patton Sales Fleet 955.47
79 Rotors and brake pads 15-01 dump truck Parts Authority Fleet 327.28
80 Battery ARFF Generator Parts Authority Fleet 240.46
81 Hose and pipes 01-66 irrigation truck Hatfield Buick Fleet 111.75
82 Tire replacement 07-55 Pete's Road Service Fleet 696.60
83 Cap for Facilities 30 Hatfield Buick Fleet 23.54
84 Auto body repairs Security 21-310 Wyatt's Paint Body Fleet 837.91
85 Hose repair electrical diesel bowser Bernell Hydraulics Fleet 221.39
86 Alternator fuel trucks stock Quality Power Fleet 326.71
87 Tire replacement fuel truck 3609 Pete's Road Service Fleet 503.16
88 Cover for water pump R9 Colton Truck Fleet 103.87
89 Rebuild alternator GMC water truck 19 Quality Power Fleet 195.00
90 Silicone R9 O Rings & Things Fleet 3.81
91 Travel AAAE conference 01/2025 Koloa Hawaii M. Burrows-hotel 

deposit
Grand Hyatt Admin. 887.08

92 Travel for NBAA-SDC convention in New Orleans, LA 03/2025-W. 
McConaughey-airfare

Southwest Airlines Admin. 716.36

93 Travel for NBAA-SDC convention in New Orleans, LA 03/2025-M. 
Saldana-airfare

Southwest Airlines Admin. 646.36

94 Travel for NBAA-SDC convention in New Orleans, LA 03/2025-M. 
Martinez-airfare

Southwest Airlines Admin. 646.36

95 Travel for ISC West convention in Las Vegas, NV 04/2025   Mitch 
Dattilo-Hotel

Venetian Hotel & Casino Admin. 446.72

96 Travel for ISC West convention in Las Vegas, NV 04/2025   M. Dennis-
Hotel

Venetian Hotel & Casino Admin. 446.72

97 Travel for ISC West convention in Las Vegas, NV 04/2025   T. Bowie-
Hotel

Venetian Hotel & Casino Admin. 446.72

36,770.52

 VISA Statement Balance 
 Date Prepared: 02/25/2024 36,770.52
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE:  March 26, 2025 
 
ITEM NO:  4 
 
PRESENTER:  Mark Cousineau, Director of Finance 
 

 
SUBJECT: RECEIVE AND FILE TREASURER'S REPORT FOR JANUARY 31, 2025 FOR THE SAN 

BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY (SBIAA) 
 
SUMMARY 
 
SBIAA's monthly Treasurer's Report that reconciles cash. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Receive and file Treasurer's Report for January 31, 2025, for the San Bernardino International Airport 
Authority (SBIAA). 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None. 
 

 

PREPARED BY: Mark Cousineau 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: N/A 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: N/A 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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4 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Attached is the Treasurer’s Report for January 31, 2025, for the San Bernardino International 
Airport Authority. The total book value of cash accounts is $8,961,563.11 on January 31, 2025. 
Bank statements reflect $9,481,970.33. The difference between the two numbers is related to 
the outstanding checks, the deposits in transit, and other items January 31, 2025. 
 
If you have any questions about this report, please contact me at (909) 382-4100 x141. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Treasurer's Report for January 31, 2025 
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE: March 26, 2025   
 
ITEM NO:   5 
 
PRESENTER: Jeff Barrow, Director of Development  
 

 
SUBJECT: APPROVE CHANGE ORDER NO. 1 WITH GEO PAVING AND SEAL COATING, INC. FOR 

$4,500 FOR ADDITIONAL WORK RELATED TO THE GENERAL AVIATION RAMP PROJECT; 
APPROVE THE FILING OF A NOTICE OF COMPLETION FOR THIS CONTRACT AND 
AUTHORIZE THE RELEASE OF RETAINED FUNDS 

 
SUMMARY 
 
This contract was approved on December 12, 2024. The proposed Change Order No.1 addresses 
additional patching, asphalt, and slurry seal work encountered during the course of construction.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Approve Change Order No. 1 with Geo Paving and Seal Coating, Inc. for an amount not to exceed 
$4,500 for additional work related to the General Aviation Ramp Project; approve the filing of a Notice 
of Completion and authorize the release of retained funds for this contract; and authorize the Chief 
Executive Officer to execute all related documents. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None. Funding for this project is included in the approved San Bernardino International Airport 
Authority (SBIAA) Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget as a Capital Project, Project Number 25s053 – Ramp 
Repair, for $100,000 of which $4,500 is allocated for this Change Order. 
 

 

PREPARED BY: Issa Massou 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: Mark Cousineau 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
On December 12, 2024, the SBIAA Commission authorized the award of a contract with Geo 
Paving and Seal Coating, Inc. for the General Aviation Ramp Project. The project is currently 
underway and will construct asphalt repairs on an existing general aviation ramp near Hangar 
333, as part of the lease agreement with Aloft Aviation. These improvements align with SBIAA’s 
ongoing commitment to providing a safe, efficient, and user-friendly experience for tenants and 
airfield users. 
 
During construction, it was determined that an additional area of approximately 1,000 SF 
required repairs. Additional patching, asphalt, and slurry seal will be performed on the area, 
expanding the width of the repaired aircraft ramp.  
 
Geo Paving and Seal Coating Contract and Proposed Change Order No. 1: 
 
 Original Contract Amount $77,500.00 
 Change Order #1  $  4,500.00 
 New Contract Amount $82,000.00 
 
Pending approval of Change Order No. 1, the construction contract will be complete. Staff 
recommends the Commission approve the above recommended action. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Change Order No. 1 
2. Photos 
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INVOICE

Service Address

Taxiway Slurry
Project, Hangar
333 is located at
3005 “U” Street,
San Bernardino, CA
92408

Bill To

San Bernardino
International
Airport Authority
1601 E Third St,
San Bernardino, CA
92408
(909) 659-4056

Geo Paving and Sealcoating

9650 Business Ctr. Dr. Ste116 Rancho Cuc. CA91730,
185 Paularino Ave # D, Costa Mesa, CA 92626
Phone: (951) 463-7002
Email: kal@geopaving.com
Web: www.geopaving.com

Payment terms Due upon receipt
Invoice # 511

Date 03/17/2025
Business / Tax # License #: 1041655

Description Rate

Change order (Area in blue ) $4,500.00

1.Additional mobilization for asphalt work and patching, grind and overlay for an area was added 
outside the original work limits 
2.Grind and overlay along potholes in multiple locations for a total area of approximately 1,000 
sq.ft.
3.Base pave all potholes 3-4" with mix Asphalt 
4.Additional sweeping and power cleaning outside the original work limits prior to apply slurry 
seal 

Subtotal $4,500.00

Total $4,500.00

Notes:

-pricing for prevailing wage rates.
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Exclusions:
Traffic control ,Testing , Permits or fees, Designe , Engineering or surveying, Const. water, Sawcut
or Removal, Backffill , Base for Concrete/Other , Weedkiller , Prime coat , Seal coat, Drainage
< 1% fall, Utility Adjustment’s ,
Patching for utilities/Others , Barricades or Traffic control, Striping , Signage, Bumpers ,
Truncated domes , ADA compliance, ,
PSA ,PLA ,CWA , Union laborers of operator , Skilled, Work force ,

Terms and conditions:

1) All deliveries of material, supplies, or equipment over roadways of the drives of the premises
shall not incur liability to company.
2) Geo paving and Sealcoating shall not be responsible for the following:
a) Any permits, licenses, fees, etc. unless provided in contract.
b) Any damage to underground utilities not shown on blue print or marked on the job site.
c) Any pavement sinking or settling resulting from failure or settling of sub-grade from water
erosion, improper compaction or other causes beyond control of Geo paving and Sealcoating.

e) Geo paving and Sealcoating will not be held responsible for drainage at designed or existing
fall of less than 1% fall.
f) Geo paving and Sealcoating will not be held responsible for damage to rock or sub-grade
caused by water infiltration.
g) The guarantee of any seal materials adhering to oil saturated sports or other substances that
cause the seal not to bind properly to the asphalt. Normal cleaning procedures do not include
the removal of oil.
h) Any damaged or tire marks resulting to seal or asphalt of barricades are removed, avoided or
taken down prior to the time(s) stipulated.
i) Any damaged to cars, concrete, shoes, cloths, carports, or other thing as a result of going onto
the asphalt prematurely.
j) Any damaged that in not direct result of negligence or willful misconduct or Geo paving and
Sealcoating.
k) Any crack sealing, as it will settle and re-crack even though it is properly applied. After the
cracks have been sealed, they will still show through any seal coating.
l) Any damages to underground utilities.
3) Geo paving and Sealcoating will warrantee materials and workmanship for 1 year.
4) Any invoice not paid upon completion will be subject to interest of 5% per month. An invoice
is considered paid when Geo paving and Sealcoating has payment in their possession.
5) All landscaping water must off (24) hours prior to commencement of work and must remain
off for (48) hours after completion of work to allow for curing of materials. All areas where work
was performed must remain closed to foot and vehicular traffic for a minimum of (24) hours
after completion of work.
6) It is the owner’s responsibility to notify any tenants or other interested parties at least (24)
hours before the start of the project. If it is necessary for buyers to reschedule the job, he must
notify Geo paving and Sealcoating in writing at least (48) hours in advanced. If notice is not given
in time, then a “move-in” fee will be charged for all preparations made.
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7) Geo paving and Sealcoating shall not be responsible for any steering or scuff marks on the
new asphalt or new seal. This is a normal occurrence, especially in hot weather and usually
blends back in and mend themselves in few days.
8) Geo paving and Sealcoating will not be responsible for contaminated soil under existing
asphalt (vegetation, root trees, etc)
9) The owner or agent shall hold harmless Geo paving and Sealcoating from any claims
whatsoever involving the property upon which work is to be performed, including property
damage, bodily injury or death, or any other occurrence other than resulting from the sole
negligence or willful misconduct of Geo paving and Sealcoating.
10). Geo paving and Sealcoating will not be responsible for any A.D.A regulations (slope levels,
signs, etc.) for the property unless it is specified under the contract.
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By signing this document, the customer agrees to the services and conditions outlined in this
document.

Kal Sayegh San Bernardino International Airport Authority
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE: March 26, 2025   
 
ITEM NO:   6 
 
PRESENTER: Jeff Barrow, Director of Development  
 

 
SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE STAFF TO ADVERTISE THE LUXIVAIR SBD KITCHEN AND SNACK BAR 

UPGRADE PROJECT 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Approval of this item will allow staff to advertise a Notice Inviting Bids for the Luxivair SBD Kitchen and 
Snack Bar Upgrade Project. The authorized scope of work for this project provides for millwork 
improvements to Luxivair SBD’s snack bar, kitchen, and storage room. This project will be procured in 
accordance with the agency's policies and procedures.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Authorize staff to advertise the Luxivair SBD Kitchen & Snack Bar Upgrade Project in accordance with 
the agency's policies and procedures.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None. Funding for this project is included in the approved San Bernardino International Airport 
Authority (SBIAA) Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget as a Capital Improvement Project (Account 63222), 
Project Number 25s080 – FBO Building Improvements for $150,000 of which $142,000 will be allocated 
to this project. 

 
 

PREPARED BY: Griselda Lizarraga  
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: Mark Cousineau  
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Luxivair SBD (FBO) is located at 295 N Leland Norton Way, San Bernardino, CA 92408, where it 
hosts corporate and private pilots, their passengers, and provides a wide array of first-class 
amenities and services to its guests. The services provided by Luxivair SBD are an important 
source of revenue for the San Bernardino International Airport Authority (SBIAA). The building’s 
current millwork at the snack bar and kitchen areas needs improvement. The snack bar cabinets 
are misaligned, counterspace is limited, and trash bins are exposed to the public. The kitchen 
cabinets are deteriorating and no longer functional, and the current layout restricts countertop 
space and overall storage capacity, an issue for the growing staff of the FBO.  
 
The proposed snack bar improvements include repairing the existing cabinet doors, installation 
of new appliances, and new countertop openings for inside cabinet trash bins. The proposed 
kitchen improvements include gutting and removal of all existing kitchen millwork and tiles. New 
kitchen cabinets, ceiling tiles, and floor tiles will be installed, along with new appliances and 
repainting of the kitchen area. SBIAA staff retained the professional services of the building’s 
architect of record, J.R. Miller & Associates (JRMA), for the preparation of a millwork design 
package, including renderings of new cabinets and material details. The millwork package will be 
incorporated as part of the bid advertisement packet. The proposed millwork improvements will 
enhance the experience for all Luxivair SBD guests and staff, in alignment with the FBO’s 
commitment as the premier Southern California FBO.  
 
Approval of the above recommended action will provide the necessary authorization for staff to 
advertise bids for the work described. Following receipt and review of bids, the lowest 
responsible bid will be brought back to the SBIAA Commission for consideration and approval. 
 
Staff recommends the Commission approve the above recommended action. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Millwork Design Package  
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Components®
Pull-down kitchen sink faucet with two-function

sprayhead
K-28268

Features
• Two-function pull-down sprayhead with touch control allows

you to switch between aerated and Sweep® sprays
• Sweep® spray features specially angled nozzles that form a

wide, powerful blade of water to sweep your dishes and sink
clean

• DockNetik® secure docking system locks sprayhead into
place when not in use

• ProMotion® technology's light, quiet braided hose and
swiveling ball joint make the pull-down sprayhead easier and
more comfortable to use

• MasterClean™ sprayface features an easy-to-clean surface
that withstands mineral buildup and maximizes spray
performance

• High-arch spout offers vertical clearance for tall cookware
and pitchers

• Single lever handle makes adjusting water temperature easy
with one hand

• KOHLER ceramic disc valves exceed industry longevity
standards by over two times, ensuring durable performance
for life

• 1.5 gpm (5.7 lpm) maximum flow rate at 60 psi (4.14 bar)
• Temperature memory allows faucet to be turned on and off at

the temperature set during prior usage

Material
• Premium metal construction for durability and reliability
• KOHLER finishes resist corrosion and tarnishing

Installation
• For single-hole or three-hole installation (escutcheon plate

sold separately)
• Flexible supply lines simplify installation

Recommended Products/Accessories
K-23723 Faucet cleaner

Optional Products/Accessories
K-24461 Three-hole kitchen faucet escutcheon

Codes/Standards
ASME A112.18.1/CSA B125.1
NSF/ANSI/CAN 61
NSF/ANSI/CAN 372
All applicable US Federal and State material
regulations
DOE - Energy Policy Act 1992
California Energy Commission (CEC)
ADA
ICC/ANSI A117.1
CSA B651

KOHLER® Faucet Lifetime Limited
Warranty
See website for detailed warranty information.

Available Colors/Finishes
Color tiles intended for reference only.

Color Code Description

CP Polished Chrome
SN Vibrant® Polished Nickel
AF Vibrant® French Gold
VS Vibrant® Stainless
BV Vibrant® Brushed Bronze
BL Matte Black

2MB Vibrant® Brushed Moderne
Brass

BMB Matte Black with Moderne
Brass

TT Vibrant Titanium
1-800-4KOHLER (1-800-456-4537)
Kohler Co. reserves the right to make revisions without notice to product specifications.
For the most current Specification Sheet, go to www.kohler.com USA or www.kohler.ca Canada
12-17-2024 01:24 - US/CA

Strive®
15" undermount bar sink

K-5287

Features
• 18" (457 mm) minimum base cabinet width
• Single bowl
• 9" (229 mm) depth provides generous workspace
• Rear drain increases workspace in the sink and allows for

more storage space underneath the sink
• Includes a bottom sink rack and installation hardware
• Rounded 10mm corners are easy to clean

Material
• Handcrafted from 16-gauge stainless steel
• Premium 16-gauge stainless steel

Installation
• Undermount

Required Products/Accessories
K-11352 Disposal Flange with Stopper

 or
K-8801 Sink drain and strainer with tailpiece

 or
K-8799 Sink drain and strainer basket

Recommended Products/Accessories
K-23726 Drain treatment
K-23729 Stainless steel cleaner

Codes/Standards
ASME A112.19.3/CSA B45.4
ADA
ICC/ANSI A117.1

KOHLER® Stainless Steel Sinks
Lifetime Limited Warranty
See website for detailed warranty information.

1-800-4KOHLER (1-800-456-4537)
Kohler Co. reserves the right to make revisions without notice to product specifications.
For the most current Specification Sheet, go to www.kohler.com USA or www.kohler.ca Canada
12-17-2024 02:11 - US/CA

Kohler Strive K-5287 
ADA Compliant

JRMA
ARCHITECTS ENGINEERSARCHITECTS ENGINEERS

Job No. 6162

02.05.2025
 ©JRMA 2025 All Rights Reserve 

San Bernardino International Airport SK3

8” or 10” 
SquareGrommet Hole
Satin Stainless Steel (SSS)

Mockett DP128 / 6” 
Satin Stainless Steel (SSS)

Summit 24”W Built-In Commercial 
Beverage Center, ADA Compliant

Kohler Components 
Pull-Down Kitchen Sink 
Faucet K-28268 
ADA Compliant
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Strive®
15" undermount bar sink

K-5287

Features
• 18" (457 mm) minimum base cabinet width
• Single bowl
• 9" (229 mm) depth provides generous workspace
• Rear drain increases workspace in the sink and allows for

more storage space underneath the sink
• Includes a bottom sink rack and installation hardware
• Rounded 10mm corners are easy to clean

Material
• Handcrafted from 16-gauge stainless steel
• Premium 16-gauge stainless steel

Installation
• Undermount

Required Products/Accessories
K-11352 Disposal Flange with Stopper

 or
K-8801 Sink drain and strainer with tailpiece

 or
K-8799 Sink drain and strainer basket

Recommended Products/Accessories
K-23726 Drain treatment
K-23729 Stainless steel cleaner

Codes/Standards
ASME A112.19.3/CSA B45.4
ADA
ICC/ANSI A117.1

KOHLER® Stainless Steel Sinks
Lifetime Limited Warranty
See website for detailed warranty information.

1-800-4KOHLER (1-800-456-4537)
Kohler Co. reserves the right to make revisions without notice to product specifications.
For the most current Specification Sheet, go to www.kohler.com USA or www.kohler.ca Canada
12-17-2024 02:11 - US/CA

Edalyn™ by Studio McGee
Single-handle bar sink faucet

K-28357

Features
• Designed in collaboration with Studio McGee
• High-arch swing spout with 155˚ rotation offers superior

clearance for filling pitchers, chilling bottles and cleanup
• Single lever handle makes adjusting water temperature easy.
• Temperature memory allows faucet to be turned on and off at

the temperature set during prior usage
• KOHLER® ceramic disc valves exceed industry longevity

standards for a lifetime of durable performance
• 1.5 gpm (5.7 lpm) maximum flow rate at 60 psi (4.14 bar)
• Coordinates with other products in the Edalyn collection

Material
• Premium metal construction for durability and reliability
• KOHLER finishes resist corrosion and tarnishing

Installation
• Single-hole installation
• Flexible supply lines simplify installation

Recommended Products/Accessories
K-23723 Faucet cleaner

Codes/Standards
ASME A112.18.1/CSA B125.1
NSF/ANSI/CAN 61
NSF/ANSI/CAN 372
All applicable US Federal and State material
regulations
DOE - Energy Policy Act 1992
California Energy Commission (CEC)
ADA
ICC/ANSI A117.1
CSA B651
IAPMO Certification

KOHLER® Faucet Lifetime Limited
Warranty
See website for detailed warranty information.

Available Colors/Finishes
Color tiles intended for reference only.

Color Code Description

CP Polished Chrome
SN Vibrant® Polished Nickel
VS Vibrant® Stainless
BL Matte Black

2MB Vibrant® Brushed Moderne
Brass

1-800-4KOHLER (1-800-456-4537)
Kohler Co. reserves the right to make revisions without notice to product specifications.
For the most current Specification Sheet, go to www.kohler.com USA or www.kohler.ca Canada
12-17-2024 01:26 - US/CA

JRMA
ARCHITECTS ENGINEERSARCHITECTS ENGINEERS

Job No. 6162

02.05.2025
 ©JRMA 2025 All Rights Reserve 

San Bernardino International Airport SK3

Mockett DP128 / 6” 
Satin Stainless Steel (SSS)

Formica Graphite Twill 
Matte 8829-58

Bedrosians Calacatta Super 
White Porcelain Slab

Kohler Strive K-5287 
ADA Compliant

Kohler Edalyn K-28357 
ADA Compliant

60” Clear

(E)Coffee Grinder 
9.5”Wx15”Dx29”H

(E)Coffee Maker
12”Wx16”Dx35”H (E)Cookie Warmer

19.5”Wx20”Dx9.5”H

(N) Refrigerator by 
Owner 
36”Wx30”Dx69”H

Full Height Cabinet 
12.5”D Max.
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Edalyn™ by Studio McGee
Semi-professional kitchen sink faucet with two-function

sprayhead
K-28360

Features
• Designed in collaboration with Studio McGee
• Professional-style faucet with an easy-to-clean coated hose

and removable coil
• Two-function pull-down sprayhead with touch control allows

you to switch between aerated and Sweep® sprays
• Sweep® spray features specially angled nozzles that form a

wide, powerful blade of water to sweep your dishes and sink
clean

• DockNetik® magnetic docking system securely locks
sprayhead into place when not in use

• MasterClean™ sprayface features an easy-to-clean surface
that withstands mineral buildup and maximizes spray
performance

• High-arch spout offers vertical clearance for tall cookware
and pitchers

• Single lever handle makes adjusting water temperature easy.
• Temperature memory allows faucet to be turned on and off at

the temperature set during prior usage
• KOHLER® ceramic disc valves exceed industry longevity

standards for a lifetime of durable performance
• 1.5 gpm (5.7 lpm) maximum flow rate at 60 psi (4.14 bar)

Material
• Premium metal construction for durability and reliability
• KOHLER finishes resist corrosion and tarnishing

Installation
• Single-hole installation (three-hole escutcheon sold

separately)
• Flexible supply lines simplify installation

Recommended Products/Accessories
K-23723 Faucet cleaner

Optional Products/Accessories
K-22071 Three-hole kitchen faucet escutcheon

Codes/Standards
ASME A112.18.1/CSA B125.1
NSF/ANSI/CAN 61
NSF/ANSI/CAN 372
All applicable US Federal and State material
regulations
DOE - Energy Policy Act 1992
California Energy Commission (CEC)
ADA
ICC/ANSI A117.1
CSA B651
IAPMO Certification

KOHLER® Faucet Lifetime Limited
Warranty
See website for detailed warranty information.

Available Colors/Finishes
Color tiles intended for reference only.

Color Code Description

CP Polished Chrome
SN Vibrant® Polished Nickel
VS Vibrant® Stainless
BL Matte Black

2MB Vibrant® Brushed Moderne
Brass

1-800-4KOHLER (1-800-456-4537)
Kohler Co. reserves the right to make revisions without notice to product specifications.
For the most current Specification Sheet, go to www.kohler.com USA or www.kohler.ca Canada
12-17-2024 01:26 - US/CA

8” or 10” Grommet Hole 
Satin Stainless Steel (SSS)

Sterling Ludington 32” 
Undermount Double-Bowl 32024-NA
ADA Compliant

ULINE 
Tabletop Towel Dispenser
H-5995 Stainless Steel
8”Hx13”Wx5”D

Kohler Edalyn 
K-28360
ADA Compliant

Ludington®
32" undermount double-bowl kitchen sink

32024

Features
• 36" (914 mm) minimum base cabinet width
• Double-equal bowls
• 5-1/2" (140 mm) depth
• No faucet holes; requires wall- or counter-mount faucet
• Rear drains increase workspace in the sink and storage

space underneath
• Includes installation hardware
• Sink drain with strainer sold separately

Material
• Premium 18-gauge stainless steel

Installation
• Undermount

Recommended Products/Accessories
7400 Stainless Steel Sink Drain and Strainer
K-23726 Drain treatment
K-23729 Stainless steel cleaner

Optional Products/Accessories
K-6641 Stainless steel sink rack

Codes/Standards
ASME A112.19.3/CSA B45.4
ADA
ICC/ANSI A117.1
IAPMO Certification

STERLING® Stainless Steel Sinks
Lifetime Limited Warranty
See website for detailed warranty information.

1-800-STERLING (1-800-783-7546)
Kohler Co. reserves the right to make revisions without notice to product specifications.
For the most current Specification Sheet, go to www.sterlingplumbing.com.
12-31-2024 00:05 - US/CA

Mockett DP128 / 6” 
Satin Stainless Steel (SSS)

JRMA
ARCHITECTS ENGINEERSARCHITECTS ENGINEERS

Job No. 6162

02.05.2025
 ©JRMA 2025 All Rights Reserve 

San Bernardino International Airport SK3

Formica Graphite Twill 
Matte 8829-58

Bedrosians Calacatta Super 
White Porcelain Slab

(E) Coffee Server
14” Dia. x 22”H
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JRMA
ARCHITECTS ENGINEERSARCHITECTS ENGINEERS

Job No. 6162

02.05.2025
 ©JRMA 2025 All Rights Reserve 

San Bernardino International Airport SK3

Armstrong Ceiling System
White, 24”x24” 
Existing Ceiling grid to remain
New Ceiling tile to match existing  

Arizona Tile
Faro Taupe Grey 12x24
1/8” Grout

Provide separate circuit for each 
microwave
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE: March 26, 2025   
 
ITEM NO:   7 
 
PRESENTER: Jeff Barrow, Director of Development  
 

 
SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE STAFF TO ADVERTISE THE TERMINAL LACTATION ROOM AND PET RELIEF    
                           PROJECT   
                           
SUMMARY 
 
Approval of this item would authorize staff to advertise a Notice Inviting Bids for the Terminal Lactation 
and Pet Relief Project. The authorized scope of work for this project provides for the construction of a 
new lactation room and pet relief area on the second floor of the domestic terminal building. This 
project will be procured in accordance with the agency's policies and procedures.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Authorize staff to advertise for the Terminal Lactation and Pet Relief Project in accordance with the 
agency's policies and procedures.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None. Funding for this project is included in the approved San Bernardino International Airport 
Authority (SBIAA) Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget in the Capital Projects Fund, Account 63222 – Terminal 
Improvements in the amount $205,000. 
 

 

PREPARED BY: Griselda Lizarraga  
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: Mark Cousineau  
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The domestic terminal building is located at 105 N. Leland Norton Way, San Bernardino, CA 92408 
where it is available to the traveling public during scheduled airline passenger flights. The second 
floor of the domestic terminal, beyond the TSA security checkpoint, is designed to accommodate 
passengers as they prepare to board and disembark commercial airlines. Currently, this 
concourse area is not equipped with proper pet relief or lactation rooms. Such facilities are 
necessary to accommodate the needs of the public, and to ensure a safe and comfortable 
experience during travel through the San Bernardino International Airport.   
 
The proposed improvements include the construction of two new lactation rooms, a new pet 
relief room, and a relocated janitorial storage room. The project scope includes demolition, new 
walls, plumbing, electrical, carpentry, lighting, and finishes necessary for the new rooms. SBIAA 
staff retained the professional services of Miller Architecture for the preparation of a complete 
set of construction drawings. The drawings will be incorporated as part of the bid advertisement 
packet. The proposed terminal improvements will accommodate the needs of the terminal’s 
passengers and offer a more convenient and pleasant travel experience. 
 
Approval of the above recommended action will provide the necessary authorization for staff to 
advertise bids for the work described. Following receipt and review of bids, the lowest 
responsible bid will be brought back to the SBIAA Commission for consideration and approval. 
 
Staff recommends the Commission approve the above recommended action. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Construction Drawings   
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CHAPTER 5

NONRESIDENTIAL MANDATORY MEASURES

SECTION 5.101  GENERAL

5.101.1 SCOPE

The provisions of this chapter outline planning, design and development methods that include environmentally

responsible site selection, building design, building siting and development to protect, restore and enhance the

environmental quality of the site and respect the integrity of adjacent properties.

DIVISION 5.1 PLANNING AND DESIGN

2022 CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODE

NONRESIDENTIAL MANDATORY MEASURES, SHEET 1 (January 2023)

Y

SECTION 5.102  DEFINITIONS

5.102.1 DEFINITIONS

The following terms are defined in Chapter 2 (and are included here for reference)

CUTOFF LUMINAIRES.  Luminaires whose light distribution is such that the candela per 1000 lamp lumens does not

numerically exceed 25 (2.5 percent) at an angle of 90 degrees above nadir, and 100 (10 percent) at a vertical angle of

80 degrees above nadir.  This applies to all lateral angles around the luminaire.

LOW-EMITTING AND FUEL EFFICIENT VEHICLES.

Eligible vehicles are limited to the following:

1.   Zero emission vehicle (ZEV), enhanced advanced technology PZEV (enhanced AT ZEV) or transitional zero

emission vehicles (TZEV) regulated under CCR, Title 13, Section 1962.

2.   High-efficiency vehicles, regulated by U.S. EPA, bearing a fuel economy and greenhouse gas rating od 9 oe

10 as regulated under 40 CFR Section 600 Subpart D.

NEIGHBORHOOD ELECTRIC VEHICLE (NEV).  A motor vehicle that meets the definition of "low-speed vehicle"

either in Section 385.5 of the Vehicle Code or in 49CFR571.500 (as it existed on July 1, 2000), and is certified to

zero-emission vehicle standards.

TENANT-OCCUPANTS.  Building occupants who inhabit a building during its normal hours of operation as permanent

occupants, such as employees, as distinguished from customers and other transient visitors.

VANPOOL VEHICLE.  Eligible vehicles are limited to any motor vehicle, other than a motortruck or truck tractor,

designed for carrying more than 10 but not more than 15 persons including the driver, which is maintained and used

primarily for the nonprofit work-related transportation of adults for the purpose of ridesharing.

Note: Source: Vehicle Code, Division 1, Section 668

ZEV.  Any vehicle certified to zero-emission standards.

SECTION 5.106  SITE DEVELOPMENT

5.106.1 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION FOR PROJECTS THAT DISTURB LESS THAN ONE ACRE

OF LAND.  Newly constructed projects and additions which disturb less than one acre of land, and are not part of a

larger common plan of development or sale, shall prevent the pollution of storm water runoff from the construction

activities through one or more of the following measures:

5.106.1.1  Local ordinance.  Comply with a lawfully enacted storm water management and/or erosion control

ordinance.

5.106.1.2  Best Management Practices (BMPs).  Prevent the loss of soil through wind or water erosion by 

implementing an effective combination of erosion and sediment control and good housekeeping BMPs.

1.   Soil loss BMPs that should be considered for implementation as appropriate for each project include,

     but are not limited to, the following:

a.   Scheduling construction activity during dry weather, when possible.

b.   Preservation of natural features, vegetation, soil, and buffers around surface waters.

c.   Drainage swales or lined ditches to control stormwater flow.

d.   Mulching or hydroseeding to stabilize disturbed soils.

e.   Erosion control to protect slopes.

f.    Protection of storm drain inlets (gravel bags or catch basin inserts).

g.   Perimeter sediment control (perimeter silt fence, fiber rolls).

h.   Sediment trap or sediment basin to retain sediment on site.

i.    Stabilized construction exits.

j.   Wind erosion control.

k.   Other soil loss BMPs acceptable to the enforcing agency.

2.   Good housekeeping BMPs to manage construction equipment, materials, non-stormwater discharges

      and wastes that should be considered for implementation as appropriate for each project include, but

      are not limited to, the following:

a.   Dewatering activities.

b.   Material handling and waste management.

c.   Building materials stockpile management.

d.   Management of washout areas (concrete, paints, stucco, etc.).

e.   Control of vehicle/equipment fueling to contractor's staging area.

f.   Vehicle and equipment cleaning performed off site.

g    Spill prevention and control.

h.   Other housekeeping BMPs acceptable to the enforcing agency.

DIVISION 5.2 ENERGY EFFICIENCY

SECTION 5.201  GENERAL

5.201.1 Scope [BSC-CG]. California Energy Code [DSA-SS].  For the purposes of mandatory energy efficiency

standards in this code, the California Energy Commission will continue to adopt mandatory building standards.

DIVISION 5.3 WATER EFFICIENCY AND CONSERVATION

SECTION 5.301  GENERAL

5.301.1 Scope.  The provisions of this chapter shall establish the means of conserving water use indoors, outdoors

and in wastewater conveyance.

SECTION 5.302  DEFINITIONS

5.302.1 Definitions.  The following terms are defined in Chapter 2 (and are included here for reference)

EVAPOTRANSPIRATION ADJUSTMENT FACTOR (ETAF) [DSA-SS].  An adjustment factor when applied to

reference evapotranspiration that adjusts for plant factors and irrigation efficiency, which ae two major influences on

the amount of water that needs to be applied to the landscape.

FOOTPRINT AREA [DSA-SS].  The total area of the furthest exterior wall of the structure projected to natural grade,

not including exterior areas such as stairs, covered walkways, patios and decks.

METERING FAUCET.  A self-closing faucet that dispenses a specific volume of water for each actuation cycle.  The

volume or cycle duration can be fixed or adjustable.

GRAYWATER.  Pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 17922.12, "graywater" means untreated wastewater that

has not been contaminated by any toilet discharge, has not been affected by infectious, contaminated, or unhealthy

bodily wastes, and does not present a threat from contamination by unhealthful processing, manufacturing, or

operating wastes.  "Graywater" includes, but is not limited to wastewater from bathtubs, showers, bathroom

washbasins, clothes washing machines and laundry tubs, but does not include waste water from kitchen sinks or

dishwashers.

MODEL WATER EFFICIENT LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE (MWELO).  The California ordinance regulating landscape

design, installation and maintenance practices that will ensure commercial, multifamily and other developer installed

landscapes greater than 2500 square feet meet an irrigation water budget developed based on landscaped area and

climatological parameters.

MODEL WATER EFFICIENT LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE (MWELO). [HCD]  The California model ordinance

(California Code of Regulations, Title 23, Division 2, Chapter 2.7), regulating landscape design, installation and

maintenance practices.  Local agencies are required to adopt the updated MWELO, or adopt a local ordinance at least

as effective as the MWELO.

POTABLE WATER.  Water that is drinkable and meets the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Drinking

Water Standards. See definition in the California Plumbing Code, Part 5.

POTABLE WATER. [HCD]  Water that is satisfactory for drinking, culinary, and domestic purposes, and meets the

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Drinking Water Standards and the requirements of the Health Authority

Having Jurisdiction.

RECYCLED WATER.  Water which, as a result of treatment of waste, is suitable for a direct beneficial use or a

controlled use that would not otherwise occur [Water Code Section 13050 (n)]. Simply put, recycled water is water

treated to remove waste matter attaining a quality that is suitable to use the water again.

SUBMETER. [HCD 1] A secondary device beyond a meter that measures water consumption of an individual rental

unit within a multiunit residential structure or mixed-use residential and commercial structure. (See Civic Code Section

1954.202 (g) and Water code Section 517 for additional details.)

WATER BUDGET.  Is the estimated total landscape irrigation water use which shall not exceed the maximum applied

water allowance calculated in accordance with the Department of Water Resources Model Efficient Landscape

Ordinance (MWELO).

5.106.5.3 Electric vehicle (EV) charging. [N]  Construction to provide electric vehicle infrastructure and facilitate

electric vehicle charging shall comply with Section 5.106.5.3.1 and shall be provided in accordance with

regulations in  the California Building Code and the California Electrical Code.

Exceptions:

1. On a case-by-case basis where the local enforcing agency has determined compliance with

this section is not feasible based upon one of the following conditions:

a. Where there is no local utility power supply

b. Where the local utility is unable to supply adequate power.

c. Where there is evidence suitable to the local enforcement agency substantiating the

local utility infrastructure design requirements, directly related to the implementation of

Section 5.106.5.3, may adversely impact the construction cost of the project.

2.  Parking spaces accessible only by automated mechanical car parking systems are not

required to comply with this code section

5.106.5.3.1 EV capable spaces.

[N] EV capable spaces shall be provided in accordance with Table 5.106.5.3.1 and the following

requirements:

1. Raceways complying with the California Electrical Code and no less that 1-inch (25 mm)

diameter shall be provided and shall originate at a service panel or a subpanel(s) serving

the area, and shall terminate in close proximity to the proposed location of the EV capable

and into a suitable listed cabinet, box,enclosure or equivalent. A common raceway may be

used to serve multiple EV charging spaces.

2. A service panel or subpanel (s) shall be provided with panel space and electrical load

capacity for a dedicated 208/240 volt, 40-ampere minimum branch circuit for each EV

capable space, with delivery of 30-ampere minimum to an installed EVSE at each EVCS.

3. The electrical system and any on-site distribution transformers shall have sufficient capacity

to supply full rated amperage at each EV capable space.

4. The service panel or subpanel circuit directory shall identify the reserved overcurrent

protective devices space(s) as "EV CAPABLE". The raceway termination location shall be

permanently and visibly marked as "EV CAPABLE."

Note: A parking space served by electric vehicle supply equipment or designed as a future EV

charging space shall count as at least one standard automobile parking space only for the purpose of

complying with any applicable minimum parking space requirements established by an enforcement

agency. See vehicle Code Section 22511.2 for further details.

ABBREVIATION DEFINITIONS:

HCD Department of Housing and Community Development

BSC California Building Standards Commission

DSA-SS Division of the State Architect, Structural Safety

OSHPD Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development

LR Low Rise

HR High Rise

AA Additions and Alterations

N New

5.106.4.1.2 Long-term bicycle parking.  For new buildings with tenant spaces that have 10 or more 

tenant-occupants, provide secure bicycle parking for 5 percent of the tenant-occupant vehicular parking

spaces with a minimum of one bicycle parking facility.

5.106.4.1.3 For additions or alterations that add 10 or more tenant-occupant vehicular parking spaces, 

provide secure bicycle parking for 5 percent of the tenant vehicular parking spaces being added, with a 

minimum of one bicycle parking facility.

5.106.4.1.4 For new shell buildings in phased projects provide secure bicycle parking for 5 percent of the

anticipated tenant-occupant vehicular parking spaces with a minimum of one bicycle parking facility.

5.106.4.1.5 Acceptable bicycle parking facility for Sections 5.106.4.1.2, 5.106.4.1.3, and 5.106.4.1.4 shall

be convenient from the street and shall meet one of the following:

1.  Covered, lockable enclosures with permanently anchored racks for bicycles;

2.  Lockable bicycle rooms with permanently anchored racks; or

3.  Lockable, permanently anchored bicycle lockers.

Note:  Additional information on recommended bicycle accommodations may be obtained from 

Sacramento Area Bicycle Advocates.

5.106.4.2  Bicycle parking. [DSA-SS]  For public schools and community colleges, comply with Sections 

5.106.4.2.1 and 5.106.4.2.2

5.106.4.2.1  Student bicycle parking.  Provide permanently anchored bicycle racks conveniently 

accessed with a minimum of four two-bike capacity racks per new building.

5.106.4.2.2  Staff bicycle parking.  Provide permanent, secure bicycle parking conveniently accessed 

with a minimum of two staff bicycle parking spaces per new building. Acceptable bicycle parking facilities

shall be convenient from the street or staff parking area and shall meet one of the following:

1.  Covered, lockable enclosures with permanently anchored racks for bicycles;

2.  Lockable bicycle rooms with permanently anchored racks; or

3.  Lockable, permanently anchored bicycle lockers.

5.106.4 BICYCLE PARKING.  For buildings within the authority of California Building Standards Commission as

specified in Section 103, comply with Section 5.106.4.1.  For buildings within the authority of the Division of the State

Architect pursuant to Section 105, comply with Section 5.106.4.2

5.106.4.1 Bicycle parking. [BSC-CG]  Comply with Sections 5.106.4.1.1 and 5.106.4.1.2; or meet the 

applicable local ordinance, whichever is stricter.

5.106.4.1.1  Short-term bicycle parking.   If the new project or an addition or alteration is anticipated 

to generate visitor traffic, provide permanently anchored bicycle racks within 200 feet of the visitors' 

entrance, readily visible to passers-by, for 5% of new visitor motorized vehicle parking spaces being 

added, with a minimum of one two-bike capacity rack.

Exception:  Additions or alterations which add nine or less visitor vehicular parking spaces.

CHAPTER 3

GREEN BUILDING

SECTION 301  GENERAL

301.1  SCOPE.  Buildings shall be designed to include the green building measures specified as mandatory in

the application checklists contained in this code.  Voluntary green building measures are also included in the

application checklists and may be included in the design and construction of structures covered by this code,

but are not required unless adopted by a city, county, or city and county as specified in Section 101.7.

301.3  NONRESIDENTIAL ADDITIONS AND ALTERATIONS. [BSC-CG]  The provisions

of individual sections of Chapter 5 apply to newly constructed buildings, building additions of 1,000 square 

feet or greater, and/or building alterations with a permit valuation of $200,000 or above (for occupancies within

the authority of California Building Standards Commission).  Code sections relevant to additions and 

alterations shall only apply to the portions of the building being added or altered within the scope of the 

permitted work.

A code section will be designated by a banner to indicate where the code section only applies to newly 

constructed buildings [N] or to additions and/or alterations [A].  When the code section applies to both, no 

banner will be used.

301.3.1 Nonresidential additions and alterations that cause updates to plumbing fixtures only:

Note: On and after January 1, 2014, certain commercial real property, as defined in Civil Code Section

1101.3, shall have its noncompliant plumbing fixtures replaced with appropriate water-conserving 

plumbing fixtures under specific circumstances. See Civil Code Section 1101.1 et seq. for definitions, 

types of commercial real property affected, effective dates, circumstances necessitating 

replacement of noncompliant plumbing fixtures, and duties and responsibilities for 

ensuring compliance.

301.3.2  Waste Diversion.  The requirements of Section 5.408 shall be required for additions and 

alterations whenever a permit is required for work.

301.4  PUBLIC SCHOOLS AND COMMUNITY COLLEGES.  (see GBSC)

301.5  HEALTH FACILITIES.  (see GBSC)

SECTION 302 MIXED OCCUPANCY BUILDINGS

302.1 MIXED OCCUPANCY BUILDINGS.  In mixed occupancy buildings, each portion of a building 

shall comply with the specific green building measures applicable to each specific occupancy.

SECTION 303 PHASED PROJECTS

303.1 PHASED PROJECTS.  For shell buildings and others constructed for future tenant improvements,

only those code measures relevant to the building components and systems considered to be new 

construction (or newly constructed) shall apply.

303.1.1 Initial Tenant improvements. The provisions of this code shall apply only to the initial tenant 

improvements to a project.  Subsequent tenant improvements shall comply with the scoping provisions in 

Section 301.3 non-residential additions and alterations.

5.106.5.3.3 Use of automatic load management systems (ALMS).

ALMS shall be permitted for EVCS. When ALMS is installed, the required electrical load capacity

specified in Section

5.106.5.3.1 for each EVCS may be reduced when serviced by an EVSE controlled by an ALMS. Each

EVSE controlled by an ALMS shall deliver a minimum 30 amperes to an EV when charging one vehicle

and shall deliver a minimum 3.3 kW while simultaneously charging multiple EVs.

5.106.5.3.4 Accessible EVCS.

When EVSE is installed, accessible EVSC shall be provided in accordance with the California Building

Code, Chapter 11B, Section 11B-228.3.

Note: For EVCS signs, refer to Caltrans Traffic Operations Policy Directive 13-01 (Zero Emission Vehicle

Signs and Pavement Markings) or its successor(s).

5.106.5.4 Electric Vehicle (EV) charging: medium-duty and heavy-duty. [N]

Construction shall comply with section 5.106.5.4.1 to facilitate future installation of electric vehicle supply

equipment (EVSE). Construction for warehouses, grocery stores and retail stores with planned off-street loading

spaces shall also comply with Section 5.106.5.4.1 for future installation of medium- and heavy-duty EVSE.

Exceptions:

1. On a case-by-case basis where the local enforcing agency has determined compliance with this

section is not feasible based upon one of the following conditions:

a. Where there is no local utility power supply.

b. Where the local utility is unable to supply adequate power.

c. Where there is evidence suitable to the local enforcing agency substantiating that

additional local utility infrastructure design requirements, directly related to the implementation

of Section 5.106.5.3, may adversely impact the construction cost of the project.

When EVSE(s) is/are installed, it shall be in accordance with the California Building Code, the California

Electrical Code and as follows:

5.106.5.4.1 Electric vehicle charging readiness requirements for warehouse, grocery stores and retail stores

with planned off-street loading spaces.

[N] In order to avoid future demolition when adding EV charging supply and distribution equipment, spare

raceways(s) or busway(s) and adequate capacity for transformers(s), service panels(s) or subpanel(s) shall be

installed at the time of construction in accordance with the California Electrical Code. Construction plans and

specifications shall include but are not limited to, the following:

1. The transformer, main service equipment and subpanel shall meet the minimum power

requirement in Table 5.106.5.4.1 to accommodate the dedicated branch circuits for the future

installation of EVSE.

2. The construction documents shall indicate on or more location(s) convenient to the planned

offstreet loading space(s) reserved for medium-and heavy-duty ZEV charging cabinets and

charging dispensers, and a pathway reserved for routing of conduit from the termination of the

raceway(s) or busway(s) to the charging cabinet(s) and dispenser(s) as shown in Table

5.106.5.4.1

3. Raceway(s) or busway(s) originating at a main service panel or a subpanel(s) serving the area

where potential future medium-and heavy-duty EVSE will be located and shall terminate in close

proximity to the potential future location of the charging equipments for medium- and heavy-duty

vehicles.

4. The raceway(s) or busway(s) shall be sufficient size to carry the minimum additional system load

to the future location of the charging for medium- and heavy-duty ZEVs as shown in Table

5.106.5.4.1.

TOTAL NUMBER OF ACTUAL

PARKING SPACES

NUMBER OF REQUIRED EV

CAPABLE SPACES

¹

¹

5.106.8 LIGHT POLLUTION REDUCTION. [N]. l Outdoor lighting systems shall be designed and installed to comply

with the following:

1. The minimum requirements in the California Energy Code for Lighting Zones 0-4 as defined in Chapter 10,

Section 10-114 of the California Administrative Code; and

2. Backlight (B) ratings as defined in IES TM-15-11 (shown in Table A-1 in Chapter 8);

3. Uplight and Glare ratings as defined in California Energy Code (shown in Tables 130.2-A and 130.2-B in

Chapter 8) and

4. Allowable BUG ratings not exceeding those shown in Table 5.106.8, [N] or Comply with a local ordinance

lawfully enacted pursuant to Section 101.7, whichever is more stringent.

Exceptions: [N]

1.   Luminaires that qualify as exceptions in Sections 130.2 (b) and 140.7 of the California Energy Code.

2.   Emergency lighting.

3.   Building facade meeting the requirements in Table 140.7-B of the California Energy Code, Part 6.

4.   Custom lighting features as allowed by the local enforcing agency, as permitted by Section 101.8 

      Alternate materials, designs and methods of construction.

5.   Luminaires with less than 6,200 initial luminaire lumens.

          ALLOWABLE RATING

LIGHTING

ZONE

LZ0

LIGHTING

ZONE  LZ1

LIGHTING

ZONE LZ2

LIGHTING

ZONE  LZ3

LIGHTING

ZONE  LZ4

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

BACKLIGHT RATING 3

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

UPLIGHT RATING (U)

5.106.2 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION FOR PROJECTS THAT DISTURB ONE OR MORE ACRES OF

LAND.  Comply with all lawfully enacted stormwater discharge regulations for projects that (1) disturb one acre or

more of land, or (2) disturb less than one acre of land but are part of a larger common plan of development sale.

Note: Projects that (1) disturb one acre or more of land, or (2) disturb less than one acre of land but are part of the

larger common plan of development or sale must comply with the post-construction requirements detailed in the

applicable National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) General permit for Stormwater Discharges

Associated with Construction and Land Disturbance Activities issued by the State Water Resources Control Board or

the Lahontan Regional Water Quality Control Board (for projects in the Lake Tahoe Hydrologic Unit).

The NPDES permits require postconstruction runoff (post-project hydrology) to match the preconstruction runoff

(pre-project hydrology) with the installation of postconstruction stormwater management measures.  The NPDES

permits emphasize runoff reduction through on-site stormwater use, interception, evapotranspiration, and infiltration

through nonstructural controls, such as Low Impact Development (LID) practices, and conversation design measures.

Stormwater volume that cannot be addressed using nonstructural practices is required to be captured in structural

practices and be approved by the enforcing agency.

Refer to the current applicable permits on the State Water Resources Control Board website at:

www.waterboards.ca.gov/constructionstormwater. Consideration to the stormwater runoff management measures

should be given during the initial design process for appropriate integration into site development.

N/A

Y N/A

2. The number of required EVCS (EV capable spaces provided with EVSE) in column 3 count towards

the total number of required EV capable spaces shown in column 2.

5.106.5.3.2 Electric vehicle charging stations (EVCS)

EV capable spaces shall be provided with EVSE to create EVCS in the number indicated in Table

5.106.5.3.1. The EVCS required by Table 5.106.5.3.1 may be provided with EVSE in any combination of

Level 2 and Direct Current Fast Charging (DCFC), except that at least one Level 2 EVSE shall be

provided.

One EV charger with multiple connectors capable of charging multiple EVs simultaneously shall be

permitted if the electrical load capacity required by Section 5.106.5.3.1 for each EV capable space is

accumulatively supplied to the EV charger.

The installation of each DCFC EVSE shall be permitted to reduce the minimum number of required EV

capable spaces without EVSE by five and reduce proportionally the required electrical load capacity to the

service panel or subpanel.

Y N/A

Y N/A

Y   =    YES

N/A = NOT APPLICABLE

RESPON. PARTY = RESPONSIBLE PARTY (ie: ARCHITECT, ENGINEER, 

OWNER, CONTRACTOR, INSPECTOR ETC.)

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

 5.106.8.1 Facing- Backlight

Luminaries within 2MH of a property line shall be oriented so that the nearest property line is behind the fixture,

and shall comply with the backlight rating specified in Table 5.106.8 based on the lighting zone and distance to

the nearest point of that property line.

Exception: Corners. If two property lines (or two segments of the same property line) have equidistant point

to the luminaire, then the luminaire may be oriented so that the intersection of the two lines (the corner) is 

directly behind the luminaire. The luminaire shall still use the distance to the nearest points(s) on the property

lines to determine the required backlight rating.

5.106.8.2 Facing-Glare.

For luminaires covered by 5.106.8.1, if a property line also exists within or extends into the front hemisphere within

2MH of the luminaire then the luminaire shall comply with the more stringent glare rating specified in Table

5.106.8 based on the lighting zone and distance to the nearest point on the nearest property line within the front

hemisphere.

Note: [N]

 1.See also California Building Code, Chapter 12, Section 1205.6 for college campus lighting requirements for 

parking facilities and walkways.

 2.Refer to Chapter 8 (Compliance Forms, Worksheets and Reference Material) for IES TM-15-11 Table 

A-1, California Energy Code Tables 130.2-A and 130.2-B.

3.  Refer to the California Building Code for requirements for additions and alterations.

5.106.10 GRADING AND PAVING.  Construction plans shall indicate how site grading or a drainage system will

manage all surface water flows to keep water from entering buildings.  Examples of methods to manage surface

water include, but are not limited to, the following:

1. Swales.

2. Water collection and disposal systems.

3. French drains.

4. Water retention gardens.

5. Other water measures which keep surface water away from buildings and aid in groundwater recharge.

Exception:  Additions and alterations not altering the drainage path.

5.106.12 SHADE TREES [DSA-SS].  Shade Trees shall be planted to comply with Sections 5.106.12.1, 5.106.12.2,

and 5.106.12.3. Percentages shown shall be measured at noon on the summer solstice. Landscape irrigation

necessary to establish and maintain tree health shall comply with Section 5.304.6.

5.106.12.1 Surface parking areas.  Shade tree plantings, minimum #10 container size or equal, shall be installed

to provide shade over 50 percent of the parking area within 15 years.

Exceptions:   Surface parking area covered by solar photovoltaic shade structures with roofing

materials that comply with Table A5.106.11.2.2 in Appendix A5 shall be permitted in whole or in part in

lieu of shade tree planting.

5.106.12.2 Landscape areas.  Shade tress plantings, minimum #10 container size or equal shall be installed to

provide shade of 20% of the landscape area within 15 years.

Exceptions:  Playfields for organized sport activity are not included in the total area calculation.

5.106.12.3.  Hardscape areas.  Shade tree plantings, minimum #10 container size or equal shall be installed to

provide shade over 20 percent of the hardscape area within 15 years.

Exceptions:

1. Walks, hardscape areas covered by solar photovoltaic shade structures or shade structures with roofing

materials that comply with Table A5.106.11.2.2 in Appendix A5 shall be permitted in whole or in part in lieu

of shade tree planting.

2. Designated and marked play areas of organized sport activity are not included in the total area calculation.

BUILDING TYPE

NUMBER OF

OFF-STREET

LOADING SPACES

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

GLARE RATING 5  (G)

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

GLARE RATING 5  (G)

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

GLARE RATING 5  (G)

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE
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GLARE RATING 5  (G)
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5.303.3 WATER CONSERVING PLUMBING FIXTURES AND FITTINGS.  Plumbing fixtures (water closets and 

urinals) and fittings (faucets and showerheads) shall comply with the following:

5.303.3.1  Water Closets.  The effective flush volume of all water closets shall not exceed 1.28 gallons per 

flush.  Tank-type water closets shall be certified to the performance criteria of the U.S. EPA WaterSense 

Specification for Tank-Type toilets.

Note:  The effective flush volume of dual flush toilets is defined as the composite, average flush volume of 

two reduced flushes and one full flush.

5.303.3.2  Urinals.

5.303.3.2.1 Wall-mounted Urinals.  The effective flush volume of wall-mounted urinals shall not exceed

0.125 gallons per flush.

5.303.3.2.2 Floor-mounted Urinals.  The effective flush volume of floor-mounted or other urinals shall 

not exceed 0.5 gallons per flush.

5.303.3.3  Showerheads. [BSC-CG]

5.303.3.3.1  Single showerhead.  Showerheads shall have a maximum flow rate of not more than 1.8 

gallons per minute at 80 psi.  Showerheads shall be certified to the performance criteria of the U.S. EPA

WaterSense Specification for Showerheads.

5.303.3.3.2 Multiple showerheads serving one shower.  When a shower is served by more than one 

showerhead, the combined flow rate of all the showerheads and/or other shower outlets controlled by a 

single valve shall not exceed 1.8 gallons per minute at 80 psi, or the shower shall be designed to 

allow only one shower outlet to be in operation at a time.

Note:  A hand-held shower shall be considered a showerhead.

DIVISION 5.4 MATERIAL CONSERVATION AND RESOURCE

EFFICIENCY

SECTION 5.401  GENERAL

5.401.1 SCOPE.  The provisions of this chapter shall outline means of achieving material conservation and resource

efficiency through protection of buildings from exterior moisture, construction waste diversion, employment of

techniques to reduce pollution through recycling of materials, and building commissioning or testing and adjusting.

SECTION 5.408 CONSTRUCTION WASTE REDUCTION, DISPOSAL AND

RECYCLING

5.408.1 CONSTRUCTION WASTE MANAGEMENT.  Recycle and/or salvage for reuse a minimum of 65% of the

non-hazardous construction and demolition waste in accordance with Section 5.408.1.1, 5.408.1.2 or 5.408.1.3; or

meet a local construction and demolition waste management ordinance, whichever is more stringent.

5.408.1.1 Construction waste management plan. Where a local jurisdiction does not have a construction and

demolition waste management ordinance, submit a construction waste management plan that:

1.   Identifies the construction and demolition waste materials to be diverted from disposal by efficient 

      usage, recycling, reuse on the project or salvage for future use or sale.

2.   Determines if construction and demolition waste materials will be sorted on-site (source-separated) or

      bulk mixed (single stream).

3.   Identifies diversion facilities where construction and demolition waste material collected will be taken.

4.   Specifies that the amount of construction and demolition waste materials diverted shall be calculated

      byweight or volume, but not by both.

5.408.1.2  Waste Management Company.  Utilize a waste management company that can provide verifiable 

documentation that the percentage of construction and demolition waste material diverted from the landfill 

complies with this section.

Note:  The owner or contractor shall make the determination if the construction and demolition waste material

will be diverted by a waste management company.

Exceptions to Sections 5.408.1.1 and 5.408.1.2:

1.   Excavated soil and land-clearing debris.

2.   Alternate waste reduction methods developed by working with local agencies if diversion or recycle 

      facilities capable of compliance with this item do not exist.

3.   Demolition waste meeting local ordinance or calculated in consideration of local recycling facilities 

             and markets.

5.408.1.3  Waste stream reduction alternative.  The combined weight of new construction disposal that does

not exceed two pounds per square foot of building area may be deemed to meet the 65% minimum requirement

as approved by the enforcing agency.

5.408.1.4 Documentation. Documentation shall be provided to the enforcing agency which demonstrates 

compliance with Sections 5.408.1.1, through 5.408.1.3.  The waste management plan shall be updated as 

necessary and shall be accessible during construction for examination by the enforcing agency.

Notes:

1.   Sample forms found in "A Guide to the California Green Building Standards Code (Nonresidential)" 

      located www.dgs.ca.gov/BSC/Resources/Page-Content/Building-Standards-Commission-

      Resources-List-Folder/CALGreen may be used to assist in documenting compliance with the waste 

      management plan.

2.   Mixed construction and demolition debris processors can be located at the California Department of

      Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle).

5.408.2  UNIVERSAL WASTE. [A]  Additions and alterations to a building or tenant space that meet the scoping

provisions in Section 301.3 for nonresidential additions and alterations, shall require verification that Universal Waste

items such as fluorescent lamps and ballast and mercury containing thermostats as well as other California prohibited

Universal Waste materials are disposed of properly and are diverted from landfills.  A list of prohibited Universal Waste

materials shall be included in the construction documents.

Note:  Refer to the Universal Waste Rule link at: http://www.dtsc.ca.gov/universalwaste/

5.408.3 EXCAVATED SOIL AND LAND CLEARING DEBRIS.  100 percent of trees, stumps, rocks and associated

vegetation and soils resulting primarily from land clearing shall be reused or recycled. For a phased project, such

material may be stockpiled on site until the storage site is developed.

Exception:  Reuse, either on or off-site, of vegetation or soil contaminated by disease or pest infestation.

Notes:

1.   If contamination by disease or pest infestation is suspected, contact the County Agricultural 

      Commissioner and follow its direction for recycling or disposal of the material.

2.   For a map of know pest and/or disease quarantine zones, consult with the California Department of 

      Food and Agriculture.  (www.cdfa.ca.gov)

DIVISION 5.5    ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

SECTION 5.501  GENERAL

5.501.1 SCOPE.  The provisions of this chapter shall outline means of reducing the quantity of air contaminants that

are odorous, irritating, and/or harmful to the comfort and well-being of a building's installers, occupants and neighbors.

SECTION 5.502  DEFINITIONS

5.502.1 DEFINITIONS.  The following terms are defined in Chapter 2 (and are included here for reference)

ARTERIAL HIGHWAY. A general term denoting a highway primarily for through traffic usually on a continuous route.

A-WEIGHTED SOUND LEVEL (dBA). The sound pressure level in decibels as measured on a sound level meter

using the internationally standardized A-weighting filter or as computed from sound spectral data to which A-weighting

adjustments have been made.

1 BTU/HOUR. British thermal units per hour, also referred to as Btu. The amount of heat required to raise one pound

of water one degree Fahrenheit per hour, a common measure of heat transfer rate. A ton of refrigeration is 12,000 Btu,

the amount of heat required to melt a ton (2,000 pounds) of ice at 32

0

 Fahrenheit.

COMMUNITY NOISE EQUIVALENT LEVEL (CNEL).  A metric similar to the day-night average sound level (Ldn),

except that a 5 decibel adjustment is added to the equivalent continuous sound exposure level for evening hours (7pm

to 10pm) in addition to the 10 dB nighttime adjustment used in the Ldn.

COMPOSITE WOOD PRODUCTS. Composite wood products include hardwood plywood, particleboard and medium

density fiberboard. “Composite wood products” does not include hardboard, structural plywood, structural panels,

structural composite lumber, oriented strand board, glued laminated timber, timber, prefabricated wood I–joists or

finger–jointed lumber, all as specified in California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 17, Section 93120.1(a).

Note:  See CCR, Title 17, Section 93120.1.

DAY-NIGHT AVERAGE SOUND LEVEL (Ldn). The A-weighted equivalent continuous sound exposure level for a

24-hour period with a 10 dB adjustment added to sound levels occurring during nighttime hours (10p.m. to 7 a.m.).

DECIBEL (db). A measure on a logarithmic scale of the magnitude of a particular quantity (such as sound pressure,

sound power, sound intensity) with respect to a reference quantity.

ELECTRIC VEHICLE (EV). An automotive-type vehicle for on-road use, such as passenger automobiles, buses,

trucks, vans, neighborhood electric vehicles, electric motorcycles, and the like, primarily powered by an electric motor

that draws current from a rechargeable storage battery, fuel cell, photovoltaic array, or other source of electric current.

Plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEV) are considered electric vehicles. For purposes of the California Electrical Code,

off-road, self-propoelled electric vehicles, such as industrial trucks, hoists, lifts, transports, golf carts, airline ground

support equipment, tractors, boats, and the like, are not included.

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION(S) (EVCSj). One or more spaces intended for charging electric vehicles.

ELECTRIC VEHICLE SUPPLY EQUIPMENT (EVSE). The conductors, including the ungrounded, grounded, and

equipment grounding conductors and the electric vehicle connectors, attachment plugs, and all other fittings, devices,

power outlets, or apparatus installed specifically for the purpose of transferring energy between the premises wiring

and the electric vehicle.

ENERGY EQUIVALENT (NOISE) LEVEL (Leq). The level of a steady noise which would have the same energy as

the fluctuating noise level integrated over the time of period of interest.

EXPRESSWAY. An arterial highway for through traffic which may have partial control of access, but which may or may

not be divided or have grade separations at intersections.

FREEWAY. A divided arterial highway with full control of access and with grade separations at intersections.

GLOBAL WARMING POTENTIAL (GWP). The radiative forcing impact of one mass-based unit of a given greenhouse

gas relative to an equivalent unit of carbon dioxide over a given period of time. Carbon dioxide is the reference

compound with a GWP of one.

GLOBAL WARMING POTENTIAL VALUE (GWP VALUE). A 100-year GWP value published by the

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in either its Second Assessment Report (SAR) (IPCC, 1995); or

its Fourth Assessment A-3 Report (AR4) (IPCC, 2007). The SAR GWP values are found in column "SAR (100-yr)" of

Table 2.14.; the AR4 GWP values are found in column "100 yr" of Table 2.14.

HIGH-GWP REFRIGERANT. A compound used as a heat transfer fluid or gas that is: (a) a chlorofluorocarbon, a

hdrochlorofluorocarbon, a hydrofluorocarbon, a perfluorocarbon, or any compound or blend of compounds, with a

GWP value equal to or greater than 150, or (B) any ozone depleting substance as defined in Title 40 of the Code of

Federal Regulations, Part 82, sec.82.3 (as amended March 10, 2009).

LONG RADIUS ELBOW. Pipe fitting installed between two lengths of pipe or tubing to allow a change of direction,

with a radius 1.5 times the pipe diameter.

LOW-GWP REFRIGERANT. A compound used as a heat transfer fluid or gas that: (A) has a GWP value less than

150, and (B) is not an ozone depleting substance as defined in Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 82,

sec.82.3 (as amended March 10, 2009).

MERV.  Filter minimum efficiency reporting value, based on ASHRAE 52.2–1999.

MAXIMUM INCREMENTAL REACTIVITY (MIR). The maximum change in weight of ozone formed by adding a

compound to the "Base REactive Organic Gas (ROG) Mixture" per weight of compound added, expressed to

hundreths of a gram (g O

3

/g ROC).

PRODUCT-WEIGHTED MIR (PWMIR). The sum of all weighted-MIR for all ingredients in a product subject to this

article. The PWMIR is the total product reactivity expressed to hundredths of a gram of ozone formed per gram of

product (excluding container and packaging).

PSIG. Pounds per square inch, guage.

REACTIVE ORGANIC COMPOUND (ROC).  Any compound that has the potential, once emitted, to contribute to

ozone formation in the troposphere.

SCHRADER ACCESS VALVES. Access fittings with a valve core installed.

SHORT RADIUS ELBOW. Pipe fitting installed between two lengths of pipe or tubing to allow a change of direction,

with a radius 1.0 times the pipe diameter.

SUPERMARKET. For the purposes of Section 5.508.2, a supermarket is any retail food facility with 8,000 square feet

or more conditioned area, and that utilizes either refrigerated display cases, or walk-in coolers or freezers connected

to remote compressor units or condensing units.

VOC. A volatile organic compound broadly defined as a chemical compound based on carbon chains or rings with

vapor pressures greater than 0.1 millimeters of mercury at room temperature. These compounds typically contain

hydrogen and may contain oxygen, nitrogen and other elements. See CCR Title 17, Section 94508(a)

.

Note:  Where specific regulations are cited from different agencies such as SCAQMD, ARB, etc., the VOC definition

included in that specific regulation is the one that prevails for the specific measure in question.

SECTION 5.503  FIREPLACES

5.503.1 FIREPLACES.  Install only a direct-vent sealed-combustion gas or sealed wood-burning fireplace, or a sealed

woodstove or pellet stove, and refer to residential requirements in the California Energy Code, Title 24, Part 6,

Subchapter 7, Section 150. Woodstoves, pellet stoves and fireplaces shall comply with applicable local ordinances.

5.503.1.1 Woodstoves.  Woodstoves and pellet stoves shall comply with U.S. EPA New Source Performance

Standards (NSPS) emission limits as applicable, and shall have a permanent label indicating they are certified

to meet the emission limits.

SECTION 5.504  POLLUTANT CONTROL

5.504.1  TEMPORARY VENTILATION.  The permanent HVAC system shall only be used during construction if 

necessary to condition the building or areas of addition or alteration within the required temperature range for 

material and equipment installation.  If the HVAC system is used during construction, use return air filters with a 

Minimum Efficiency Reporting Value (MERV) of 8, based on ASHRAE 52.2-1999, or an average efficiency of 

30% based on ASHRAE 52.1-1992  Replace all filters immediately prior to occupancy, or, if the building is 

occupied during alteration, at the conclusion of construction.

5.504.3 Covering of duct openings and protection of mechanical equipment during construction. At the time of

rough installation and during storage on the construction site until final startup of the heating, cooling and ventilation

equipment, all duct and other related air distribution component openings shall be covered with tape, plastic,

sheetmetal or other methods acceptable to the enforcing agency to reduce the amount of dust, water and debris which

may enter the system.

5.410.2.1  Owner's or Owner Representative's Project Requirements (OPR). [N]  The expectations and 

requirements of the building appropriate to its phase shall be documented before the design phase of the 

project begins. This documentation shall include the following:

1.   Environmental and sustainability goals.

2.   Building sustainable goals.

3.   Indoor environmental quality requirements.

4.   Project program, including facility functions and hours of operation, and need for after hours 

      operation.

5.   Equipment and systems expectations.

6.   Building occupant and operation and maintenance (O&M) personnel expectations.

5.410.2.2 Basis of Design (BOD). [N]  A written explanation of how the design of the building systems meets

the OPR shall be completed at the design phase of the building project. The Basis of Design document shall 

cover the following systems:

1.   Renewable energy systems.

2.   Landscape irrigation systems.

3.   Water reuse system.

5.410.2.3 Commissioning plan. [N]  Prior to permit issuance a commissioning plan shall be completed to 

document how the project will be commissioned. The commissioning plan shall include the following:

1.   General project information.

2.   Commissioning goals.

3.   Systems to be commissioned. Plans to test systems and components shall include:

a.   An explanation of the original design intent.

b.   Equipment and systems to be tested, including the extent of tests.

c.   Functions to be tested.

d.   Conditions under which the test shall be performed.

e.   Measurable criteria for acceptable performance.

4.   Commissioning team information.

5.   Commissioning process activities, schedules and responsibilities. Plans for the completion of 

      commissioning shall be included.

5.410.2.4 Functional performance testing. [N]  Functional performance tests shall demonstrate the correct 

installation and operation of each component, system and system-to-system interface in accordance with the 

approved plans and specifications. Functional performance testing reports shall contain information addressing

each of the building components tested, the testing methods utilized, and include any readings and adjustments

made.

5.410.2.6 Commissioning report. [N] A report of commissioning process activities undertaken through the 

design and construction phases of the building project shall be completed and provided to the owner or 

representative.

5.410.4 TESTING AND ADJUSTING.  New buildings less than 10,000 square feet. Testing and adjusting of

systems shall be required for new buildings less than 10,000 square feet or new systems to serve an addition or

alteration subject to Section 303.1.

5.410.4.2 (Reserved)

Note: For energy-related systems under the scope (Section 100) of the California Energy Code, including 

heating, ventilation, air conditioning (HVAC) systems and controls, indoor lighting system and controls, as well

as water heating systems and controls, refer to California Energy Code Section 120.8 for commissioning 

requirements and Sections 120.5, 120.6, 130.4, and 140.9(b)3 for additional testing requirements of specific 

systems.

5.410.4.2 Systems.  Develop a written plan of procedures for testing and adjusting systems. Systems to be 

included for testing and adjusting shall include at a minimum, as applicable to the project:

1.   Renewable energy systems.

2.   Landscape irrigation systems.

3.   Water reuse systems.

5.410.4.3 Procedures.  Perform testing and adjusting procedures in accordance with manufacturer's 

specifications and applicable standards on each system.

5.410.4.3.1 HVAC balancing.  In addition to testing and adjusting, before a new space-conditioning 

system serving a building or space is operated for normal use, the system shall be balanced in 

accordance with the procedures defined by the Testing Adjusting and Balancing Bureau National 

Standards; the National Environmental Balancing Bureau Procedural Standards; Associated Air Balance

Council National Standards or as approved by the enforcing agency.

2022 CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODE

NONRESIDENTIAL MANDATORY MEASURES, SHEET 2 (January 2023)

SECTION 5.303  INDOOR WATER USE

5.303.1 METERS.  Separate submeters or metering devices shall be installed for the uses described in Sections

503.1.1 and 503.1.2.

5.303.1.1 Buildings in excess of 50,000 square feet.  Separate submeters shall be installed as follows:

1.   For each individual leased, rented or other tenant space within the building projected to consume 

     more than 100 gal/day (380 L/day), including, but not limited to, spaces used for laundry or cleaners,

     restaurant or food service, medical or dental office, laboratory, or beauty salon or barber shop.

SECTION 5.410 BUILDING MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS

5.410.1 RECYCLING BY OCCUPANTS.  Provide readily accessible areas that serve the entire building and are

identified for the depositing, storage and collection of non-hazardous materials for recycling, including (at a minimum)

paper, corrugated cardboard, glass, plastics, organic waste, and metals or meet a lawfully enacted local recycling

ordinance, if more restrictive.

Exception:  Rural jurisdictions that meet and apply for the exemption in Public Resources

Code 42649.82 (a)(2)(A) et seq. shall also be exempt from the organic waste portion of this section.

5.410.1.1 Additions.  All additions conducted within a 12-month period under single or multiple permits, 

resulting in an increase of 30% or more in floor area, shall provide recycling areas on site.

Exception:  Additions within a tenant space resulting in less than a 30% increase in the tenant space

floor area.

5.410.1.2 Sample ordinance.  Space allocation for recycling areas shall comply with Chapter 18, Part 3,

Division 30 of the Public Resources Code. Chapter 18 is known as the California Solid Waste Reuse and Recycling

Access Act of 1991 (Act).

Note:  A sample ordinance for use by local agencies may be found in Appendix A of the document at the

CalRecycle’s web site.

5.410.2.5 Documentation and training. [N]  A Systems Manual and Systems Operations Training are required,

including Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA) requirements in California Code of Regulations (CCR), 

Title 8, Section 5142, and other related regulations.

5.410.2.5.1 Systems manual. [N] Documentation of the operational aspects of the building shall be 

completed within the systems manual and delivered to the building owner or representative. The 

systems manual shall include the following:

1.   Site information, including facility description, history and current requirements.

2.   Site contact information.

3.   Basic operations and maintenance, including general site operating procedures, basic 

      troubleshooting, recommended maintenance requirements, site events log.

4.   Major systems.

5.   Site equipment inventory and maintenance notes.

6.   A copy of verifications required by the enforcing agency or this code.

7.   Other resources and documentation, if applicable.

5.410.2.5.2 Systems operations training. [N] A program for training of the appropriate maintenance 

staff for each equipment type and/or system shall be developed and documented in the commissioning 

report and shall include the following:

1.   System/equipment overview (what it is, what it does and with what other systems and/or 

      equipment it interfaces).

2.   Review and demonstration of servicing/preventive maintenance.

3.   Review of the information in the Systems Manual.

4.   Review of the record drawings on the system/equipment.

2. Where separate submeters for individual building tenants are unfeasible, for water supplied to the following

subsystems:

a. Makeup water for cooling towers where flow through is greater than 500 gpm (30 L/s).

b. Makeup water for evaporative coolers greater than 6 gpm (0.04 L/s).

c.    Steam and hot water boilers with energy input more than 500,000 Btu/h (147 kW).

5.303.1.2 Excess consumption.  A separate submeter or metering device shall be provided for any tenant 

within a new building or within an addition that is projected to consume more than 1,000 gal/day.

SECTION 5.304  OUTDOOR WATER USE

5.304.1 OUTDOOR POTABLE WATER USE IN LANDSCAPE AREAS.  Nonresidential developments shall comply

with a local water efficient landscape ordinance or the current California Department of Water Resources' Model Water

Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO), whichever is more stringent.

Notes:

1.  The Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) is located in the California Code of Regulations,

     Title 23, Chapter 2.7, Division 2.

2.  MWELO and supporting documents, including a water budget calculator, are available at: 

     https://www.water.ca.gov/.

5.304.6  OUTDOOR POTABLE WATER USE IN LANDSCAPE AREAS. For public schools and community colleges,

landscape projects as described in Sections 5.304.6.1 and 5.304.6.2 shall comply with the California Department of

Water Resources Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) commencing with Section 490 of Chapter

2.7, Division 2, Title 23, California Code of Regulations, except that the evapotranspiration adjustment factor (ETAF)

shall be 0.65 with an additional water allowance for special landscape areas (SLA) of 0.35.

Exception:  Any project with an aggregate landscape area of 2,500 square feet or less may comply with the 

        prescriptive measures contained in Appendix D of the MWELO.

5.304.6.1  Newly constructed landscapes.  New construction projects with an aggregate landscape 

      area equal to or greater than 500 square feet.

5.304.6.2  Rehabilitated landscapes.  Rehabilitated landscape projects with an aggregate 

                 landscape area equal to or greater than 1,200 square feet.

5.303.4 COMMERCIAL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT.

5.303.4.1  Food Waste Disposers.  Disposers shall either modulate the use of water to no more than 1 gpm 

when the disposer is not in use (not actively grinding food waste/no-load) or shall automatically shut off after no

more than 10 minutes of inactivity.  Disposers shall use no more than 8 gpm of water.

Note:  This code section does not affect local jurisdiction authority to prohibit or require disposer 

installation.

5.303.5 AREAS OF ADDITION OR ALTERATION.  For those occupancies within the authority of the California

Building Standards Commission as specified in Section 103, the provisions of Section 5.303.3  and 5.303.4 shall apply

to new fixtures in additions or areas of alteration to the building.

5.303.6 STANDARDS FOR PLUMBING FIXTURES AND FITTINGS.  Plumbing fixtures and fittings shall be installed

in accordance with the California Plumbing Code, and shall meet the applicable standards referenced in Table 1701.1

of the California Plumbing Code and in Chapter 6 of this code.

Y N/A

SECTION 5.402  DEFINITIONS

5.402.1 DEFINITIONS.  The following terms are defined in Chapter 2  (and are included here for reference)

ADJUST.  To regulate fluid flow rate and air patterns at the terminal equipment, such as to reduce fan speed or adjust

a damper.

BALANCE.  To proportion flows within the distribution system, including sub-mains, branches and terminals,

according to design quantities.

BUILDING COMMISSIONING.  A systematic quality assurance process that spans the entire design and construction

process, including verifying and documenting that building systems and components are planned, designed, installed,

tested, operated and maintained to meet the owner’s project requirements.

ORGANIC WASTE.  Food waste, green waste, landscape and pruning wste, nonhazardous wood waste, and food

soiled paper waste that is mixed in with food waste.

TEST.  A procedure to determine quantitative performance of a system or equipment

SECTION 5.407 WATER RESISTANCE AND MOISTURE MANAGEMENT

5.407.1 WEATHER PROTECTION. Provide a weather-resistant exterior wall and foundation envelope as required by

California Building Code Section 1402.2 (Weather Protection), manufacturer's installation instructions or local

ordinance, whichever is more stringent.

5.407.2 MOISTURE CONTROL. Employ moisture control measures by the following methods.

5.407.2.1 Sprinklers. Design and maintain landscape irrigation systems to prevent spray on structures.

5.407.2.2 Entries and openings. Design exterior entries and/or openings subject to foot traffic or wind-driven

rain to prevent water intrusion into buildings as follows:

5.407.2.2.1  Exterior door protection. Primary exterior entries shall be covered to prevent water 

intrusion by using nonabsorbent floor and wall finishes within at least 2 feet around and perpendicular to

such openings plus at least one of the following:

1.   An installed awning at least 4 feet in depth.

2.   The door is protected by a roof overhang at least 4 feet in depth.

3.   The door is recessed at least 4 feet.

4.   Other methods which provide equivalent protection.

5.407.2.2.2  Flashing.  Install flashings integrated with a drainage plane.

5.410.2 COMMISSIONING. [N] New buildings 10,000 square feet and over. For new buildings 10,000 square feet

and over, building commissioning shall be included in the design and construction processes of the building project to

verify that the building systems and components meet the owner’s or owner representative’s project requirements.

Commissioning shall be performed in accordance with this section by trained personnel with experience on projects of

comparable size and complexity. For I-occupancies that are not regulated by OSHPD or for I-occupancies and

L-occupancies that are not regulated y the California Energy Code Section 100.0 Scope, all requirements in Sections

5.410.2 through 5.410.2.6 shall apply.

Note: For energy-related systems under the scope (Section 100) of the California Energy Code, including heating,

ventilation, air conditioning (HVAC) systems and controls, indoor lighting systems and controls, as well as water

heating systems and controls, refer to California Energy Code Section 120.8 for commissioning requirements

Commissioning requirements shall include:

1.   Owner’s or Owner representative’s project requirements.

2.   Basis of design.

3.   Commissioning measures shown in the construction documents.

4.   Commissioning plan.

5.   Functional performance testing.

6.   Documentation and training.

7.   Commissioning report.

Exceptions:

1.   Unconditioned warehouses of any size.

2.  Areas less than 10,000 square feet used for offices or other conditioned accessory spaces within 

      unconditioned warehouses.

3.  Tenant improvements less than 10,000 square feet as described in Section 303.1.1.

4.  Open parking garages of any size, or open parking garage areas, of any size, within a structure.

Note: For the purposes of this section, unconditioned shall mean a building, area, or room which does not 

provide heating and or air conditioning.

Informational Notes:

1.  IAS AC 476 is an accreditation criteria for organizations providing training and/or certification of 

     commissioning personnel. AC 476 is available to the Authority Having Jurisdiction as a reference for 

     qualifications of commissioning personnel. AC 476 des not certify individuals to conduct functional 

     performance  tests or to adjust and balance systems.

2.  Functional performance testing for heating, ventilation, air conditioning systems and lighting controls 

      must be performed in compliance with the California Energy Code.

5.410.4.4 Reporting.  After completion of testing, adjusting and balancing, provide a final report of testing 

signed by the individual responsible for performing these services.

5.410.4.5 Operation and maintenance (O & M) manual.  Provide the building owner or representative with 

detailed operating and maintenance instructions and copies of guaranties/warranties for each system. O & M 

instructions shall be consistent with OSHA requirements in CCR, Title 8, Section 5142, and other related 

regulations.

5.410.4.5.1 Inspections and reports. Include a copy of all inspection verifications and reports required

by the enforcing agency.

Y N/A Y N/A Y N/A
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5.303.3.4 Faucets and fountains.

5.303.3.4.1 Nonresidential Lavatory faucets. Lavatory faucets shall have a maximum flow rate of not 

more than 0.5 gallons per minute at 60 psi.

5.303.3.4.2 Kitchen faucets. Kitchen faucets shall have a maximum flow rate of not more than 1.8 

gallons per minute at 60 psi. Kitchen faucets may temporarily increase the flow above the maximum rate,

but not to exceed 2.2 gallons per minute at 60 psi, and must default to a maximum flow rate of 1.8 gallons

per minute at 60 psi.

5.303.3.4.3 Wash fountains. Wash fountains shall have a maximum flow rate of not more than1.8 

gallons per minute/20 [rim space (inches) at 60 psi].

5.303.3.4.4 Metering faucets. Metering faucets shall not deliver more than 0.20 gallons per cycle.

5.303.3.4.5 Metering faucets for wash fountains. Metering faucets for wash fountains shall have a 

maximum flow rate of not more than 0.20 gallons per minute/20 [rim space (inches) at 60 psi].

Note: Where complying faucets are unavailable, aerators or other means may be used to achieve 

reduction.

5.303.3.4.6 Pre-rinse spray value

When installed, shall meet the requirements in the California Code of Regulations, Title 20 (Appliance 

Efficiency Regulations), Section 1605.1 (h)(4) Table H-2, Section 1605.3 (h)(4)(A), and Section 1607 

(d)(7), and shall be equipped with an integral automatic shutoff.

FOR REFERENCE ONLY:The following table and code section have been reprinted from the California

Code of Regulations, Title 20 (Appliance Efficiency Regulations), Section 1605.1 (h)(4) and Section 

1605.3 (h)(4)(A).

PRODUCT CLASS

[spray force in ounce force (ozf)]

MAXIMUM FLOW RATE (gpm)

ENGINEER

ENGINEER

ENGINEER

ENGINEER

OWNER

OWNER
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5.504.4.3 Paints and coatings.  Architectural paints and coatings shall comply with VOC limits in Table 1 of 

the ARB Architectural Coatings Suggested Control Measure, as shown in Table 5.504.4.3, unless more 

stringent local limits apply. The VOC content limit for coatings that do not meet the definitions for the specialty

coatings categories listed in Table 5.504.4.3 shall be determined by classifying the coating as a Flat, Nonflat 

or Nonflat-High Gloss coating, based on its gloss, as defined in Subsections 4.21, 4.36 and 4.37 of the 2007 

California Air Resources Board Suggested Control Measure, and the corresponding Flat, Nonflat or 

Nonflat-High Gloss VOC limit in Table 5.504.4.3 shall apply.

5.504.4.3.1 Aerosol Paints and coatings.  Aerosol paints and coatings shall meet the PWMIR Limits for

ROC in Section 94522(a)(3) and other requirements, including prohibitions on use of certain toxic 

compounds and ozone depleting substances, in Sections 94522(c)(2) and (d)(2) of California Code of 

Regulations, Title 17, commencing with Section 94520; and in areas under the jurisdiction of the 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District additionally comply with the percent VOC by weight of product

limits of Regulation 8 Rule 49.

5.504.4.4.1 Carpet cushion. All carpet cushion installed in the building interior shall meet the 

requirements of the California Department of Public Health,"Standard Method for the Testing and 

Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor Sources Using Environmental 

Chambers,"Version 1.2, January 2017 (Emission testing method for California Specifications 

01350).

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/EHLB/IAQ/Pages/VOC.aspx#material

5.504.4.4.2 Carpet adhesive. All carpet adhesive shall meet the requirements of Table 5.504.4.1.

5.504.4.5 Composite wood products.  Hardwood plywood, particleboard and medium density fiberboard 

composite wood products used on the interior or exterior of the buildings shall meet the requirements for 

formaldehyde as specified in ARB's Air Toxics Control Measure (ATCM) for Composite Wood (17 CCR 93120 et

seq.). Those materials not exempted under the ATCM must meet the specified emission limits, as shown in 

Table 5.504.4.5.

5.504.4.5.3 Documentation.  Verification of compliance with this section shall be provided as 

requested by the enforcing agency. Documentation shall include at least one of the following:

1.   Product certifications and specifications.

2.   Chain of custody certifications.

3.   Product labeled and invoiced as meeting the Composite Wood Products regulation (see 

      CCR, Title 17, Section 93120, et seq.).

4.   Exterior grade products marked as meeting the PS-1 or PS-2 standards of the 

      Engineered Wood Association, the Australian AS/NZS 2269 or European 636 3S 

      standards.

5.   Other methods acceptable to the enforcing agency.

ARCHITECTURAL APPLICATIONS CURRENT VOC LIMIT

SPECIALTY APPLICATIONS

SUBSTRATE SPECIFIC APPLICATIONS

SEALANTS CURRENT VOC LIMIT

SEALANT PRIMERS

COATING CATEGORY CURRENT VOC LIMIT

SPECIALTY COATINGS

PRODUCT CURRENT LIMIT

5.508.2 Supermarket refrigerant leak reduction. New commercial refrigeration systems shall comply with the

provisions of this section when installed in retail food stores 8,000 square feet or more conditioned area, and that

utilize either refrigerated display cases, or walk-in coolers or freezers connected to remote compressor units or

condensing units. The leak reduction measures apply to refrigeration systems containing high-global-warming potential

(high-GWP) refrigerants with a GWP of 150 or greater. New refrigeration systems include both new facilities and the

replacement of existing refrigeration systems in existing facilities.

Exception: Refrigeration systems containing low-global warming potential (low-GWP) refrigerant with a GWP 

value less than 150 are not subject to this section. Low-GWP refrigerants are nonozone-depleting refrigerants  

that include ammonia, carbon dioxide (CO

2

), and potentially other refrigerants.

5.508.2.1 Refrigerant piping. Piping compliant with the California Mechanical Code shall be installed to be 

accessible for leak protection and repairs. Piping runs using threaded pipe, copper tubing with an outside 

diameter (OD) less than 1/4 inch, flared tubing connections and short radius elbows shall not be used in 

refrigerant systems except as noted below.

5.508.2.1.1 Threaded pipe. Threaded connections are permitted at the compressor rack.

5.508.2.1.2 Copper pipe. Copper tubing with an OD less than 1/4 inch may be used in systems with a 

refrigerant charge of 5 pounds or less.

5.508.2.1.2.1 Anchorage. One-fouth-inch OD tubing shall be securely clamped to a rigid base to

keep vibration levels below 8 mils.

5.508.2.1.3 Flared tubing connections. Double-flared tubing connections may be used for pressure 

controls, valve pilot lines and oil.

Exception: Single-flared tubing connections may be used with a multiring seal coated with 

industrial sealant suitable for use with refrigerants and tightened in accordance with manufacturer's

recommendations.

5.508.2.1.4 Elbows. Short radius elbows are only permitted where space limitations prohibit use of 

long radius elbows.

5.508.2.2 Valves. Valves Valves and fittings shall comply with the California Mechanical Code and as 

follows.

5.508.2.2.1 Pressure relief valves. For vessels containing high-GWP refrigerant, a rupture disc shall 

be installed between the outlet of the vessel and the inlet of the pressure relief valve.

5.508.2.2.1.1 Pressure detection. A pressure gauge, pressure transducer or other device shall 

be installed in the space between the rupture disc and the relief valve inlet to indicate a disc 

rupture or discharge of the relief valve.

5.508.2.2.2 Access valves. Only Schrader access valves with a brass or steel body are 

permitted for use.

5.508.2.2.2.1 Valve caps. For systems with a refrigerant charge of 5 pounds or more, valve caps

shall be brass or steel and not plastic.

5.508.2.2.2.2 Seal caps. If designed for it, the cap shall have a neoprene O-ring in place.

5.508.2.2.2.2.1 Chain tethers. Chain tethers to fit ovr the stem are required for valves 

designed to have seal caps.

Exception: Valves with seal caps that are not removed from the valve during stem 

operation.

5.508.2.3 Refrigerated service cases. Refrigerated service cases holding food products containing vinegar and

salt shall have evaporator coils of corrosion-resistant material, such as stainless steel; or be coated to prevent

corrosion from these substances.

5.508.2.3.1 Coil coating. Consideration shall be given to the heat transfer efficiency of coil coating to 

maximize energy efficiency.

5.508.2.4 Refrigerant receivers. Refrigerant receivers with capacities greater than 200 pounds shall be fitted

with a device tha indicates the level of refrigerant in the receiver.

5.508.2.5 Pressure testing. The system shall be pressure tested during installation prior to evacuation and 

charging.

5.508.2.5.1 Minimum pressure. The system shall be charged with regulated dry nitrogen and 

appropriate tracer gas to bring system pressure up to 300 psig minimum.

5.508.2.5.2 Leaks. Check the system for leaks, repair any leaks, and retest for pressure using the same

gauge.

5.508.2.5.3 Allowable pressure change. The system shall stand, unaltered, for 24 hours with no more

than a +/- one pound pressure change from 300 psig, measured with the same gauge.

5.508.2.6 Evacuation. The system shall be evacuated after pressure testing and prior to charging.

5.508.2.6.1 First vacuum. Pull a system vacuum down to at least 1000 microns (+/- 50 microns), and 

hold for 30 minutes.

5.508.2.6.2 Second vacuum. Pull a second system vacuum to a minimum of 500 microns and hold for 30

minutes.

5.508.2.6.3 Third vacuum. Pull a third vacuum down to a minimum of 300 microns, and hold for 24 hours

with a maximum drift of 100 microns over a 24-hour period.

CHAPTER 7

INSTALLER & SPECIAL INSPECTOR QUALIFICATIONS

702 QUALIFICATIONS

702.1 INSTALLER TRAINING.  HVAC system installers shall be trained and certified in the proper

installation of HVAC systems including ducts and equipment by a nationally or regionally recognized training or

certification program.  Uncertified persons may perform HVAC installations when under the direct supervision and

responsibility of a person trained and certified to install HVAC systems or contractor licensed to install HVAC systems.

Examples of acceptable HVAC training and certification programs include but are not limited to the following:

1.   State certified apprenticeship programs.

2.   Public utility training programs.

3.   Training programs sponsored by trade, labor or statewide energy consulting or verification organizations.

4.   Programs sponsored by manufacturing organizations.

5.   Other programs acceptable to the enforcing agency.

702.2 SPECIAL INSPECTION [HCD].  When required by the enforcing agency, the owner or the

responsible entity acting as the owner's agent shall employ one or more special inspectors to provide inspection or

other duties necessary to substantiate compliance with this code.  Special inspectors shall demonstrate competence

to the satisfaction of the enforcing agency for the particular type of inspection or task to be performed.  In addition to

other certifications or qualifications acceptable to the enforcing agency, the following certifications or education may be

considered by the enforcing agency when evaluating the qualifications of a special inspector:

1.   Certification by a national or regional green building program or standard publisher.

2.   Certification by a statewide energy consulting or verification organization, such as HERS raters, building 

      performance contractors, and home energy auditors.

3.   Successful completion of a third party apprentice training program in the appropriate trade.

4.   Other programs acceptable to the enforcing agency.

Notes:

1.   Special inspectors shall be independent entities with no financial interest in the materials or the 

project they are inspecting for compliance with this code.

2.   HERS raters are special inspectors certified by the California Energy Commission (CEC) to rate 

homes in California according to the Home Energy Rating System (HERS).

[BSC-CG]  When required by the enforcing agency, the owner or the responsible entity acting as the owner's agent

shall employ one or more special inspectors to provide inspection or other duties necessary to substantiate

compliance with this code.  Special inspectors shall demonstrate competence to the satisfaction of the enforcing

agency for the particular type of inspection or task to be performed.  In addition, the special inspector shall have a

certification from a recognized state, national or international association, as determined by the local agency.  The

area of certification shall be closely related to the primary job function, as determined by the local agency.

Note:  Special inspectors shall be independent entities with no financial interest in the materials or the 

project they are inspecting for compliance with this code.

703 VERIFICATIONS

703.1 DOCUMENTATION.  Documentation used to show compliance with this code shall include but is not limited to,

construction documents, plans, specifications, builder or installer certification, inspection reports, or other methods

acceptable to the enforcing agency which demonstrate substantial conformance.  When specific documentation or

special inspection is necessary to verify compliance, that method of compliance will be specified in the appropriate

section or identified applicable checklist.

2022 CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODE

NONRESIDENTIAL MANDATORY MEASURES, SHEET 3 (January 2023)

SECTION 5.505  INDOOR MOISTURE CONTROL

5.505.1 INDOOR MOISTURE CONTROL.  Buildings shall meet or exceed the provisions of California Building Code,

CCR, Title 24, Part 2, Sections 1202 (Ventilation) and Chapter 14 (Exterior Walls). For additional measures, see

Section 5.407.2 of this code.

SECTION 5.506  INDOOR AIR QUALITY

5.506.1 OUTSIDE AIR DELIVERY.  For mechanically or naturally ventilated spaces in buildings, meet the minimum

requirements of Section 120.1 (Requirements For Ventilation) of the California Energy Code, or the applicable local

code, whichever is more stringent, and Division 1, Chapter 4 of CCR,  Title 8.

5.506.2 CARBON DIOXIDE (CO2) MONITORING.  For buildings or additions equipped with demand control

ventilation, CO2 sensors and ventilation controls shall be specified and installed in accordance with the requirements

of the California Energy Code, Section 120(c)(4).

5.506.3 Carbon dioxide (CO2) monitoring in classrooms.

(DSA-SS) Each public K-12 school classroom, as listed in Table 120.1-A of the California Energy Code, shall be

equipped with a carbon dioxide monitor or sensor that meets the following requirements:

1. The monitor or sensor  shall be permanently affixed in a tamper-proof manner in each classroom between 3 and

6 feet (914 mm and 1829 mm) above the floor and at least 5 feet (1524 mm) away from door and operable

windows.

2. When the monitor or sensor is not integral to an Energy Management Control System (EMCS), the monitor or

sensor shall display the carbon dioxide readings on the device. When the sensor is integral to an EMCS, the

carbon dioxide readings shall be available to and regularly monitored by facility personnel.

3. A monitor shall provide notification though a visual indicator on the monitor when the carbon dioxide levels in

the classroom have exceeded 1,100ppm. A sensor integral to an EMCS shall provide notification to facility

personnel through a visual and/or audible indicator when the carbon dioxide levels in the classroom have

exceeded 1,100ppm.

4. The monitor or sensor shall measure carbon dioxide levels at minimum 15- minute intervals and shall maintain a

record of previous carbon dioxide measurements of not less than 30 days duration.

5. The monitor or sensor used to measure carbon dioxide levels shall have the capacity to measure carbon dioxide

levels with a range of 400ppm to 2000ppm or greater.

6. The monitor or sensor shall be certified by the manufacturer to be accurate within 75ppm at 1,000ppm carbon

dioxide concentration and shall be certified by the manufacturer to require calibration no more frequently than

once every 5 years.

SECTION 5.507  ENVIRONMENTAL COMFORT

5.507.4 ACOUSTICAL CONTROL.  Employ building assemblies and components with Sound Transmission Class

(STC) values determined in accordance with ASTM E 90 and ASTM E 413, or Outdoor-Indoor Sound Transmission

Class (OITC) determined in accordance with ASTM E 1332, using either the prescriptive or performance method in

Section 5.507.4.1 or 5.507.4.2.

Exception:  Buildings with few or no occupants or where occupants are not likely to be affected by exterior 

noise, as determined by the enforcement authority, such as factories, stadiums, storage, enclosed parking 

structures and utility buildings.

Exception: [DSA-SS]  For public schools and community colleges, the requirements of this section and all 

subsections apply only to new construction.

5.507.4.1 Exterior noise transmission, prescriptive method.  Wall and roof-ceiling assemblies exposed to 

the noise source making up the building or addition envelope or altered envelope shall meet a composite STC

rating of at least 50 or a composite OITC rating of no less than 40, with exterior windows of a minimum STC of

40 or OITC of 30 in the following locations:

1.   Within the 65 CNEL noise contour of an airport.

Exceptions:

1.   L

dn

 or CNEL for military airports shall be determined by the facility Air Installation Compatible 

      Land Use Zone (AICUZ) plan.

2.   L

dn

 or CNEL for other airports and heliports for which a land use plan has not been developed

      shall be determined by the local general plan noise element.

2.   Within the 65 CNEL or L

dn

 noise contour of a freeway or expressway, railroad, industrial source or 

      fixed-guideway source as determined by the Noise Element of the General Plan.

5.507.4.1.1. Noise exposure where noise contours are not readily available. Buildings exposed to a

noise level of 65 dB L

eq

 - 1-hr during any hour of operation shall have building, addition or alteration 

exterior wall and roof-ceiling assemblies exposed to the noise source meeting a composite STC rating of

at least 45 (or OITC 35), with exterior windows of a minimum STC of 40 (or OITC 30).

5.507.4.2  Performance Method.  For buildings located as defined in Section 5.507.4.1 or 5.507.4.1.1, wall and

roof-ceiling assemblies exposed to the noise source making up the building or addition envelope or altered 

envelope shall be constructed to provide an interior noise environment attributable to exterior sources that does

not exceed an hourly equivalent noise level (Leq-1Hr) of 50 dBA in occupied areas during any hour of operation.

5.507.4.2.1  Site Features.  Exterior features such as sound walls or earth berms may be utilized as 

appropriate to the building, addition or alteration project to mitigate sound migration to the interior.

5.507.4.2.2  Documentation of Compliance.  An acoustical analysis documenting complying interior 

soundlevels shall be prepared by personnel approved by the architect or engineer of record.

5.507.4.3 Interior sound transmission.  Wall and floor-ceiling assemblies separating tenant spaces and tenant

spaces and public places shall have an STC of at least 40.

Note:  Examples of assemblies and their various STC ratings may be found at the California Office of 

Noise Control:  www.toolbase.org/PDF/CaseStudies/stc_icc_ratings.pdf.

SECTION 5.508  OUTDOOR AIR QUALITY

5.508.1 Ozone depletion and greenhouse gas reductions.  Installations of HVAC, refrigeration and fire suppression

equipment shall comply with Sections 5.508.1.1 and 5.508.1.2.

5.508.1.1 Chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs). Install HVAC, refrigeration and fire suppression equipment that do not

contain CFCs.

5.508.1.2 Halons. Install HVAC, refrigeration and fire suppression equipment that do not contain Halons.

5.504.4.6 Resilient flooring systems.  Where resilient flooring is installed, at least 80 percent of floor area 

receiving resilient flooring shall meet the requirements of the California Department of Public Health,"Standard

Method for the Testing and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor Sources Using 

Environmental Chambers," Version 1.2, January 2017 (Emission testing method for California Specifications 

01350)

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/EHLB/IAQ/Pages/VOC.aspx#material

5.504.4.6.1 Verification of compliance.  Documentation shall be provided verifying that resilient flooring

materials meet the pollutant emission limits.

5.504.4.7 Thermal insulation

Comply  with the requirements of the California Department of Public Health, "Standard Method of the Testing

and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor Sources Using Environmental Chambers,

"Version 1.2, January 1.2, January 2017 (Emission testing method for California Specification 01350).

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/EHLB/IAQ/Pages/VOC.aspx#material

5.504.4.7.1 Verification of compliance.

Documentation shall be provided verifying that thermal insulation materials meet the pollutant emission

limits.

5.504.4.8 Acoustical ceiling and wall panels.

Comply with the requirements of the California Department of Public Health, "Standard Method for the Testing

and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor Sources Using Environmental Chambers, "

Version 1.2, January 2017  (Emission testing method for California Specification 01350).

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

5.504.4.8.1 Verification of compliance. Documentation shall be provided verifying that acoustical 

 finish materials meet the pollutant emission limits.

5.504.5.3 Filters.  In mechanically ventilated buildings, provide regularly occupied areas of the building with air

filtration media for outside and return air that provides at least a Minimum Efficiency Reporting Value (MERV) of

13.  MERV 13 filters shall be installed prior to occupancy, and recommendations for maintenance with filters of

the same value shall be included in the operation and maintenance manual.

Exceptions:  Existing mechanical equipment.

     5.504.5.3.1 Labeling.  Installed filters shall be clearly labeled by the manufacturer indicating the MERV 

    rating.

5.504.7 ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE (ETS) CONTROL.  Where outdoor areas are provided for smoking,

prohibit smoking within 25 feet of building entries, outdoor air intakes and operable windows and within the building as

already prohibited by other laws or regulations; or as enforced by ordinances, regulations or policies of any city,

county, city and county, California Community College, campus of the California State University, or campus of the

University of California, whichever are more stringent. When ordinances, regulations or policies are not in place, post

signage to inform building occupants of the prohibitions.

5.504.4.3.2 Verification. Verification of compliance with this section shall be provided at the request of 

the enforcing agency. Documentation may include, but is not limited to, the following:

1.   Manufacturer's product specification

2.   Field verification of on-site product containers

5.504.4.4 Carpet Systems.

All carpet installed in the building interior shall meet the requirements of the California Department of Public 

Health, "Standard Method for the Testing and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor 

Sources Using Environmental Chambers." Version 1.2, January 2017 (Emission testing method for California 

Specifications 01350).

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/EHLB/IAQ/Pages/VOC.aspx#material

5.504.4 FINISH MATERIAL POLLUTANT CONTROL.  Finish materials shall comply with Sections 5.504.4.1 through

5.504.4.6.

5.504.4.1 Adhesives, sealants and caulks.  Adhesives, sealants, and caulks used on the project shall meet

the requirements of the following standards:

1.  Adhesives, adhesive bonding primers, adhesive primers, sealants, sealant primers and caulks shall 

comply with local or regional air pollution control or air quality management district rules where 

applicable, or SCAQMD Rule 1168 VOC limits, as shown in Tables 5.504.4.1 and 5.504.4.2. Such 

products also shall comply with the Rule 1168 prohibition on the use of certain toxic compounds 

(chloroform, ethylene dichloride, methylene chloride, perchloroethylene and trichloroethylene), except for

aerosol products as specified in subsection 2, below.

2.   Aerosol adhesives, and smaller unit sizes of adhesives, and sealant or caulking compounds (in 

units of product, less packaging, which do not weigh more than one pound and do not consist of more 

than 16 fluid ounces) shall comply with statewide VOC standards and other requirements, including 

prohibitions on use of certain toxic compounds, of California Code of Regulations, Title 17, commencing

with Section 94507.

Y N/A Y N/A Y N/A Y N/ARESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

Y   =    YES

N/A = NOT APPLICABLE

RESPON. PARTY = RESPONSIBLE PARTY (ie: ARCHITECT, ENGINEER, 

OWNER, CONTRACTOR, INSPECTOR ETC.)

 CONTRACTOR

ENGINEER

ENGINEER

 CONTRACTOR
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE:  March 26, 2025 
 
ITEM NO:  8     
 
PRESENTER:   Yajaira Maldonado, Deputy Clerk of the Board 

 
 
SUBJECT: APPROVE MEETING MINUTES: FEBRUARY 26, 2025 
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Submitted for consideration and approval by the San Bernardino International Airport Authority 
(SBIAA) Commission: Meeting minutes of the regular meeting held Wednesday, February 26, 2025. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Approve meeting minutes of the regular meeting held February 26, 2025. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None. 
 
 

PREPARED BY: Yajaira Maldonado 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: N/A 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
None. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. February 26, 2025 meeting minutes 
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SAN BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
REGULAR MEETING COMMISSION ACTIONS 

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 26, 2025 
5:00 P.M. 

MAIN AUDITORIUM – Norton Regional Event Center 1601 East Third Street, San Bernardino, CA 

 
A regional joint powers authority dedicated to the reuse of Norton Air Force Base 

for the economic benefit of the East Valley 
 

Commission Members 
City of Colton 
Mayor Frank J. Navarro, President Present 
Councilmember John Echevarria (alt) Present (In Audience) 
 

City of Loma Linda 
Councilmember Rhodes Rigsby, Secretary Present 
Mayor Phillip Dupper (alt) Absent 
 

County of San Bernardino 
Supervisor Joe Baca, Jr. Present 
Supervisor Dawn Rowe (alt) Absent 
 

City of San Bernardino 
Councilmember Kim Knaus Present 
Councilmember Theodore Sanchez Present 
Mayor Pro Tem Fred Shorett (alt) Present 
 

City of Highland 
Mayor Penny Lilburn, Vice President  Present 
Mayor Pro Tem Larry McCallon (alt) Present (In Audience)  

Staff Members and Others Present 
Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer Jonathan Galvan, Airport Manager 
Mark Gibbs, Director of Aviation Wendy McConaughey, FBO Manager 
Jeff Barrow, Director of Development Darrell Hale, Property Manager 
Mark Cousineau, Director of Finance  Jillian Ubaldo, Assistant Secretary of the Commission 
Catherine Pritchett, Director of Administration Scott Huber, Legal Counsel, Cole Huber LLP 
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The Regular Meeting of the San Bernardino International Airport Authority was called to order by President 
Frank Navarro at approximately 5:08 p.m. on Wednesday, February 26, 2025. 

A. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL 

Roll call was duly noted and recorded by voice.  

Members of the Commission and staff joined Director of Administration Catherine Pritchett in the Pledge 
of Allegiance. 

B. CLOSED SESSION PUBLIC COMMENT 

There were no closed session public comment. 

C. CLOSED SESSION 

President Frank Navarro recessed to closed session at 5:08 p.m. Mr. Scott Huber, Legal Counsel, Cole 
Huber, LLP, read the closed session items as posted on the Agenda.  

a. Conference with Real Property Negotiator Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.8 
Property: 255 S. Leland Norton Way, Suite 1, San Bernardino CA 92408 
Negotiating Parties: Michael Burrows, SBIAA Chief Executive Officer, Scott Huber, SBIAA Legal Counsel, 
and Joe Ermalovich, AeroPro MRO SBD, LLC 

b. Pending Litigation – Pursuant to Gov. Code 54956.9(a), the Commission will meet with the Chief 
Executive Officer and General Counsel related to pending litigation: Franco v. San Bernardino 
International Airport Authority, et al., San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. CIVSB2322130 

c. Pending Litigation – Pursuant to Gov. Code 54956.9(a), the Commission will meet with the Chief 
Executive Officer and General Counsel related to pending litigation: Lee v. San Bernardino 
International Airport Authority, et al., San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. CIVSB2417207 

 

D. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION 

President Frank Navarro reconvened the meeting at 5:21 p.m. President Frank Navarro asked Mr. Scott 
Huber, Legal Counsel, Cole Huber, LLP, if there were any reportable items. Mr. Huber reported that there 
were none. 

E. ITEMS TO BE ADDED OR DELETED 

There were no items to be added or deleted. 
 

F. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE 

1. President Frank Navarro stated Commission members should note the item(s) listed which 
might require member abstentions. 

There were no conflicts noted.  
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G. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

Mr. Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer, presented the following informational items: 

2. Informational Items  

a. Chief Executive Officer’s Report 

b. Report on FAA Emergency Table Top Exercise 

c. Report on Status of Audit 

2b. Mr. Jonathan Galvan, Airport Manager, highlighted the regulatory requirement for airports 
to maintain and annually test an Airport Emergency Plan. He acknowledged the successful 
completion of last week's tabletop exercise, thanking all participating partners and airport 
staff for their crucial roles in planning and execution. 

2c. Mr. Mark Cousineau, Director of Finance, reported that the Management Discission Analysis 
was submitted to the auditors earlier today. He also indicated that the findings are minor 
and not expected to lead to significant internal control deficiencies. 

H. COMMISSION CONSENT ITEMS 

Let the record reflect that all votes were done by roll call with each Commissioners’ name and vote stated 
by voice. 

3. Register of Demands for January 2025 

4. Receive and file Treasurer's Report for December 31, 2024, for the San Bernardino 

International Airport Authority (SBIAA) 

5. Approve the filing of a Notice of Completion with NK Demolition Services, Inc. for the 

Building 56 Hazmat Removal Project and Authorize the release of retained funds 

6. Authorize staff to advertise construction plans for the Slurry Seal and Airfield Painting 

Project at the San Bernardino International Airport 

7. Approve Amendment No. 1 to the Professional Services Agreement with Mirau, Edwards, 

Cannon, Lewin & Tooke, LLP in an amount not to exceed $50,000 for a revised total contract 

amount not to exceed $100,000 

8. Approve Meeting Minutes: January 22, 2025 

ACTION: Approve Agenda Item Nos. 3–8 
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RESULT:   ADOPTED [UNANIMOUSLY] 
MOTION/SECOND:  Baca / Rigsby 
AYES:      Navarro, Lilburn, Rigsby, Baca, Shorett, and Sanchez 
NAYS:    None 
ABSTENTIONS:   None 
ABSENT:   None 

I. COMMISSION ACTION ITEMS 

Let the record reflect that all votes were done by roll call with each Commissioners’ name and vote stated 
by voice. 

9. Adopt Resolutions of the San Bernardino International Airport Authority (SBIAA) in 

recognition of the services of the County of San Bernardino and the City of San Bernardino 

Representatives 

President Navarro presented Resolution plaques to San Bernardino Mayor Helen Tran and San Bernardino 
County Third District Supervisor Dawn Rowe in recognition of their outstanding service to the San 
Bernardino International Airport Authority, and extended his sincere appreciation for their contributions 

ACTION: Adopt Resolutions of the San Bernardino International Airport Authority (SBIAA) in 
recognition of the services of the County of San Bernardino and City of San Bernardino 
representatives: San Bernardino County Third District Supervisor Dawn Rowe, and City of 
San Bernardino Mayor Helen Tran. 

RESULT:   ADOPTED [UNANIMOUSLY] 
MOTION/SECOND:  Baca / Shorett 
AYES:      Navarro, Lilburn, Rigsby, Baca, Shorett, and Sanchez 
NAYS:      None 
ABSTENTIONS:   None 
ABSENT:   None 

10. Consider and Adopt Proposed Budget Adjustments for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

Mr. Mark Cousineau, Director of Finance, reported an adjustment in expenses and excess revenue 
amounting to $52,000. It is anticipated that Luxivair revenue will increase by $13,000, driven by sales of 
food and beverages at Leland’s Café. Additionally, there is a $65,000 increase in legal and litigation services. 
The net change in Luxivair SBD is zero dollars.  

ACTION: Consider and adopt budget adjustments reflected in the Proposed Budget Adjustments 
Table for Fiscal year 2024-2025. 

RESULT:   ADOPTED [UNANIMOUSLY] 
MOTION/SECOND:  Baca / Rigsby 
AYES:      Navarro, Lilburn, Rigsby, Baca, Shorett, and Sanchez 
NAYS:      None 
ABSTENTIONS:   None 
ABSENT:   None 
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11. Approve Amendment No. 3 with C&A Janitorial Services in an amount not to exceed $49,000 

for a total revised contract amount not to exceed $470,743 during the first-year option term 

Mr. Jonathan Galvan, Airport Manager, reported that this item involves an amendment to an existing 
contract for janitorial services at various SBIAA facilities. The contract is a three-year agreement with two 
one-year option extensions, and the first-year extension is currently in use. Amendment No. 1, authorized 
in 2021, included services at the UAS Training Center, while Amendment No. 2, authorized in 2022, added 
passenger services to the Terminal. It is important to note that annual increases are contributing to the 
rising costs associated with Amendment No. 3. 

ACTION: Approve Amendment No. 3 to the Services Agreement with C&A Janitorial Services in an 
amount not to exceed $49,000 for a total revised contract amount not to exceed $470,743 
for routine janitorial services and supplies at certain SBIAA buildings; and authorize the Chief 
Executive Officer to execute all related documents. 

RESULT:   ADOPTED [UNANIMOUSLY] 
MOTION/SECOND:  Rigsby / Lilburn 
AYES:      Navarro, Lilburn, Rigsby, Baca, Shorett, and Sanchez 
NAYS:      None 
ABSTENTIONS:   None 
ABSENT:   None 

12. Approve Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Land Lease Agreement with Ashley 

Furniture Industries, LLC for approximately 11.98 acres of property 

Mr. Darrel Hale, Property Manager, reported that due to significant cost escalations encountered during 
construction, updates are necessary to ensure that the business terms remain workable for both parties. 

ACTION: Approve Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Land Lease Agreement with 
Ashley Furniture Industries, Inc. for approximately eleven point nine eight (11.98) acres of 
property; and authorize the Chief Executive Officer to execute all related documents, subject 
to technical and conforming changes as approved by counsel. 

RESULT:   ADOPTED [UNANIMOUSLY] 
MOTION/SECOND:  Sanchez / Rigsby 
AYES:      Navarro, Lilburn, Rigsby, Baca, Shorett, and Sanchez 
NAYS:      None 
ABSTENTIONS:   None 
ABSENT:   None 

 

13. Review Status of the Action Plan for the San Bernardino International Airport Authority 

(SBIAA) through June 30, 2025 

Mr. Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer, referenced a PowerPoint presentation entitled “June 2025 – 
Airport Focal Areas” (as contained on pages 77-79 in the agenda packet). He also thanked Commission 
Members for touring the San Bernardino International Airport facilities. Mr. Burrows further noted that a 
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legislative update, including potential grant funding opportunities, is expected next month. Lastly, he 
shared that the non-stop service to Provo, Utah has launched and is anticipated to be successful.    

This item was for discussion purposes only; no formal action was taken. 

J. ADDED AND DEFERRED ITEMS 

There were no items to be added or deferred. 
 

K. OPEN SESSION PUBLIC COMMENT 

There were no open session public comments.  

L. COMMISSION MEMBER COMMENT 

Supervisor Joe Baca Jr. expressed his appreciation to staff for the tour, which provided a fresh perspective 
on ongoing projects and emerging businesses at the facilities. He emphasized the need for Commissioners 
to consider the future direction of SBIAA and explore strategies to generate greater attention and 
engagement in the coming years. 

M. ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business before the Commission, President Frank Navarro declared the meeting 
adjourned at 5:41 p.m. 

Approved at a Regular Meeting of the San Bernardino International Airport Authority on Wednesday, 
March 26, 2025. 
 

      
Jillian Ubaldo 
Assistant Secretary of the Commission 
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE:  March 26, 2025 
 
ITEM NO:  9 
 
PRESENTER:  Mark Cousineau, Director of Finance 
 

 
SUBJECT: RECEIVE AND FILE THE ANNUAL INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL AUDIT REPORT OF THE SAN 

BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY (SBIAA) FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 

 
SUMMARY 
 
The San Bernardino International Airport Authority (SBIAA) Annual Audit Report for Fiscal Year ending 
June 30, 2024, has been completed by Eide Bailly, LLP, an independent certified public accounting 
audit firm. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Receive and file the Annual Independent Audit Report of the San Bernardino International Airport 
Authority (SBIAA) for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2024; and approve the submission of these 
reports to the appropriate agencies. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None.  

 

PREPARED BY: Mark Cousineau 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: N/A 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: Michael Burrows 
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The San Bernardino International Airport Authority (SBIAA) annual independent financial audit 
for Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2024, has been completed by Eide Bailly, LLP, an independent audit 
and business consulting firm. Auditing standards, generally accepted in the United States, require 
the independent auditor to communicate significant audit findings or difficulties encountered, if 
any, to SBIAA’s Commission in separate documents. Eide Bailly, LLP will make a brief presentation 
at the time of the meeting.  
 
For the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2024, SBIAA received an unmodified opinion, otherwise known 
as a “clean audit opinion” that provides the greatest level of assurance on the preparation and 
fair presentation of SBIAA’s financial statements.  
 
If you have any questions about this report, please contact me at (909) 382-4100 extension 141. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. SBIAA Financial Statements and Independent Auditor's Report for the Fiscal Year Ended 

June 30, 2024 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Commissioners 
San Bernardino International Airport Authority 
San Bernardino, California 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities of the San Bernardino 
International Airport Authority (the Authority), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the Authority as of June 30, 2024, and the respective 
changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

The Authority's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
10681 Foothill Blvd., Ste. 300  |  Rancho Cucamonga, CA 91730-3831  |  T 909.466.4410  |  F 909.466.4431  |  EOE 077



2 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due

to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods 
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The schedule of general and 
administrative expenses and schedule of maintenance and operations expenses are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements 
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
GAAS. In our opinion, the schedule of general and administrative expenses and schedule of maintenance 
and operations expenses are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 19, 
2025, on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Rancho Cucamonga, California 
March 19, 2025 
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San Bernardino International Airport Authority 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 

Executive Summary 

The San Bernardino International Airport Authority’s (“SBIAA”) Management Discussion and Analysis 
(“Analysis”) provides an overview of SBIAA’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. Since 
this information is designed to focus on the year’s activities, resulting changes and currently known facts, it should 
be read in conjunction with SBIAA’s financial statements. 

SBIAA is an airport that operates under a public utility business model. It constantly seeks to increase aviation 
activity, fuel sales, and airport services. Our vision is to maximize opportunities for the flying public while achieving 
fair, non‐discriminatory, and equitable investment returns to support the airport utility over the long run. To 
accomplish this, SBIAA creates an airport business environment that supports dynamic leadership, sound capital 
investment, and long‐term employment opportunities for the benefit of the airport, its customers, stakeholders, the 
region, and the National Airspace System. 

SBIAA also seeks to ensure that inter‐governmental and community support to the San Bernardino International 
Airport is provided as appropriate. SBIAA should consistently deliver quality airport planning, infrastructure 
development, community development, and environmental programs, projects, and initiatives.  

Finally, SBIAA seeks to realize its potential to provide high quality, higher wage producing employment 
opportunities for its member agencies and the communities they serve. Through business attraction and retention 
across market segments: Air Cargo, Commercial Air Passenger, General Aviation, Corporate Aviation, and 
Maintenance and Repair Operations. 
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SBD Annual Operations 2013 – 2024 
 

 
 

 
Annual Airport Operations statistics are based on calendar year information; therefore, information for calendar years 2023 
and 2024 operations are included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis.   
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From the calendar year 2009 through calendar year 2012, aircraft operations were essentially flat at approximately 
25,000 operations per year. However, in calendar year 2013 aircraft operations began a trend of successive 
increases. During the calendar years 2013 through 2019, the Aircraft Operations chart shows aircraft operations 
experienced year over year increases of 17%, 3%, 37%, 19%, 21%, 1% and 4% respectively, each successive 
calendar year. Beginning in calendar year 2020, the Airport experienced a decrease in aircraft operations of 7% or 
3,975 aircraft operations primarily from a decrease in general aviation activity. General aviation activity decreased 
due to the negative impacts of Covid-19 coronavirus pandemic on the general aviation community. The increasing 
operations of the Amazon Air Regional Hub at SBD, as well as increases in air cargo operations at the Airport's 
FedEx and UPS gateways, and by other air cargo operators continued that growth trend with an increase in aircraft 
operations for calendar years 2021 and 2022 of 2,533 (5%) and 6,124 (11%), respectively, while small aircraft 
operations remained flat. In calendar years 2023 and 2024, aircraft operations increased by 521 (1%) and 9,821 
(20%) respectively. The twenty percent increase in calendar year 2024 was driven by small aircraft operations, take-
offs and landings, primarily from general aviation practice and training activity related to flight school operations 
located at SBD. 
 
The aircraft operations compounded calendar year growth rate from 2013 to 2024 was 7.4%. Measured on a fiscal 
year basis, aircraft operations increased as well. This increase in air cargo operations subsequently supported 
increased jet fuel sales/services and lease revenues by $16,641,096 for the fiscal year and is reflected on the 
“Operating Revenue and Expenses” chart shown later in the Analysis. 
 
Fuel sale activity is measured in gallons sold to enhance comparability by removing fuel cost volatility. As discussed 
above, aircraft operations support aviation fuel sales. The Fuel Sales chart displays gallons sold for calendar years 
2013 through 2024. Total Fuel includes both Jet A fuel, displayed on the chart, and aviation gasoline (avgas). 
Beginning in calendar year 2018, the ongoing expansion of air cargo operations increased both the frequency and 
size of aircraft using SBD. SBD’s compounded annual growth rate for gallons of aviation fuel sold for calendar 
years 2013 to 2024 is 33.5 percent. 
 
On July 9, 2021, SBD issued $8,999,077 of direct placement taxable Airport Revenue Bonds at a rate of 3.74% to 
refund certain SBD obligations incurred to construct or improve commercial and general aviation hangars, as well 
as other SBD aviation facilities. Lease and other revenues related to these certain hangars and facilities are the 
primary source of funds to repay these bonds, which reach final maturity in fiscal year 2032. 
 
To support increasing aviation activity, SBD issued $4,850,565 of direct placement tax-exempt Airport Revenue 
Bonds at a tax-exempt rate of 3.37% on August 12, 2021, to fund the expansion of the SBD fuel farm. The fuel 
farm expansion project expanded capacity by constructing a 375,000-gallon tank and adding another fueling station 
rack for a total capacity of 500,000 gallons. These bonds reach final maturity in the fiscal year 2036. The fuel farm 
expansion was completed and placed into operation in March 2022. 
 
On March 8, 2022, SBD and Breeze Airways announced the initiation of regularly scheduled commercial air 
passenger service beginning August 2022. To prepare for the initiation of commercial air passenger service, SBD 
incurred expenses and made capital outlays for the domestic terminal, parking lots, rental car facility, and air 
operations area to update information, communication, mechanical, security, and command and control systems, as 
well as land, building, and structure improvements to support airline passenger service and the traveling public. 
Since the initiation of regularly scheduled commercial air passenger service in August 2022, enplanements or 
passengers boarding aircraft reached approximately 48,000 as of June 30, 2024. 
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San Bernardino International Airport Authority 
 
SBIAA is a joint powers authority created in 1992. It was created for the purpose of acquiring, operating, repairing, 
maintaining, and administering the aviation‐related activities of the former Norton Air Force Base.  
 
SBIAA members are the City of Colton, City of Loma Linda, City of Highland, City of San Bernardino, and the 
County of San Bernardino in California. 
 
 
The “Financial Statements Summary” and the “Operating Revenue and Expenses” charts reflect the continued 
capital investments in the Airport’s infrastructure coupled with a sharp increase in aircraft operations over 
successive fiscal years since 2013, including increased fuel sales. As a result, the Airport continues to gain 
awareness amongst pilots and travelers in the Southern California market. During fiscal year 2014 the Airport 
contracted with a marketing firm in an effort to rebrand the Airport and its fixed based operator, Luxivair SBD. 
Improving financial results are attributable to new marketing campaigns, key management changes, and clear goals 
focused on achieving the Commission and management’s vision for growth. In fiscal year 2024, fuel sales and 
associated fuel revenues increased over fiscal year 2023 as the fleet mix of aircraft using the airport continued to 
trend toward larger jet and commercial size aircraft. 
 
Financial Statements 
 
SBIAA is considered a special‐purpose governmental joint powers authority engaged in activities that support the 
entity through user charges. Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements are presented in the format 
prescribed for proprietary funds by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. SBIAA’s fiscal year ends  
June 30.  
 
These financial statements consist of three interrelated statements designed to provide the reader with relevant, 
understandable information about SBIAA’s financial condition and operating results. They are the Statement of Net 
Position; the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and the Statement of Cash Flows. The 
statements are presented in a fiscal year format for the year ended June 30, 2024.  
 
The Statement of Net Position presents SBIAA’s assets and liabilities and the difference, or net position, between 
what is owned and what is owed as of the last day of the SBIAA’s fiscal year. 
 
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position describes the financial results of SBIAA’s 
operations for the years reported. These results, or Changes in Net Position, are the increases or decreases to the 
bottom line of the Statement of Net Position.  
 
The Statement of Cash Flows conveys how SBIAA managed cash resources during the fiscal year. This statement 
converts the Change in Net Position presented in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
into cash provided by or used for operations. The Statement of Cash Flows also details how SBIAA obtains cash 
through financing and investing activities, and, conversely, how cash is spent. 
 
Financial Statements Summary and Charts 
 
The following Financial Statements Summary provides highlights of the financial activity for fiscal years 2023 and 
2024. Also provided are explanations as to the differences in amounts between the two fiscal years. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SUMMARY 
(in thousands) 

 
 

June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023 Variance Ref No.

Current assets 16,761$          16,409$          352$               1
Noncurrent assets:

Lease receivable 2,529              1,227              1,302              2
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,451              1,284              167                 
Capital assets, not being depreciated 38,633            38,222            411                 
Capital assets, net of accumulated 
   depreciation and amortization 256,951          272,379          (15,428)           3

Total assets 316,325          329,521          (13,196)           

Current liabilities 16,239            14,972            1,267              4
Noncurrent liabilities 11,917            13,190            (1,273)             5

Total liabilities 28,156            28,162            (6)                    

Deferred inflows of resources 12,678            12,261            417                 6

Net investment in capital assets 282,743          295,527          (12,784)           7
Restricted 2,126              4,692              (2,566)             8
Unrestricted (deficit) (9,378)             (12,121)           2,743              

Total net position 275,491$         288,098$         (12,607)$         

Operating revenues 107,505$         90,678$          16,827$          9
Operating expenses (121,248)         (108,022)         (13,226)           10
Nonoperating revenues 209                 113                 96                   11
Nonoperating expenses (470)                (543)                73                   12
Income (loss) before contributions (14,004)           (17,774)           3,770              

Contributions 397                 15,860            (15,463)           13

Change in net position (13,607)           (1,914)             (11,693)           14

Net Position Beginning 289,098          291,012          (1,914)             

Net Position Ending 275,491$         289,098$         (13,607)$         
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Explanation of Variances 
1. Current assets increased due to additional cash being held on June 30 due to the transition to a new accounting 

information system in June 2024.  

2. The Lease receivable balance increased due to new and renewal of certain leases that resulted in higher lease 
receivable for GASB 87 leases.  

3. The decrease is due to the current year’s depreciation expense.  

4. Current liabilities increased because fewer accounts payable disbursements occurred due to the transition to a 
new accounting information system in June 2024. 

5. Non-current liabilities decreased due to scheduled debt service for long-term liabilities. 

6. The deferred inflow of resources increased due to additional new GASB 87 leases.  

7. The decrease in net position corresponds with a decrease in capital assets net of accumulated depreciation.  

8. The decrease in restricted cash reflects expenditures for qualifying Airport projects.   

9. The increase in revenues is mainly due to increased fuel sales and related airport revenues from other activity 
based operating revenues. 

10. Operating expenses increased due to Jet A fuel purchases (cost of goods sold) to support increased Airport fuel 
sales plus increased personnel, advertising, and insurance expenses. 

11. Nonoperating revenue increased due to an increase in interest earnings arising from a higher interest rate 
environment.   

12. Nonoperating expenses decreased due to decreased interest expense for debt service. 
13. FAA reimbursement grant projects were substantially completed in the prior fiscal year. In addition, the final 

distribution of Rialto Airport Closure proceeds was received in the preceding fiscal year. In the current fiscal 
year, there are no such contributions. 

14. Overall decrease in contribution resulted in decrease in net position.  
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The following Chart 1 describes total assets and net position as of June 30, 2023, and 2024. 
 

CHART 1 

 
 

The decrease in total assets is due to a decrease in net capital assets due to depreciation.  
 
The following Chart 2 describes total operating revenues and expenses for fiscal years June 30, 2023, and 2024. 
 

CHART 2 

 
 

Total operating revenues increased by 19% with an associated increase in total operating expenses of 12% year‐
over‐year. Total operating revenues increased due to increased fuel sales/services, and other aircraft related 
activities. Total expenses increased due to the increased cost of fuel and other operating expenses.  
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The following Chart 3 breaks down the categories of revenue year‐over‐year. 
 

CHART 3 
 

 
 
 
Rents, leases, and storage operating revenues increased by $3,005,978 or 30.9% year‐over‐year due to increased 
number of leases and licenses for buildings and vacant lands as well as annual rent increases for tenants.  
 
Fuel sales are not included in the above revenue chart. The fuel sales for fiscal year 2022-23 and 2023-24 are 
$70,825,702 and $82,914,087, respectively. The $12,088,385 increase in fuel sales revenue was due to an increase 
in overall activities. Other fuel related revenues, fuel flowage and third party into-plane fees, increased for the 
same reason.  
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The following Chart 4 breaks down the four main operating expenses year‐over‐year. 
 

CHART 4 
 

 
 

 
Total Airport general and administrative expense increased by $1,808,403 due to increased activity at the airport 
and maintenance and operations expense decreased by $1,013,400 from the previous fiscal year reflecting the 
completion of several multi-year domestic terminal and airport parking improvements that were initiated with the 
advent of SBIAA’s commercial passenger service in August 2022.  
 
The cost of aviation fuel is not included in the above expenses chart. The cost of fuel for the fiscal year 2022-23 
and 2023-24 are $69,775,434 and $82,014,880, respectively. The $12,239,446 increase in cost of aviation fuel is 
relatively due to increased fuel sale volume.  
 
Net income (net loss) for the airport includes $17.1 million in depreciation expenses, which doesn’t affect the cash 
flow. 
 
Categories of Net Position 
 
SBIAA is required to present its net position in three categories: net investment in capital assets, restricted, and 
unrestricted. 
 
Net Investment in Capital Assets 
 
On June 30, 2024, net investment in capital assets was $282.7 million.  
 
Restricted 
 
On June 30, 20224, SBIAA had $2.1 million in restricted net position primarily for airport infrastructure. 
 
Unrestricted 
 
On June 30, 2024, SBIAA had an unrestricted deficit net position of $9.4 million.
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Capital Assets Additions, Construction in Progress, and Future Capital Improvements 
 
Capital Asset Additions 
 
$2.1 million dollars were added to capital assets during the fiscal year June 30, 2024, which includes construction 
in progress. 
 
Construction in Progress 
 

• $411,001 was spent on air operations area vehicle access road during the fiscal year.  
 
Long‐term Debt 
 
During 2021-22 fiscal year, SBIAA issued Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A and 2021B in the 
amount of $8,999,077 and 4,850,565, respectively. The principal and interest are due semi-annually for these bonds. 
The outstanding balance on these bonds is $6,743,665 and $4,850,565, respectively.  
 
 
Budget to Actual Analysis 
 
There were no significant variations between actual expenditures and the original budget that was adopted on  
June 28, 2023, and subsequently adjusted by action of the Commission.  
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San Bernardino International Airport Authority  
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2024 
 
 
Assets 

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10,452,001$         
Accounts receivable, net 2,516,262             
Leases receivable 1,339,862             
Due from related party 226,061                 
Intergovernmental receivables 1,481,386             
Interest receivable 8,425                     
Prepaid expenses 21,473                   
Fuel inventory 715,933                 

Total current assets 16,761,403           

Noncurrent Assets
Leases receivable 2,528,634             
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,450,738             
Capital assets, not being depreciated

Land 38,157,796           
Construction in progress 475,570                 

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation/amortization 256,950,764         

Total noncurrent assets 299,563,502         

Total assets 316,324,905         

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable 10,629,149           
Other accrued liabilities 543,309                 
Unearned revenues 32,136                   
Deposits payable 1,652,491             
Due to related party 1,967,583             
Accrued interest payable - related parties 36,157                   
Compensated absences, current portion 226,783                 
Long-term obligations, current portion 1,150,764             

Total current liabilities 16,238,372           

090



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   15 

San Bernardino International Airport Authority  
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2024 
 
 
Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated absences, noncurrent portion 226,782$               
Long-term obligations, noncurrent portion 11,690,433           

Total noncurrent liabilities 11,917,215           

Total liabilities 28,155,587           

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows related to leases - lease receivables 3,646,698             
Deferred inflows related to leases - lease paid in advance 9,031,250             

Total deferred inflows of resources 12,677,948           

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 282,742,933         
Restricted for capital projects 2,126,647             
Unrestricted (9,378,210)            

Total net position 275,491,370$       
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San Bernardino International Airport Authority 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 
 
 
Operating Revenues

Rents, leases, and storage 12,729,473$         
Fuel sales 82,914,087            
Filming revenues 63,100                   
Third party into-planes fees 4,772,867              
Other FBO services 506,423                 
Landing fees 1,505,937              
Fuel flowage fees 3,017,919              
Other income 1,994,831              

Total operating revenues 107,504,637         

Operating Expenses
General and administrative 6,090,792              
Maintenance and operations 15,939,093            
Cost of aviation fuel 82,014,880            
Other improvements 64,025                   
Depreciation and amortization 17,138,676            

Total operating expenses 121,247,466         

Operating Loss (13,742,829)          

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest income 208,466                 
Gain on lease termination 662                         
Interest expense (469,695)                
Other expenses (687)                        

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (261,254)                

Income (loss) before contributions (14,004,083)          

Contributions
Capital grants 397,408                 

Total contributions 397,408                 

Change in Net Position (13,606,675)          

Net Position, Beginning of Year 289,098,045         

Net Position, End of Year 275,491,370$       
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San Bernardino International Airport Authority 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 
 
 
Operating Activities

Receipts from customers 107,015,110$  
Payments from employees (6,520,876)       
Payments to suppliers (96,319,920)     

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 4,174,314         

Capital and Capital Related Financing Activities
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (1,930,974)       
Principal payments on leases (475,879)           
Principal payments on long term debt (756,993)           
Interest paid (663,394)           
Receipts from capital grants 370,747            

Net Cash Used For Capital and Capital Related 
Financing Activities (3,456,493)       

Investing Activities
Interest received 220,066            

Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities 220,066            

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 937,887            

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 10,964,852      

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 11,902,739$    

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents to the 
Cash and cash equivalents  10,452,001$    
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,450,738         
  

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 11,902,739$    
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San Bernardino International Airport Authority 
Statements of Cash Flows 
Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
 
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to
  Net Cash provided by Operating Activities

Operating loss (13,742,829)$   

Depreciation/amortization 17,138,676      
Other non-operating revenue (expenses) (687)                  

Changes in Assets and Liabilities
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net 351,216            
(Increase) decrease in due from related party 524,122            
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses 56,556              
(Increase) decrease in fuel inventory 15,861              
(Increase) decrease in lease receivable (1,814,341)       
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 2,502,756         
Increase (decrease) in other accrued liabilities 53,065              
Increase (decrease) in deposits payable 912,116            
Increase (decrease) in due to related party (2,126,690)       
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows related to leases 417,340            
Increase (decrease) in compensated absences (144,983)           

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 4,174,314$      
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San Bernardino International Airport Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 
 
 
Note 1 -  Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The financial statements of the San Bernardino International Airport Authority (Authority) have been prepared 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental 
accounting and financial reporting principles. The significant accounting and reporting policies and practices 
used by the Authority are described below.  
 
Reporting Entity 
 
The Authority is a joint powers authority created on May 12, 1992, primarily for the purpose of acquiring, 
operating, repairing, maintaining, and administering the aviation related portions of the former Norton Air Force 
Base property located in San Bernardino, California. The following are members of the Authority: 
 

County of San Bernardino 
City of San Bernardino  
City of Colton 
City of Highland  
City of Loma Linda 

 
Under the terms of an Authority agreement, each member agreed to be responsible for its respective 
percentage of all annual expenses of the Authority. Any party who fails to pay its respective share of such 
expenses for a 12-month period will be automatically expelled from the Authority with remaining members then 
responsible for the expelled members' share of expenses. In the event of the Authority's termination, the assets 
of the Authority together with debts owed at that time will be transferred to the Inland Valley Development 
Agency (IVDA), or such other entity as may be determined pursuant to Federal and State laws then in effect. 
 
On December 17, 1999, the Authority filed a quit claim deed, reservations, and grants of easements, and CERCLA 
Section 120(h) notice (Deed) issued by the U.S. Department of the Air Force, for certain real property formerly a 
part of Norton Air Force Base for a consideration of one dollar. Included in the Deed are certain government-
owned real properties which may not be sold, transferred, donated, or otherwise disposed of by the Authority, 
nor may they be removed from the premises for use by the Authority elsewhere. The Authority has begun and 
intends to sub- lease facilities to various airport users including, but not limited to scheduled airlines, airplane 
mechanical services, and aircraft support services. 
 
Under the Deed, the Authority received approximately 1,345 acres of land together with major hangar buildings, 
terminal facilities, runways, tower and equipment, and other buildings and facilities needed to operate the 
Airport. During the 2003-04 fiscal year, the land, infrastructure, land improvements, and buildings and structures 
acquired from the Air Force were appraised based upon fair market value at date of acquisition. These appraised 
properties are included in the financial statements. 
 
Effective July 1, 1998, the U.S. Air Force and the IVDA entered into an agreement (Economic Development 
Conveyance #2) to transfer an additional 104 acres of property at no cost to the Authority. This is part of the 
public benefit transfer. All income and related expenses derived from these properties effective July 1, 1998, 
were transferred to the Authority. 
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For financial reporting purposes, the Authority has included all funds, organizations, agencies, boards, 
commissions, and authorities. The Authority has also considered all potential component units for which it is 
financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with 
the Authority are such that the exclusion would cause the Authority’s financial situation to be misleading or 
incomplete. The GASB has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability. These 
criteria include appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (1) the ability of the 
Authority to impose its will on that organization or (2) the potential for the organization to provide specific 
benefits to or impose specific financial burdens on the Authority. 
 
Blended Component Unit 
 
The San Bernardino International Airport, Inc. (SBIA, Inc.) is a California nonprofit public benefit corporation and 
has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as exempt from federal income taxes under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3). SBIA, Inc. was created for the purpose of lessening governmental burdens, by 
aiding the San Bernardino International Airport Authority in its efforts to promote economic development at the 
former Norton Air Force Base. Although the Authority does not appoint a voting majority of SBIA, lnc.’s 
governing body, SBIA, Inc. is fiscally dependent on the Authority, and a financial benefit/burden exists as defined 
by applicable GASB pronouncements. In addition, SBIA, Inc. provides services entirely, or almost entirely, to the 
Authority or otherwise exclusively, or almost exclusively, benefits the Authority even though it may not provide 
services directly to it. As a result, SBIAA, Inc. is included as a blended component unit of the Authority. The 
financial statements include only the financial activity of the Authority and the SBIAA, Inc., collectively referred 
to as the Authority. Separate financial statements of the SBIAA, Inc. are not available.  
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting  
 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recognized in the accounts and reported in the 
financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the 
measurement focus applied. 
 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The statement of net position displays the Authority’s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows, 
with the difference reported as net position. Net position is reported in the following categories/components:  

 
Net investment in capital assets consists of net capital assets reduced by the outstanding balances of 
any related debt obligations and deferred inflows of resources attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or improvement of those assets or the related debt and lease obligations and increased by 
balances of deferred outflows of resources related to those assets or debt and lease obligations. 
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Restricted net position: 
 
Restricted – expendable net position results when constraints placed on net position use are either 
externally imposed or imposed through enabling legislation. 
 
Restricted – nonexpendable net position is subject to externally imposed stipulations which require 
them to be maintained permanently by the Authority. 

 
Unrestricted net position consists of net position not meeting the definition of the preceding categories. 
Unrestricted net position often has constraints on resources imposed by management which can be 
removed or modified.  

 
When an expense is incurred that can be paid using either restricted or unrestricted resources (net position), the 
Authority’s policy is to first apply the expense toward the most restrictive resources and then toward 
unrestricted resources.  
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, 
excluding internally designated or restricted cash and investments. For purposes of the statement of cash flows, 
the Authority considers all cash and investments with an original maturity of three months or less as cash and 
cash equivalents. 
 
Restricted Cash and Investments 
 
Restricted cash and investments also included assets held with fiscal agents and restricted for debt service 
reserve and capital projects. Investments are measured at fair value. 
 
Inventory 
 
Inventory is stated at lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market and are expensed when used. 
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Fair Value Measurement 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A three-tier hierarchy prioritizes the inputs 
used in measuring fair value. These tiers include Level 1, defined as quoted market prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets that 
are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as significant unobservable inputs therefore, 
requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions. The asset's or liability's fair value measurement within the 
hierarchy is based on techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizes the use of 
unobservable inputs. 
 
Assets or liabilities measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the three following 
categories: 
 
Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted priced for identical assets or liabilities in 
active markets that the Authority has the ability to access. 
 
Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 
 

• Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets. 
• Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets. 
• Inputs, other than quoted prices, those are observable for the asset or liability. 
• Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 

correlation or other means. 
 
If the asset or liability has a specified contractual term, the Level 2 input must be observable for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

 
Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement. 
 
The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level 
of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the 
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Investment Income 
 
Interest, dividends, gains, and losses, both realized and unrealized, on investments and deposits are included in 
nonoperating revenues when earned. 
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Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are capitalized at historical cost or estimated historical cost for assets where actual historic cost is 
not available. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation. Acquisition value 
is the price that would have been paid to acquire an asset with equivalent service potential on the date of the 
donation. The Authority maintains a threshold level of $10,000 or more for capitalizing capital assets. Federally 
funded assets maintain a threshold of $5,000 or more for capitalizing capital assets. The cost of normal 
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not 
capitalized. 
 
Land and construction in progress are not depreciated. The other tangible and intangible property, plant, 
equipment, the right to use leased assets, and infrastructure of the Authority are depreciated/amortized using 
the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:  
 

Years

Infrastructure 40-75 years
Land improvements 5-20 years
Buildings and structures 10-50 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 years
Machinery and equipment 5-20 years
Vehicles 5-10 years
Right to use leased assets 2-10 years

Assets

 
Right to use leased assets are recognized at the lease commencement date and represent the Authority’s right 
to use an underlying asset for the lease term. Right to use leased assets are measured at the initial value of the 
lease liability plus any payments made to the lessor before commencement of the lease term, less any lease 
incentives received from the lessor at or before the commencement of the lease term, plus any initial direct 
costs necessary to please the lease asset into service. Right to use leased assets are amortized over the shorter 
of the lease term or useful lives of the underlying asset using the straight-line method. The amortization period 
varies from 3 to 7 years. 
 
Lease Receivables  
 
Lease receivables are recorded by the Authority as the present value of future lease payments expected to be 
received from the lessee during the lease term, reduced by any provision for estimated uncollectible amounts. 
Lease receivables are subsequently reduced over the life of the lease as cash is received in the applicable 
reporting period. The present value of future lease payments to be received are discounted based on the 
interest rate the Authority charges the lessee. 
 
Long-Term Obligations 
 
The Authority reports long-term debt and other long-term obligations in the statement of net position. Bond 
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method. 
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as expenses when 
incurred.  
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Lease Liabilities represent the Authority’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Lease 
liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of future lease payments 
expected to be made during the lease term. The present value of lease payments is discounted based on a 
borrowing rate determined by the Authority.  
 
Compensated Absences 
 
In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, an employee benefits payable liability is recorded 
for unused vacation and similar compensatory leave balances, with maximum unused balance caps for varying 
lengths of service with the Authority. The employee's entitlements to these balances are attributable to services 
already rendered and it is probable that virtually all of these balances will be liquidated by either paid time off or 
payments upon termination or retirement. 
 
Revenues and Expenses 
 
Revenues and expenses are distinguished between operating and non-operating items. Operating revenues 
generally result from providing services in connection with the Authority's principal ongoing operations. The 
principal operating revenues of the Authority are charges for rent, leases and storage, and fuel sales. 
 
Operating expenses include administrative, maintenance, and operations costs of the Authority's facilities, along 
with depreciation of capital assets. All revenue and expenses not meeting these definitions are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses. 
 
Grants and Contributions  
 
The Authority receives grants and contributions from governmental and private entities. Grants and 
contributions may be restricted for either specific operating purposes or for capital purposes. Amounts that are 
unrestricted or that are restricted to a specific operating purpose are reported as nonoperating revenue. 
Amounts restricted for capital acquisitions are reported after nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 
In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents 
consumption of net assets that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense) until then. The Authority currently has no items that qualify for reporting in this category. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time. The Authority has one type of item that qualifies for reporting in this category. 
Deferred inflows related to leases where the Authority is the lessor and is reported in the statement of net 
position. The deferred inflows of resources related to leases are recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) 
on the straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  
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Effect of New Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Pronouncements 
 
Effective in Current Fiscal Year 
 
GASB Statement No. 99 – In April 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022. The objectives of this 
Statement are to enhance comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of 
authoritative literature by addressing (1) practice issues that have been identified during implementation and 
application of certain GASB Statements and (2) accounting and financial reporting for financial guarantees. The 
Statement is effective immediately for the requirements related to extension of the use of LIBOR, accounting for 
SNAP distributions, disclosures of nonmonetary transactions, pledges of future revenues by pledging 
governments, clarification of certain provisions in Statement 34, as amended, and terminology updates related 
to Statement 53 and Statement 63. The Statement is effective for fiscal year years beginning after June 15, 2022, 
for requirements related to leases, PPPs, and SBITAS. The Authority has determined that this Statement does 
not have a material impact on the financial statements. 
 
GASB Statement No. 100 – In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error 
Corrections. The objective of this Statement is to enhance accounting and financial reporting requirements for 
accounting changes and error corrections to provide more understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent, and 
comparable information for making decisions or assessing accountability. This Statement requires disclosure in 
notes to financial statements of descriptive information about accounting changes and error corrections, such as 
their nature. In addition, information about the quantitative effects on beginning balances of each accounting 
change and error correction should be disclosed by reporting unit in a tabular format to reconcile beginning 
balances as previously reported to beginning balances as restated. The Authority has determined that this 
Statement does not have a material impact on the financial statements. 
 
Effective in Future Fiscal Years 
 
The GASB has issued the following pronouncements that have effective dates which may impact future financial 
statement presentation. The Authority has not determined the effect of the following Statements: 
 
GASB Statement No. 101 – Compensated Absences 
GASB Statement No. 102 – Certain Risk Disclosures 
GASB Statement No. 103 – Financial Reporting Model Improvements 
GASB Statement No. 104 – Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets 
 
 
Note 2 -  Cash and Investments 
 
Cash and investments as of June 30, 2024 are classified in the accompanying financial statements as follows: 
 

Statement of Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents 10,452,001$    
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,450,738         

Total cash and investments 11,902,739$    
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Cash and investments as of June 30, 2024 consist of the following: 
 

Deposits with financial institutions 10,113,852$    
Cash on hand 1,000                
Investments in LAIF 337,149
Investments held with fiscal agent 1,450,738         

Total cash and investments 11,902,739$    

 
Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the Authority's Investment Policy 
 
The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the Authority by the California 
Government Code (or the Authority’s investment policy, where more restrictive). The table also identifies 
certain provisions of the California Government Code (or the Authority’s investment policy, where more 
restrictive) that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk. This table does not 
address investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustee that are governed by the provisions of debt 
agreements of the Authority, rather than the general provisions of the California Government Code or the 
Authority’s investment policy.  
 

Maximum Maximum Maximum Investment
Authorized Investment Type Maturity Percentage in One Issuer

Local agency bonds 5 years None None
U.S. Treasury obligations 5 years None None
U.S. agency securities 5 years None None
Banker's acceptances 180 days 40% 30%
State Bonds or Other Indebtedness 270 days 25% 10%
Commercial paper 5 years 30% None
Negotiable certificates of deposit 1 year None None
Repurchase agreements 92 days 20% of base value None
Reverse repurchase agreements 5 years 30% None
Medium-term notes N/A 20% 10%
Mutual funds N/A 20% 10%
Money market mutual funds 5 years 20% None
Mortgage pass-through securities N/A None None
County pooled investment funds N/A None $75M per account
Local agency investment fund (LAIF) N/A None None
JPA pools (other investment pools)  N/A  None  None 
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Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements 
 
Investment of debt proceeds held by bond trustee are governed by provisions of the debt agreements, rather 
than the general provisions of the California Government Code or the Entity’s investment policy. The table 
below identifies the investment types that are authorized for investments held by bond trustee. The table also 
identifies certain provisions of these debt agreements that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and 
concentration of credit risk. 
 

Maximum Maximum Maximum Investment
Authorized investment type Maturity Percentage in One Issuer

U.S. Treasury obligations  None  None  None 
U.S. agency securities  None  None  None 
Banker's acceptances  180 days  None  None 
Commercial paper  270 days  None  None 
Money market mutual funds  N/A  None  None 
Investment contracts  30 years  None  None 
Local agency investment fund (LAIF)  N/A  None  $75M per account 

 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to 
changes in market rates. One of the ways that the Authority manages its exposure to interest rate risk is by 
purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer-term investments and by timing cash flows from 
maturities so that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to maturing evenly over time as 
necessary to provide the cash flow and liquidity needed for operations. Information about the sensitivity of the 
fair values of the Authority's investments to market interest rate fluctuations is provided by the following table 
that shows the distribution of investments by maturity as of June 30, 2024: 
 

Carrying Less
Investment Type Amount Rating Than 1 1 - 5

Money Market Mutual Funds 1,450,738$  AAAm 1,450,738$  -$                     
Local Agency Investment Fund 337,149        Not Rated 337,149        -                       

Total 1,787,887$  1,787,887$  -$                     

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Credit Risk 
 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the 
investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization. The CGC limits the minimum rating required for each investment type. The LAIF is not rated. 
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Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, a 
government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in 
the possession of an outside party. The California Government Code and the Authority's investment policy do 
not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other 
than the following provision for deposits: The California Government Code requires that a financial institution 
secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool 
held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit). The market value of 
the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110% of the total amount deposited by the 
public agencies. California law also allows financial institutions to secure deposits by pledging first trust deed 
mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits. 
 
As of June 30, 2024, the Authority had deposits with bank balances of $10,081,497. Up to $500,000 of the 
Authority’s deposits were covered by federal deposit insurance, and $9,581,497 was collateralized (i.e., 
collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institutions of at least 110% of the Authority’s cash 
deposits, in accordance with the Code). The collateralized securities are not held in the Authority's name. 
 
Investment in State Investment Pool 
 
The Authority is a voluntary participant in the State of California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF), which is a 
part of the Pooled Money Investment Account that is regulated by the California Government Code under the 
oversight of the State Treasurer, Director of Finance, and State Controller. The Authority's investment in this 
pool is reported in the accompanying financial statements at cost, which approximates fair value at amounts 
based upon the Authority's pro-rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the entire LAIF portfolio (in 
relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting 
records maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis. Investments in LAIF are highly liquid, 
as deposits can be converted to cash within 24 hours without loss of interest. All investments with LAIF are 
secured by the full faith and credit of the State of California. Separate LAIF financial statements are available 
from the California State Treasurer's Office on the Internet at www.treasurer.ca.gov. 
 

104



 
San Bernardino International Airport Authority 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 
 

29 

Fair Value Measurements 
 
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the related fair value of these assets as of June 30, 2024, 
are as follows: 
 

Quoted Prices Significant 
in Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Investments by fair value Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Held with fiscal agent:
Money Market Mutual Funds 1,450,738$  1,450,738$  -$                   -$                     

Investments not measured at fair value
or subject to fair value hierarchy

Local Agency Investment Fund 337,149        

Total Investments 1,787,887$  
 

The Authority categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of 
the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant 
other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. Investments in the Local Agency 
Investment Fund are not subject to the fair value hierarchy but are reported at the amortized cost. 
 
The value of publicly traded assets, which would be listed as Level 1, are based on unaffiliated industry sources 
believed to be reliable. Values for non-publicly traded assets, listed as Level 2, may be determined from other 
unaffiliated sources. Assets for which a current value is unavailable, which would be listed as Level 3, may be 
reflected at the last reported price or at par, using the best information available in the circumstances. 
 
The Authority’s investments in money market mutual funds, are based on quoted market prices for identical 
investments in an inactive market or similar investments in markets that are either active or inactive.  
 
Deposits and withdrawals in governmental investment pools, such as LAIF are made on the basis of $1 and not 
fair value. Accordingly, the Authority’s proportionate share in these types of investments is an uncategorized 
input not defined as a Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 input. 
 
 
Note 3 -  Receivables 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
Accounts receivable consist of fuel sales and short-term and regulated lease revenues and are reported net of 
uncollectible amounts. Accounts receivable reported for the Authority in the Statement of Net Position as of 
June 30, 2024, are net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $713,656. 
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Lease Receivable 
 
Lease receivable activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 was as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Lease Receivable 2,054,155$     2,897,270$     (1,082,929)$     3,868,496$      1,339,862$     

Leases receivable 2,054,155$     2,897,270$     (1,082,929)$     3,868,496$      1,339,862$     

 
The Authority has accrued a receivable for 2 land leases and 3 building leases. The remaining receivable for 
these leases was $3,868,496 for the year ended June 30, 2024. Deferred inflows related to these leases were 
$3,646,698 as of June 30, 2024. Interest revenue recognized on these leases was $54,124 for the year ended 
June 30, 2024. Principal receipts of $1,082,929 were recognized during the fiscal year. The interest rate on the 
leases ranged from .3080% - 2.00%. Final receipt is expected in fiscal year 2029. 
 
The future lease payments expected to be collected from these leases are as follows: 
 

Principal Interest Total

1,339,862$      49,529$           1,389,391$     
1,061,700        33,462              1,095,162       

645,974            20,646              666,620          
676,528            8,272                684,800          
144,432            179                   144,611          

3,868,496$      112,088$         3,980,584$     

Year Ending June 30,

2025
2026
2027
2028
2029

Total

 
Leases Paid in Advance 
 
Deferred inflows related to leases includes an amount that was prepaid by a lessee commencing in fiscal year 
2017.  Lease revenue for the prepaid lease is amortized over the life of the lease agreement, through fiscal year 
2041. Lease revenue recognized on this lease was $1,020,000 for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the 
unamortized balance of the deferred inflows related to the prepaid lease was $9,031,250 as of June 30, 2024. 
 
Regulated Leases 
 
For certain lease agreements for airport gates, aprons, buildings and structures designated for aeronautical use, 
specific terms are regulated by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). The Authority entered into various 
lease agreements for the right to use these airport gates, aprons, buildings and structures designated for 
aeronautical use to third parties in accordance with these provisions set by the FAA. Specified regulated terms 
include limits on lease rates, consistency of lease rates for all lessees, and leasing opportunities made available 
to any potential lessees if the facilities are vacant. The lease revenue related to these regulated agreements 
amounted to $5,335,237 for the year end June 30, 2024. 
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Expected future minimum receipts under these agreements are as follows: 
 

Future Minimum
 Expected Receipts

5,871,525$      
4,424,611        
4,305,803        
3,517,826        
3,221,705        

17,053,624      
19,464,511      
22,215,047      
25,368,104      
28,968,685      
10,523,562      

144,935,003$ 

Year Ending June 30,

2025
2026
2027

2050-2054
2055-2059

2028

2030-2034
2035-2039

2045-2049
2040-2044

2029
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Note 4 -  Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 is presented as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated
Land 38,157,796$    -$                       -$                       38,157,796$    
Construction in progress 64,569              411,001            -                         475,570            

Total capital assets,
  not being depreciated 38,222,365      411,001            -                         38,633,366      

Capital Assets, Being Depreciated/Amortized
Infrastructure 147,341,147    552,480            -                         147,893,627    
Land improvements 63,387,788      316,184            -                         63,703,972      
Building and structures 379,325,774    88,053              -                         379,413,827    
Furniture and fixtures 104,408            1                        -                         104,409            
Machinery and equipment 10,197,970      369,958            36,092              10,604,020      
Vehicles 2,427,247         450,380            (36,092)             2,841,535         
Right to use lease - land 198,448            -                         (198,448)           -                         
Right to use lease - vehicles 2,574,251         -                         (58,635)             2,515,616         

Total capital assets,
  being depreciated/amortized 605,557,033    1,777,056         (257,083)           607,077,006    

Less Accumulated Depreciation/Amortization
Infrastructure (110,438,310)   (3,371,652)       -                         (113,809,962)   
Land improvements (56,367,541)     (961,363)           -                         (57,328,904)     
Buildings and structures (156,793,413)   (11,655,922)     -                         (168,449,335)   
Furniture and fixtures (91,014)             (2,976)               -                         (93,990)             
Machinery and equipment (6,802,854)       (661,192)           -                         (7,464,046)       
Vehicles (2,057,377)       (163,890)           -                         (2,221,267)       
Right to use lease - land (99,224)             (33,075)             132,299            -                         
Right to use lease - vehicles (528,766)           (288,606)           58,634              (758,738)           

Total accumulated 
depreciation/amortization (333,178,499)   (17,138,676)     190,933            (350,126,242)   

Total capital assets
  being depreciated/ 272,378,534    (15,361,620)     (66,150)             256,950,764    

amortized, net

Total capital assets, net 310,600,899$  (14,950,619)$   (66,150)$           295,584,130$  

 
Depreciation/amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2024 was $17,138,676. 
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Note 5 -  Long-Term Obligations 
 
Long-term obligation activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 was as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Notes from Direct Borrowings
2021A Airport Refunding 

Revenue Bonds 7,500,658$     -$                     (756,993)$       6,743,665$     785,304$        
2021B Airport Revenue Bonds 4,850,565       -                       -                       4,850,565       -                       
Leases 1,722,846       -                       (475,879)         1,246,967       365,460          

Total 14,074,069$  -$                     (1,232,872)$   12,841,197$  1,150,764$     

 
Direct Borrowings 
 
Taxable Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A 
 
On July 9, 2021, the Authority issued $8,999,077 in Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A, to provide 
funds to refund, on a current basis, the Authority’s outstanding IVDA, Hanger 795 Improvement and GA Hanger 
loans due to IVDA, fund the Series 2021A reserve account, pay costs of issuance of the Series 2021A bonds. 
 
Interest on the Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A is payable semiannually on December 1 and 
June 1 at a rate of 3.74%. Mandatory sinking fund deposits to retire the bonds on their term maturity dates, 
ranging from $589,840 to $978,878, are due annually through June 1, 2032. 
 
The Authority has pledged its gross revenue as security for the Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2021A 
and these obligations contain a provision that in an event of default, the outstanding amounts become 
immediately due if the Authority is unable to make a payment. 
 
Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B 
 
On August 12, 2021, the Authority issued $4,850,565 in Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B, to provide funds 
to pay the costs of the acquisition, installation, and construction of certain public capital improvements 
consisting of planned improvements to its existing fuel farm, including a new 375,000 gallon Jet A fuel tank, new 
fuel delivery island, and related controls and equipment improvements, thereby expanding existing facilities 
from 150,000 gallon storage with one refuel station to 500,000 gallon storage with two refuel stations, to 
support increased volume of aircraft fueling, fund the Series 2021B reserve account and pay costs of issuance of 
the Series 2021B bonds. 
 
Interest on the Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B is payable semiannually on December 1 and June 1 at a 
rate of 3.37%. Mandatory sinking fund deposits to retire the bonds on their term maturity dates, ranging from 
$425,617 to $1,161,828, are due annually commencing June 1, 2032, through June 1, 2036. 
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The Authority has pledged its gross revenue as security for the Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B and these 
obligations contain a provision that in an event of default, the outstanding amounts become immediately due if 
the Authority is unable to make a payment. 
 
Scheduled debt service requirements for the Authority’s bonds payable are as follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 785,304$        415,677$        1,200,981$     
2026 814,675          386,307          1,200,982       
2027 845,144          355,838          1,200,982       
2028 876,752          324,230          1,200,982       
2029 909,542          291,439          1,200,981       

2030-2034 5,077,034       927,873          6,004,907       
2035-2036 2,285,779       116,184          2,401,963       

Total 11,594,230$  2,817,548$     14,411,778$  

 
Leases 
 
In prior years, the Authority entered into 8 lease agreements as lessee for the use of land and vehicles. As of  
June 30, 2024, the value of the lease liability was $1,246,967. The Authority is required to make monthly 
principal and interest payments ranging from $6,191 to $93,948 through April 2029. The lease liability was 
valued using discount rates between 0.411% and 2.43% based on the Authority’s incremental borrowing rate at 
the inception of the leases.  
 
Remaining principal and interest payments on leases are as follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 365,460$        20,832$          386,292$        
2026 316,105          15,455            331,559          
2027 235,196          10,451            245,648          
2028 190,699          5,797               196,496          
2029 139,507          1,415               140,922          

Total 1,246,967$     53,950$          1,300,917$     

 
Compensated Absences 
 
Accumulated vacation, holiday, sick pay, and compensatory times are recorded as an expense and liability as 
these benefits are earned. Compensated absences activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 is as follows: 
 

Ending Due Within
Additions Reductions Balance One Year

134,565$              279,548$              453,565$              226,783$              598,548$                    

Balance
Beginning
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Note 6 -  Net Position 
 
Restricted Net Position 
 
The Authority received capital grant contributions from the Inland Valley Development Agency during the years 
ended June 30, 2008 through 2011. The capital grant contributions were received with restrictions for Building 
No. 56, Mt. View Street, and Solar Power capital projects. In addition, the Authority holds a $50,000 expendable 
endowment from the County of San Bernardino Flood Control District. This expendable endowment is to provide 
long-term conservation management over certain County property which was conveyed to the Authority in 
2013. As the Authority recognizes expenses related to these capital projects, restricted net position is reduced. 
Net position restricted as of June 30, 2024 is as follows: 
 

Endowment 50,000$            
Building No. 56 229,534            
Airport Capital Projects 1,847,113         

Total restricted net position 2,126,647$      

Net Position
Restricted for Capital Projects

 
 
Note 7 -  Condensed Combining Information 
 
The following summarizes combining information for the Authority and SBIAA, Inc., which has been presented as 
a blended component unit, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
Statement of net position as of June 30, 2024: 
 

Authority SBIAA, Inc. Eliminations Total
Assets

Total assets 316,118,613$  213,342$          (7,050)$             316,324,905$  

Liabilities
Total liabilities 28,052,260      104,014            (687)                  28,155,587      

Deferred Inflows of Resources 12,677,948      -                         -                         12,677,948      

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 282,742,933    -                         -                         282,742,933    
Restricted for capital projects 2,126,647         -                         -                         2,126,647         
Unrestricted (9,487,538)       109,328            -                         (9,378,210)       

Total net position 275,382,042$  109,328$          -$                       275,491,370$  
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Revenues, expenses and changes in net position for the year ended June 30, 2024: 
 

Authority SBIAA, Inc. Eliminations Total

Operating Revenue 107,465,087$  89,550$            (50,000)$           107,504,637$  

Operating Expenses 121,277,604    19,862              (50,000)             121,247,466    

Operating income (loss) (13,812,517)     69,688              -                         (13,742,829)     

Net nonoperating revenues (261,254)           -                         -                         (261,254)           

Income (loss) before contributions (14,073,771)     69,688              -                         (14,004,083)     

Contributions 397,408            -                         -                         397,408            

Change in net position (13,676,363)     69,688              -                         (13,606,675)     

Net position, beginning of year 289,059,092    38,953              -                         289,098,045    

Net position, end of year 275,382,729$  108,641$          -$                  275,491,370$  

 
Cash flows for the year ended June 30, 2024: 
 

Authority SBIAA, Inc. Total

Net cash from operating activities 3,996,357$      177,957$          4,174,314$      

Net cash (used for) capital and capital
related financing activities (3,456,493)       -                          (3,456,493)       

Net cash from investing activities 220,066            -                          220,066            

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 759,930            177,957            937,887            

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 10,954,527      10,325               10,964,852      

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 11,714,457$    188,282$          11,902,739$    

 
 
Note 8 -  Risk Management 
 
The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Authority carries commercial insurance. Premiums are 
paid annually by the Authority. Claims liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred, and 
the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. As of June 30, 2024, there were no such liabilities to be 
reported. 
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Note 9 -  Related Party Transactions 
 
The Authority shares certain common expenses with the Inland Valley Development Agency (IVDA), a related 
party by virtue of common control. These expenses, which include salaries, benefits, services, and supplies, are 
appropriately allocated between the two governments. The Authority's allocable share of the expenses paid by 
the IVDA are reported as due to related party and the IVDA's allocable share of the expenses paid by the 
Authority are reported as due from related party and are essentially short-term advances of working capital. The 
advances are non-interest bearing and due on demand. The amount due from IVDA at June 30, 2024 was 
$226,061. The amount due to IVDA at June 30, 2024 was $1,967,583. 
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Schedule of General and Administrative Expenses 
Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
 

General and Administrative
Salaries and wages 3,300,706$      
Director's fees 15,000              
Travel expenses 69,185              
Dues and subscriptions 49,987              
Meeting and conferences 170,547            
Office expense 44,629              
Advertising and marketing 1,071,796         
Professional services:

Legal 175,245            
Accounting 50,610              
Other 652,017            

Telephone 163,614            
Software 243,554            
Other expenses 83,902              

Total 6,090,792$      
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Maintenance and Operations
Salaries and benefits 6,041,939$      
Security 1,223,644         
ARFF services 1,153,406         
Insurance 1,284,924         
Communications 414,937            
Fees 160,074            
Gas/diesel/fuel 425,312            
Janitorial 392,407            
Lease expense 33,025              
Maintenance and repairs 2,463,316         
Parts/supplies 32,387              
Other expenses 47,625              
Special event expenses 99,170              
SBIA, Inc. expense 18,850              
U.S. Customs 281,426            
Utilities/maintenance fees 1,866,651         

Total 15,939,093$    
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE:  March 26, 2025  
 
ITEM NO:  10 
 
PRESENTER:  Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer 
 

 
SUBJECT: APPROVE A TECHNICAL CORRECTION TO AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE AMENDED AND 

RESTATED LAND LEASE AGREEMENT WITH ASHLEY FURNITURE INDUSTRIES, LLC FOR 
APPROXIMATELY 11.98 ACRES OF PROPERTY 

 
SUMMARY 
 
Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Lease with Ashley Furniture Industries, LLC was 
previously approved on February 26, 2025.  At that time, the total project construction cost referenced 
was $7,500,000.  Given recent cost escalations, the total project construction cost was adjusted to an 
amount not to exceed $7,700,000.  The revised Amendment No. 1 is attached for reference. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Approve a technical correction to Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Land Lease 
Agreement with Ashley Furniture Industries, LLC for approximately eleven point nine eight (11.98) 
acres of property; and authorize the Chief Executive Officer to execute all related documents, subject 
to technical and conforming changes as approved by Legal Counsel. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None for Fiscal Year 2024-25. A $226,021 increase, over 12 months, in estimated revenues for the San 
Bernardino International Airport Authority Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget in the Development and 
Properties Department, Budget Class 44 – Land & Non-Terminal Facility Leases and Licenses Revenue. 
 
 

 

PREPARED BY: Darrell Hale 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: Mark Cousineau 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: MIchael Burrows 
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10 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Lease with Ashley Furniture Industries, LLC was 
previously approved on February 26, 2025.  At that time, the total project construction cost 
referenced was $7,500,000.  Given recent cost escalations, the total project construction cost is 
an amount not to exceed $7,700,000, and the amendment has been updated to reflect this 
change.  The revised Amendment No. 1 is attached for reference. 
 
On June 1, 2024, the San Bernardino International Airport Authority (SBIAA) and Ashley Furniture 
Industries, LLC (Ashley) entered into a long-term land lease agreement for approximately 11.98 
acres of land north of the San Bernardino International Airport for development of an off-site 
parking facility.  Due to significant cost escalations encountered during construction related to 
concrete debris discovered during rough grading phase, certain updates are needed to make the 
business terms workable for both parties.  The unforeseen conditions resulted in a need for 
Ashley to halt grading, bring in a crushing operation on-site, and re-grade a substantial portion 
of the property.  This resulted in an increase in Ashley’s project costs of over $600,000.  As a 
result, the parties now propose to amend the initial lease term from twelve (12) years to fifteen 
(15) years to allow for additional capitalization of Lessee’s Premises Improvements and stabilize 
lease revenues to SBIAA.  
 
Principal lease terms and conditions of the proposed Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and 
Restated Lease by and between SBIAA and Ashley are as follows: 
 

• Premises: approximately 11.98 acres of land (521,848 square feet) 
• Lease Term: Fifteen (15)-years 
• 3% annual CPI adjustments 
• Security Deposit: Two (2) month’s rent upon execution of Lease 
• Monthly initial lease revenue of $18,835 per month ($226,021 annually) 
• Ashley to construct an off-site parking facility at its sole cost and expense pursuant to 

City of San Bernardino development code requirements 
• Upon completion of Lessee’s Premises Improvements, SBIAA to provide a rent credit 

based on the actual verified construction costs in an amount not to exceed $7,700,000, 
amortized over the initial lease term 

• Effective in year 10 of the lease, SBIAA shall retain a limited right to recapture use of 
the premises for airport purposes, subject to remittance to Ashley of the then 
unamortized value of the cost of the improvements 

• Ashley to maintain all portions of the premises and pay all applicable utility charges; 
electric, water, and sewer 

• Ashley to pay all applicable possessory interest taxes and maintain commercial general 
liability and fire insurance coverage naming SBIAA as an additional insured 

• Ashley to comply with all applicable laws, Airport, FAA, and local rules and regulations 
• Upon termination of the lease, all improvements shall revert to SBIAA ownership 
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Ashley has obtained all required development permits from the City of San Bernardino and is 
continuing its construction work with an estimated completion date in the Summer of 2025.    
 
As the proposed amended and restated lease would generate about $6.995 Million in revenue 
over the term, Staff recommends the Commission approve the above recommended action. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Site Map 
2. Form of Amendment No. 1 
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AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 

This AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED LEASE AGREEMENT (this 
“Amendment”) is dated March __, 2025, (the “Amendment Date”, by and between the SAN 
BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY, a joint powers authority (“Lessor”), and 
ASHLEY FURNITURE INDUSTRIES, LLC., a Wisconsin limited liability company, (“Lessee”). 
 

BACKGROUND: 
  

A. On June 1, 2024, Lessor and Lessee entered into an Amended and Restated Lease for certain real 
property located north of the San Bernardino International Airport comprised of approximately 
11.98 acres of land (approximately 647,804 square feet) (the “Lease”) in San Bernardino, 
California referred to as the South Lot as more specifically described in Exhibit A of the Lease (the 
“Premises”). 
 

B. The initial term of the Lease is currently twelve (12) years from the completion of the Premises 
Improvements consisting of a commercial parking facility pursuant to City of San Bernardino 
requirements.  
 

       The Lease is amended as set forth below: 
 
                                                     AGREEMENT: 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and for other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the parties agree to amend the Lease as follows: 
 

1. Delete the existing Paragraph 6.0 Term and substitute therefore, the following as a new Paragraph 
6.0 Term: 
 
6.0    Term.  The initial term of this Lease shall commence on the date LESSOR and LESSEE have 
both approved, in writing, completion of the construction and installation of the Premises 
Improvements as set forth in Paragraph 4.1 and shall terminate on a date which is fifteen (15) years 
thereafter.  Upon request, LESSEE and LESSEE will sign a commencement document confirming 
the commencement and end dates of the initial term.  
 

2. Delete the existing Paragraph 8.1.1 and substitute therefore, the following as a new Paragraph 8.1.1 
Rent Abatement: 
 
8.1.1 Rent Abatement. LESSOR hereby acknowledges that the timely and workmanlike 
completion of the Premises Improvements by LESSEE, as more specifically described in Section 
4.1, above, is an inducement to entering into this Lease.  Provided that LESSEE has completed the 
Premises Improvements and submitted suitably detailed documentation of payments for actual 
costs for design, entitlement, and construction work for said improvements to LESSOR on or before 
the eighteenth (18th) month after the Effective Date in an amount not to exceed Seven Million Seven 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($7,700,000), and thereafter, LESSOR’s written acceptance of 
LESSEE’s Premises Improvements shall invoke a per square foot, per month Rent credit during 
the Initial Term of this Lease.  Such amount not to exceed threshold shall be subject to an additional 
ten percent (10%) contingency to be mutually agreed upon by the parties upon reconciliation of 
actual costs incurred.  Excluding any unforeseen (i) governmental delays related to obtaining the 
necessary permits or approvals to proceed with the Premises Improvements or (ii) delays from the 
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utility companies serving the Premises with regards to LESSEE obtaining any utility related to or 
necessary for the Premises Improvements, in the event that construction of the Premises 
Improvements is completed prior to the eighteenth (18th) month after the Effective Date, such rent 
credit will be applied upon LESSOR’s written acceptance of the Premises Improvements. In the 
event of a delay set forth in the preceding sentence, the 18 month period shall be extended on a day 
for day basis for each day of delay. In no event shall such rent credits extend to any Lease extensions 
or optional terms. Rent credits shall be initially based upon the final accepted bids for the Premises 
Improvements and shall be amortized and applied over the twelve year initial term at a repayment 
interest rate of six percent (6%) simple.  Rent credits will be recalculated when the actual costs of 
the Premises Improvements are known, to equal the actual cost of the Premises Improvements 
amortized at six  percent (6%) simple over the remaining months of the Lease initial term.  Actual 
costs shall be reconciled within thirty (30) calendar days of completion of the work.   

3. Miscellaneous. 
 

a. Full Force and Effect.  Except as expressly amended hereby, all other items and terms of 
the Lease remain unchanged and continue to be in full force and effect. 

b. Ratification.  The Lease as amended and modified hereby, is ratified and confirmed by the 
parties as being in full force and effect. 

c. Conflicts.  The terms of this Amendment will control over any conflicts between it and the 
terms of the Lease. 

d. Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in multiple counterparts, and each 
counterpart when fully executed and delivered will constitute an original instrument, and 
all such multiple counterparts will constitute but one and the same instrument.  

EXECUTED as of the date first above written. 
 
LESSOR:      LESSEE: 
 
SAN BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT     ASHLEY FURNITURE INDUSTRIES, LLC, a   
AUTHORITY, a Joint Powers Authority                          Wisconsin Limited Liability Company          
 
By: ___________________________________              By:_________________________________     
Name:  Michael Burrows                                                   Name:   
Title:    Chief Executive Officer                                        Title:                    
             
Date: _____________________________              Date: _______________________________ 
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TO:  San Bernardino International Airport Authority Commission 
 
DATE: March 26, 2025 
 
ITEM NO:   11 
 
PRESENTER:  Michael Burrows, Chief Executive Officer 
 

 
SUBJECT: REVIEW STATUS OF THE ACTION PLAN FOR THE SAN BERNARDINO INTERNATIONAL 

AIRPORT AUTHORITY (SBIAA) THROUGH JUNE 30, 2025 
 
SUMMARY 
 
On December 16, 2015, the SBIAA Commission adopted a Strategic Plan and in January 2020 updated 
its Business Plan and near term outlook. These helped identify key dates and deliverables in an effort 
to focus San Bernardino International Airport Authority (SBIAA) Staff and Resources to increase 
organizational, operational efficiencies and results. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION(S) 
 
Review the Action Plan for the San Bernardino International Airport Authority through June 30, 2025. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None. The proposed plan identifies staff resources for which funding is included in the General Fund 
of the adopted San Bernardino International Airport Authority (SBIAA) Budget for Fiscal Year 2024-25. 
 

 

PREPARED BY: Michael Burrows 
CERTIFIED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS: Mark Cousineau 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL CONTENT: Scott Huber 
FINAL APPROVAL: SBIAA Commission 
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The Action Plan identifies key dates and deliverables in an effort to focus San Bernardino 
International Airport Authority (SBIAA) Staff and Resources to increase organizational and 
operational efficiencies.   
 
This status is offered for consideration and review.  Updates and adjustments should be made, 
as appropriate, at each monthly interval. 
 
For review and discussion. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. SBIAA Action Plan 
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June 30, 2025 – Airport Focal Areas
Ensure Operational & Financial 

Stability 

EV & Solar Projects

FAA Taxiway Project

International Trade

San Manuel Development 

Airport Outreach:
Business Retention & Expansion

1

1

Stabilize Revenue Streams & 
Sources

Good Neighbor Program

Grant Programs & Initiatives
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Month Key Initiative Key Resources Completion Date

January, 2025
Airport Operations Update;

FAA Reporting; Good Neighbor 
Report

SBIAA Commission, CEO, 
Director of Aviation, Airport 

Manager, Director of Finance
January, 2025

February , 2025
Mid-Year Budget Adjustments; 
FAA Emergency Exercise; Provo 

Nonstop Service

Director of Aviation, Airport 
Manager, Director of 
Finance, Director of 

Administration

February, 2025

March, 2025 Legislative Updates; Operational 
Updates

CEO, Director of  
Administration, Director of 

Aviation, Director of Finance
March, 2025

April, 2025 Grant Program & Initiatives Director of Finance, Director 
of Aviation, Project Manager April, 2025

May, 2025
International Trade Initiatives; 

Draft Annual Budget Preparation 
and Review

SBIAA Commission & 
Committee, CEO, Director of 

Finance, 
Exec Staff

May, 2025

June, 2025 Adopt Annual Budget

SBIAA Commission & 
Committee, CEO., Aviation 

Director, Director of Finance, 
Exec Staff

June, 2025

Action Plan for SBIAA (6/30/25)
San Bernardino International Airport Authority

2
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SBIAA Near-Term Action Plan – Implementation

Stabilize Tenants & Infrastructure

Implement New Operational 
Software

Review Operational Plans  

Complete 2024/25 Airport 
Marketing Efforts & Initiatives

Air Passenger Service (PVU) 

International Trade

Legislative Program 

FAA Taxiway Project

March 2025

Sub-Initiative Status:

Incomplete            In Process                  Completed
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